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Zenith CPA Limited
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Principal Share Registrar and Transfer Agent
in Bermuda

4th floor North Cedar House
41 Cedar Avenue

Hamilton HM 12

Bermuda

Share Registrar and Transfer Agent in Hong Kong

Tricor Standard Limited
Level 54, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen’s Road East
Wanchai

Hong Kong

Stock Code
582
Website of the Company

http://www.landing.com.hk

In the case of any inconsistency, the English text of this
report shall prevail over the Chinese text.
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Dr. Yang Zhihui ("Dr. Yang”), aged 48, is the Chairman of the board
(the "Board”) of directors of Landing International Development
Limited (the “Company”) and has been an executive director of the
Company since 19 July 2013. Dr. Yang is responsible for the
leadership and effective running of the Board. He is one of the
directors and the sole shareholder of Landing International Limited,
the controlling shareholder of the Company. One of his wholly owned
companies is interested in 24.46% of China Dive Company Limited
(shares of which are listed on Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code:
300526) . He had been a director of Hubei Landing Holding Co., Ltd.
(shares of which are listed on Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code:
000971) until December 2014. Dr. Yang was awarded with an honorary
degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Business Management at Jeju
National University in March 2017. Dr. Yang has extensive experience
in property development in the People’'s Republic of China (the
“PRC").

Ms. Chan Mee Sze (“Ms. Chan”), aged 45, has been an executive
director of the Company since 1 September 2018. She holds several
directorships in certain subsidiaries of the Company and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) as well. Ms. Chan obtained a Bachelor’s
degree in Laws from University of London and a Master's degree in
Business Administration from University of Dundee. She is also a
fellow member of The Hong Kong Institute of Company Secretaries
and a fellow member of The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators. Ms. Chan has extensive experience in corporate
administration and corporate finance. She was an executive director
of OCI International Holdings Limited (shares of which are listed on
the main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”), stock code: 329) from April 2011 to August 2018
and an independent non-executive director of Mingyuan Medicare
Development Company Limited (shares of which were listed on the
main board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 233) from May 2016
to January 2020.

Mr. Yeung Lo ("Mr. Yeung”), aged 50, has been an executive director
of the Company since 9 January 2020. He currently serves as a Chief
Operation Officer at Jeju Shinhwa World, the flagship integrated
resort project of the Group, which operated and developed by
Landing Jeju Development Co., Ltd. (“Landing Jeju”, the wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company). Mr. Yeung holds several
directorships in certain subsidiaries of the Group as well. He
graduated from McGill University, Montreal, Canada with Bachelor
Degree of Engineering in Computer. Mr. Yeung recently served as
the Chief Executive Officer in GONGZI (Macau) Investment Company
Limited from 2018 to early 2019, and earlier as a Senior Vice President
(International Marketing Macau) in Crown Melbourne Limited from
2015 to 2017. He has over 20 years of professional experience in sales
and operations for technology solutions vendors and gaming and
hospitality services providers.
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Dr. Wong Hoi Po (“Dr. Wong”), aged 43, has been an executive
director of the Company since 3 February 2020. Dr. Wong holds a
Doctoral Degree in Business Administration, a Master’'s Degree of
Business Administration in Finance, and a Bachelor’'s Degree in
Accounting from the United States. He currently serves as a Chief
Financial Officer at Jeju Shinhwa World, the flagship integrated resort
project of the Group, which operated and developed by Landing Jeju
and he previously served as a Senior Vice President at Landing Jeju
from 1 March 2019 to 5 January 2020. Dr. Wong holds several
directorships in certain subsidiaries of the Group as well. Prior to
joining Landing Jeju, he worked as a Chief Financial Officer at Creative
Brilliant Investment Company Limited, Macau from 2016 to 2019.
Before 2016, Dr. Wong had worked as an executive director of finance
at Venetian Macau Limited for 10 years. As an external auditor, he
started his finance and accounting career for an accounting firm in the
United States back in 2000. With approximately 20 years of professional
and practical experience in the field of accounting and finance, Dr.
Wong also served as a part-time visiting associate professor at Macau
University of Science & Technology lecturing a number of business
administration programs at master’s degree level.

Ms. Pu Shen Chen (“Ms. Pu”), aged 48, has been an executive
director of the Company since 19 February 2020. She is a seasoned
senior business leader with extensive gaming industry experience in
management, operations and marketing to her current role as the
Chief Operation Officer at Landing Casino, which operated by
Landing Entertainment Korea Co., Ltd., the wholly owned subsidiary
of the Company, and she previously served as an Executive Vice
President at Landing Casino from April 2019 to January 2020. Ms. Pu
holds several directorships in certain subsidiaries of the Group as
well. In 2017 to 2019, she held the chief executive officer position at a
gaming services company. Before that, Ms. Pu’s professional career
began her executive positions at MGM Resorts International and
MGM Grand Paradise Limited since 1996. Ms. Pu received her
Bachelor of Science in Hotel Administration from University of
Nevada, Las Vegas.

Mr. Bao Jingiao (“Mr. Bao"), aged 54, has been an independent non-
executive director of the Company since 16 November 2015. He
graduated from Anhui University with research study in Civil Law in
1988 and obtained a Master Degree in Law from Shanghai Academy
of Social Sciences. He is a lawyer qualified to practise in the PRC. Mr.
Bao is the founder and has been a partner of Anhui Chengyi Law Firm
since 2000. Mr. Bao was an independent director of Anhui Kouzi
Distillery Co., Ltd. (shares of which are listed on the A-share market
on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock code: 603589) until April 2017.
He is currently an independent non-executive director of Link-Asia
International Co. Ltd. (formerly known as China Healthcare Enterprise
Group Limited and shares of which are listed on the main board of
the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1143).
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Mr. Li Mingfa ("Mr. Li"), aged 57, has been an independent non-
executive director of the Company since 23 August 2019. He obtained
a doctoral degree in law from China University of Political Science
and Law. Mr. Li is currently Professor Il (Z#%#(#%) at Anhui University.
He was the dean of law school and the executive vice president of the
graduate school at Anhui University.

Mr. Li Chun Kei ("Mr. Li"), aged 36, has been an independent non-
executive director of the Company since 15 January 2020. Mr. Li
graduated from University of Hull, United Kingdom with bachelor
degree of Law in July 2007. He is a member of Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountant. Mr. Li has over 10 years of experience in
corporate finance and accounting. He also worked in
PricewaterhouseCoopers from 2008 to 2011.

Mr. Nguyen Van Tu Peter (“Mr. Nguyen”), aged 76, has been an
independent non-executive director of the Company since 22 January
2020. He is a senior counsel and was called to the Bar in England by
the Honourable Society of the Middle Temple in 1970. He was an
Assistant Crown Counsel and Crown Counsel in the Legal Department
of Hong Kong during the period from August 1970 to November
1974 and was in private practice as a barrister in Hong Kong
subsequently for approximately twenty years. Mr. Nguyen was
appointed as Director of Public Prosecutions in the Legal Department
of Hong Kong during the period from July 1994 to October 1997 and
was the first Chinese to hold such position. Mr. Nguyen became a
Queen’s Counsel in 1995 and was appointed as Judge of the Court of
First Instance of the High Court, Hong Kong from February 1998 to
April 2009. Currently, Mr. Nguyen is an independent non-executive
director of Goldlion Holdings Limited (stock code: 533) and
Greenheart Group Limited (stock code: 94), both being listed public
companies in Hong Kong. During the last three years, Mr. Nguyen
was an independent non-executive director of Combest Holdings
Limited (stock code: 8190), Integrated Waste Solutions Group
Holdings Limited (stock code: 923) and Pacific Andes International
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1174), all being listed public companies
in Hong Kong.

Save as disclosed herein, there is no other relationship between each
of the Directors and senior management as required to be disclosed
under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange.
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LETTER FROM THE BOARD
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On behalf of the board of directors (the “Director(s)”) (the “Board”)
of Landing International Development Limited (the “Company”), |
have the pleasure to report on the financial results, operations and
other aspects of the Company and its subsidiaries (together, the
"Group") for the year ended 31 December 2019.

Management Discussion and Analysis

The Company is an investment holding company, and during the
year, the principal activities of the Group are (i) development and
operation of the integrated leisure and entertainment resort (the
"Integrated Resort Development”); (i) operation of gaming and
entertainment facilities (the “Gaming Business”); and (iii) property
development (the “Property Development”).

Financial Results

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group’s consolidated
revenue was approximately HK$815,533,000 (2018: approximately
HK$2,099,025,000), representing a decrease of approximately 61.15%
when compared to the year ended 31 December 2018. During the
year, revenue from Integrated Resort Development, Gaming Business
and Property Development were approximately HK$488,615,000
(2018: approximately HK$270,977,000), HK$213,117,000 (2018:
approximately HK$1,486,660,000), and HK$113,801,000 (2018:
approximately HK$341,388,000), respectively. This decrease in
revenue for the year was mainly attributable to the reduced revenue
from the Gaming Business.

In current year, the loss attributable to the owners of the Company
was approximately HK$2,132,855,000 (2018: approximately
HK$701,527,000). The basic and diluted loss per share attributable to
owners of the Company was HK72.67 cents (2018: HK23.87 cents). The
net loss was mainly attributable to (i) significant decrease in net
revenue from the Gaming Business; (i) fair value losses of investment
properties; (i) impairment of property, plant and equipment; (iv)
decrease in interest income and increase in finance costs; (v) increase
in depreciation charges due to progressive opening of various
facilities; and (vi) impairment losses of trade and other receivables.

As at 31 December 2019, the consolidated net asset value of the
Company was approximately HK$11,884,767,000 (2018: approximately
HK$14,602,261,000) and the consolidated net asset value per
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue attributable to
owners of the Company was approximately HK$4.05 (2018:
approximately HK$4.97).
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Operation and Business Review
Integrated Resort Development

The Company, through its subsidiary, Landing Jeju Development Co.,
Ltd. (“Landing Jeju”), has been investing in Jeju Shinhwa World, an
integrated resort located in Jeju Island, South Korea since late 2013.

Jeju Shinhwa World is an iconic world-class resort destination in
Northeast Asia comprising of a selection of premium hotels,
convention & exhibition centre, retail mall, food & beverage outlets,
leisure and entertainment complex, theme park & water park, and the
largest foreigners-only casino in Jeju.

The hotels and condominiums in Jeju Shinhwa World have been
opening progressively since 2017 and received guests from all over
the world. More than 2,000 high quality guest rooms and suites are
currently in operation including own brand label Landing Resort, the
first and only five-star rated Marriott resort and full-serviced Somerset
suites in Jeju. The hotels are strategically positioned to cater for all
segments of guests visiting the resort. All hotels in the resort have
consistently ranked high in reviews by the guests and won multiple
commendations from the hospitality industry. Shinhwa Resort is the
latest addition to the selection of hotels and it was officially opened
on 29 July 2019 to cater for waterpark enthusiasts. The infinity pool in
Shinhwa Resort has quickly become a big draw to the visitors with its
spectacular view of Jeju’s natural horizon during the day and its DJ
pool party events in the evening. The spectacular view of Jeju’s
natural horizon distinguish Jeju Shinhwa World as the best integrated
resort in Northeast Asia.

Shinhwa Theme Park attracted both domestic and foreign tourists.
The park is themed with Larva characters from the popular local
animated production. It offers more than 15 amazing rides and
attractions for children and families with add-on seasonal attractions
such as ice rink in winter months and bumper cars in summer months.
The theme park is also an ideal venue for large scale events and has
been used for New Year's Eve countdown party, FIFA World Cup
soccer event, dinner function for USPGA golf tournament, etc.
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Shinhwa Waterpark is the newest and largest waterpark in Jeju with
18,000 square metres of space. It features a wave pool, water slides,
rides, spa, kid pool and a private cabana area suitable for visitors of
all ages. Since its opening in August 2018, Shinhwa Waterpark has
anchored itself to be the first-choice water park attraction in Jeju
attracting more than 4,000 visitors during peak days.

Jeju Shinhwa World also houses the most extensive food and
beverage outlets under one roof in Jeju, offering a wide selection of
local and international cuisines including the most authentic
Cantonese restaurant well-liked by both tourists and local residents
which is helmed by an award-winning master chef. Jeju Shinhwa
World holds 12 of the 14 three-star Standards of Food Safety
Management Accreditation (SFSMA) certificates issued by the Korea
Agency of HACCP Accreditation and Services (KAHAS), fully
demonstrating the highest quality assurance standards upheld by the
resort.

The MICE business continues to maintain growth momentum through
experiential offerings. Capitalising on the largest column-free
ballroom in Jeju and the adjacent conference room facilities, Landing
Convention Centre in Jeju Shinhwa World has been the host venue for
many high profile regional and international events. Due to Jeju's
close proximity with major cities in China and visa-free policy, Landing
Convention Centre has attracted various conference and incentive
groups from China. Its corporate and international clients were global
market leaders from the pharmaceutical, financial and communications
industries.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, Jeju Shinhwa World
generated segmental revenue of approximately HK$488,615,000
(2018: approximately HK$270,977,000), which mainly came from its
hotels, MICE events, food and beverage services, attraction theme
parks and merchandise sales as well as leases of retail spaces in the
resort. Segment loss of the Integrated Resort Development was
approximately HK$1,076,090,000 (2018: approximately
HK$587,129,000).

12 Landing International Development Limited %5 [ B4 g 47 FR A\

f R K SRR MR R ARK R
1511 18,000F A K o ENRBERAM « BKE
SRR  AER L  REEIORALANE -
EEORE - B T N\FENARE  @EK
FERTUABENEENKELE RelgR
5] %14,000 25 & °

N R R TN A REERE R E—
B BRHZFEHLLBEEREER  BEH—%
BEREIHEMNERERELE  RAXREEAN
HJE R BOD o B N 49 5E 5 B ¥ Bl HACCP
R & IR % # (Korea Agency of HACCP
Accreditation and Services (KAHAS)) 78 2% #) 14
RZEFRYELE2EEREFEZ (three-star
Standards of Food Safety Management
Accreditation (SFSMA) certificates) AR 125K -

ERREXGEARETPERESEERD
N BEBMNEANEETESRELUIA N SH
TR BMNHEERNESSRTOEKR
ZIREXT AR MEZIEE N WIS -
HREM AP EERHM T A RRBHOR

ERgdhOomsl ZET QTSR REEL
GRNEY ROEXNBEBREP ARNESE

TR NBAITEMTIGRERE -

HE-_Z—hhF+-_A=+—BILtEE  BM
8 5E T SR A 9 BB U 2 #9 488,615,000 8 7T (=
T— \%F : #7270,977,00057T) » WX Bk A
BIE - @ZEEEY ERRE  SHEEA
CEREEMERETSEREHE - KAE
RIEEE RS P E18491,076,090,0008 L (=F
— \%E : #7587,129,000387C) °



LETTER FROM THE BOARD
EH TR

Gaming Business

The Group obtained approval and relocated Landing Casino from
Hyatt Regency Jeju Hotel to Jeju Shinhwa World on 25 February 2018
with exclusive gaming area approximately 5,500 square meters.
Landing Casino is currently the largest foreigners-only casino in Jeju
with 155 gaming tables, 239 slot machines and electronic table
games. Since its relocation, Landing Casino has attracted customers
from all over Asian region including VIPs who have never visited Jeju
before. With its scale and international standard gaming equipment
and best practices, Landing Casino has hosted some of the biggest
gaming tournaments in the industry which were attended by some of
the most renowned professional players from every part of the world.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, Landing Casino recorded net
revenue of approximately HK$213,117,000 (2018: approximately
HK$1,486,660,000) and segment loss from the Gaming Business was
approximately HK$469,038,000 (2018: profit of approximately
HK$82,974,000).

As at 31 December 2019, no impairment was made against the
carrying amounts of the relevant goodwill, intangible assets and
property, plant and equipment of the business of Landing Casino
after assessment.

Property Development

The construction work for the resort condominiums and villas in zone
R of Jeju Shinhwa World, which started in 2015, has been completed
and the occupation permit was issued in January 2017.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, revenue from sales of
residential properties amounted to approximately HK$113,801,000
(2018: approximately HK$341,388,000) and segment profit of
approximately HK$23,226,000 (2018: approximately HK$160,471,000)
was recorded in the Property Development segment.

As at 31 December 2019, approximately HK$982,533,000 (2018:
approximately HK$1,080,950,000) was classified as completed
properties for sale.
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Outlook

The global economy facing severe challenges after the widespread of
the coronavirus COVID-19 in the beginning of 2020, series of traffic
precautionary and control measures have been and continued to be
implemented within and across the countries. Our business, which is
heavily dependent on entertainment and hospitality market condition,
will be inevitably affected. We will continue to closely monitor the
development of the circumstances and work diligently to sustain in
this difficult time.

The Group's flagship resort, Jeju Shinhwa World, will continue to
ramp up its businesses and operations. It will continue to actively
introduce more exciting activities and events at Jeju Shinhwa World
to attract more customers and strengthen its market presence.

Jeju Shinhwa World's new resort hotel, Shinhwa Resort, features over
500 rooms furnished with modern amenities and an infinity pool with
a breath-taking view of Jeju’s natural horizon. Together with Marriott
Resort, Landing Resort and Somerset Service Condominiums, Jeju
Shinhwa World offers over 2,000 rooms in total to meet various
demands of visitors. In the second quarter of 2020, Jeju Shinhwa
World's seasonal garden Park will be expected to open to the public
that enhance Jeju Shinhwa World product offering due to the
increasingly popular nature tourism.

For Gaming Business, Landing Casino shall regularly organise
regional and global poker and baccarat gaming tournaments as part
of its ongoing efforts to promote and position Jeju Shinhwa World as
a desirable destination resort. Marketing promotions, events, reward
scheme, competitive mass and VIP gaming programs will launch
continuously to energise the business in the future.

For Property Development arm, the Group will keep abreast of the
market trend to continue its marketing efforts in selling its remaining
residential properties.
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EH TR

As disclosed in the inside information announcement made by the
Company on 13 September 2019, the Philippine Amusement and
Gaming Corporation ("PAGCOR") has requested Landing Resorts
Philippines Development Corporation (“Landing Philippines”), a
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company to submit a proof of
ownership or lease of land within one hundred and eighty (180) days
from 10 September 2019 in compliance with a provisional license
granted to Landing Philippines, since the lease dated 15 March 2018
entered into between Landing Philippines and Nayong Pilipino
Foundation for the development of the integrated resort has been
declared void ab initio by the Office of the Government Corporate
Counsel, Department of Justice and the Office of the President. As of
31 March 2020, the Company has yet to identity a lease for the
development of integrated resort and no formal notice has been
received by the Group from PAGCOR upon the lapse of the said 180-
days period.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The Group is aware that it is exposed to various risks, including
general risk factors applied to the overall market and specific risk
factors applied to our respective business segments. There are risk
management and internal control systems established to ensure that
significant risks which may adversely affect the implementation of the
Group's business strategy and performance are identified, reported,
monitored, and managed on a continuous basis. Principal risks and
uncertainties of the Group include:

Integrated Resort Development

(i) market conditions and trends in the tourism industry: the
general market conditions and prospects of the global economy
will affect the growth and profitability of the tourism industry in
South Korea. Other factors can influence the tourism industry as
well, such as international tourism patterns, currency fluctuations
and the favourability of government policies. Any recession in
the global economy, deflation or change in government
policies, or deterioration in the tourism industry in South Korea
would adversely affect Jeju Shinhwa World's operations and
profitabilities;

(i) shortage of labour and rising labour costs: the service industry
is generally labour intensive and the Group may encounter
difficulties staffing the operations. The operations in Jeju
Shinhwa World requires large number of labour from various
professions with specific skills. Significant increase in the costs
of labour would increase the Group's staff costs and adversely
affect the Group's profitability; and
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(i)

project cost overruns and delays: the construction progress may
be affected by unforeseeable factors such as weather
interference, natural disasters, or shortages of building materials
or skilled labour. Contractors may be responsible for the
additional costs of delays. If the contractors are not able to fulfill
their obligations, the Group may be required to bear additional
project costs.

Gaming Business

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

16

winnings of players in casino could exceed casino’s winnings:
due to an inherent risk in the gaming industry, a casino does not
have full control over its win-rates or those of the players. If the
win-rates of players exceed those of the casino, the Group may
record a loss from gaming operations, which could materially
and adversely affect the Group's business, cash flow, financial
condition, results of operations and prospects;

theoretical win rates for casino operations depend on various
factors, some beyond its control: in addition to the element of
chance, theoretical win rates are also affected by other factors,
including players’ skill and experience, the mix of games played,
the financial resources of players, the spread of table limits, the
volume of bets played and the amount of time players spend on
gambling. These factors, alone or in combination, may
negatively impact the casino’s win rates, which may materially
and adversely affect the Group's business, cash flow, financial
condition, results of operations and prospects;

risk of fraud or cheating by gaming patrons: players in the
casino may commit fraud or attempt to cheat at times in
collusion with employees of the casino in order to increase their
winnings. Failure to discover such schemes in a timely manner
could result in losses in gaming operations. In addition,
negative publicity arising from such schemes could have a
material and adverse impact on the Group's reputation, which
may further adversely affect the Company'’s business, cash flow,
financial condition, results of operations and prospects; and

anti-money laundering policies and compliances with applicable
anti-money laundering laws may not be sufficient in preventing
money laundering activities at the casino: the casino gaming
industry is prone to potential money laundering and other
illegal activities and the casino may not be able to completely
prevent money laundering and other illegal activities from
occurring within its casino premises.
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Property Development

() changes in government regulations and policies: the local
governments may periodically revise relevant regulations and
policies in property development according to the latest market
development in real estate, and this will significantly affect the
Group's development plans, budgets and strategies;

(i) environmental risk: the potential liability for environmental
problems could result in substantial costs due to a variety of
laws and regulations concerning the protection for health and
the environment; and

(iii)  volatile real estate prices: real estate demands and prices are
sensitive to various economic and social factors, for example,
the state of the economy, bank interest rates, the size of the
population and the prevailing immigration policy. The real
estate prices could be volatile due to these factors, in turn
affecting the Group's turnover, budget and operation.

Financial Resources and Liquidity

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had non-current assets of
approximately HK$12,597,475,000 (2018: approximately
HK$14,597,151,000) and net current assets of approximately
HK$1,106,435,000 (2018: approximately HK$984,337,000). The current
ratio, expressed as the ratio of the current assets over the current
liabilities, was 1.8 as at 31 December 2019 (2018: 1.5). The increase in
the current ratio is mainly due to the decrease in gaming tax payables
and other payables as at 31 December 2019.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the impairment loss on trade
and other receivables (net) amounted to approximately
HK$181,383,000 (2018: approximately HK$86,990,000). The provisions
mainly consisted of overdue receivables with long aging periods. As
at 31 December 2019, the Group had prepayments, trade and other
receivables of approximately HK$939,626,000 (2018: approximately
HK$939,546,000). As at 31 December 2019, the Group had cash and
bank balances of approximately HK$398,033,000, with approximately
HK$11,707,000, HK$205,574,000, HK$4,538,000 and HK$175,015,000
held in Hong Kong dollars ("HKD"), Korean Won (“KRW"), United
States dollars (“USD") and Philippine Pesos (“PHP”) respectively and
the remaining mainly held in UK pound sterling ("GBP") (2018:
approximately HK$1,098,459,000, with approximately HK$388,354,000,
HK$301,910,000, HK$385,110,000 and HK$13,926,000 held in HKD,
KRW, USD and GBP respectively and the remaining mainly held in
Renminbi (“RMB") and PHP).
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As at 31 December 2019, the Group had current trade and other
payables of approximately HK$510,418,000 (2018: approximately
HK$971,027,000) and bank and other borrowings in USD with floating
interest rate of approximately HK$140,774,000 and in KRW with fixed
interest rate of approximately HK$2,426,137,000 (2018: bank and
other borrowings in USD with floating interest rate of approximately
HK$170,029,000 and in KRW with fixed interest rate of approximately
HK$1,783,352,000) while total liabilities of the Group amounted to
approximately HK$3,235,073,000 (2018: approximately
HK$3,068,758,000). The Group's gearing ratio, which was measured
on the basis of the Group's total liabilities divided by total assets, was
21.4% (2018: 17.4%).

Significant Investments, Material Acquisitions and
Disposals

Investments

Equity investments designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income

As at 31 December 2019, the Group was holding listed equity
investments at a fair value of approximately HK$35,846,000
(representing approximately 0.2% of the total assets of the Company),
which were classified as equity investments designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income of the Group (2018:
approximately HK$80,336,000). Net fair value losses in respect of such
investments of approximately HK$44,490,000, which was mainly
resulted from the downward movement of stock price of the equity
investment in Kingston Financial Group Limited (the shares of which
are listed on main board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1031),
were recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income during the year ended 31 December 2019. There was no
single equity investment representing more than 0.2% of the total
assets of the Company as at 31 December 2019.

Save as disclosed above, there was no other significant investment,
material acquisition or disposal during the period under review that
the shareholders of the Company should be notified of.
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The Company will make further announcements and comply with the
relevant requirement under the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities of the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) as and when
appropriate in case there is any investment(s) being identified and
entered into by the Group. The Company does not rule out the
possibility that the Company will conduct debt and/or equity
fundraising exercises when suitable fundraising opportunities arise in
order to support future developments and/or investments of the
Group and the Company will comply with the Listing Rules, where
applicable, in this regard.

Capital Commitment

The Group had the following capital commitments at the end of the
reporting period:

HAREYN RS EFREMRE - NAFH
REERRATELASLEBTHIMES L
AR ERRA D 2 HERE - BIFAE
BzRKERK/XKE  —BHRAEEE
Be  ARRATHBRARBAGETER R X
ETHARE RS 2Rl e - BARARLIL
BT EHARRN(HER)

BA R
RIS - NREEA U TEARSRE -

2019 2018
—E-NF —E-)N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T FET
Contracted, but not provided for: BRIV B REE
Property, plant and equipment ME - W= NMEE 322,758 579,579
Properties under development BRPYE 46,888 131,992
369,646 711,571
Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have any material capital B EXPriREEE SN - REBE W EEMERER
commitments. HHE o
Contingent Liability R AH

As at 31 December 2019, the Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities (2018: Nil).
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Pledge of Assets

As at 31 December 2019, the following assets of the Group were
pledged to certain banks or financial institutions to secure general
banking facilities and other facilities payable granted to the Group:

g XL
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2019 2018

—E-NF —F-)\F

HK$'000 HK$'000

THT T

Property, plant and equipment YE - R MERE 1,523,652 2,016,811
Investment properties WEME 3,936 -
Completed properties for sale HEDEKYE 951,074 1,266,714

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have any material
charges on assets.

Cash Flow Management and Liquidity Risk

The Group's objective regarding cash flow management is to
maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility
through a combination of internal resources, bank borrowings, and
other debt or equity securities, as appropriate. The Group is
comfortable with the present financial and liquidity position, and will
continue to maintain a reasonable liquidity buffer to ensure sufficient
funds are available to meet liquidity requirements at all times.

Currency and Interest Rate Structure

Business transactions of the Group are mainly denominated in HKD,
KRW, USD, RMB and PHP. Currently, the Group has not entered into
any agreement to hedge against foreign exchange risk. In view of the
fluctuation of KRW, USD, RMB and PHP in recent years, the Group will
continue monitoring the situation closely and will introduce suitable
measures as and when appropriate.

The Group had limited exposure to interest rate fluctuations on bank
and other borrowings as at 31 December 2019, as the interest rates
applicable to the bank and other borrowings are mostly fixed
throughout their respective loan terms.

Employee and Remuneration Policies

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had around 1,785 (2018: around
1,950) full-time employees with total staff costs (including Directors’
remuneration) amounting to approximately HK$692,316,000 (2018:
approximately HK$863,281,000) including management and
administrative staff. The employees were mainly stationed in South
Korea and Hong Kong. The remuneration, promotion and salary
increments of employees are assessed according to the individual's
performance, as well as professional and working experience, and in
accordance with prevailing industry practices. The Group also offers a
variety of training schemes to its employees.
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Subsequent Events after the Reporting Period

On 22 April 2020, the Company completed the placing (the “Placing”)
of 586,978,800 shares (the “Placing Shares”) under the general
mandate to not less than six placees, who are independent third
parties, at the placing price of HK$0.235 per share pursuant to the
terms and conditions of the placing agreement dated 30 March 2020,
entered between the Company and the placing agent, Ferran
Securities Limited. The Placing Shares representing approximately
16.67% of the issued share capital of the Company as enlarged by the
allotment and issuance of the Placing Shares immediately upon
completion. The net proceeds from the Placing, after deduction of
the placing commission and other related expenses, amounted to
approximately HK$137,100,000 will be used for general working
capital of the Group's gaming business and integrated leisure resorts
in Jeju Island, South Korea and interest expenses. Details were
disclosed in the announcements of the Company dated 30 March
2020 and 22 April 2020.

Dividend Policy

According to the dividend policy adopted by the Company, the
Board shall consider, among others, (i) the actual and expected
financial results of the Company; (ii) factors having impacts on the
business or financial performance and position of the Company; (iii)
the Company’s business strategy and operational plans; and (iv) the
current and expected liquidity position and capital requirements of
the Company. Further, the Company’s declaration of dividends is also
subject to the compliance with the Company’s bye-laws, the Listing
Rules and applicable law(s).

Dividend

The Board does not recommend the payment of a dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: Nil).

Appreciation

On behalf of the Board, | would like to convey our sincere gratitude
to all employees for their diligence and contributions to the Group.

I would also like to acknowledge the continual support from our
customers, suppliers and shareholders during the year of 2019.
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For and on behalf of the Board

Yang Zhihui
Chairman and Executive Director
Hong Kong, 27 April 2020
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The Company is committed to upholding a high standard of
corporate governance and business ethics in the belief that they are
essential for maintaining and promoting investors’ confidence and
maximising shareholders’ returns. The Board reviews its corporate
governance practices from time to time in order to meet the rising
expectations of shareholders, to comply with increasingly stringent
local and international regulatory requirements, and to fulfil its
commitment to excellence in corporate governance.

Corporate Governance Practices

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Company has applied
the principles and adopted and complied with all the code provisions
set out in the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate
Governance Report (the "CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to
the Listing Rules, except for the following deviations:

On 27 June 2019, the Company failed to comply with Rule 3.10, Rule
3.21 and Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules and the terms of reference of
each of the audit committee (the “Audit Committee”), nomination
committee (the “"Nomination Committee”) and remuneration
committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) of the Company (the
“"Board Committees”) after the retirements of Mr. Fok Ho Yin,
Thomas and Mr. Wong Chun Hung as independent non-executive
Directors and members of each of the Board Committees. Following
(i) the appointment of Ms. Wang Yuying as the independent non-
executive Director, the chairman of the Audit Committee and a
member of each of the Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee and (i) the appointment of Mr. Li Mingfa
as the independent non-executive Directors and a member of each of
the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee on 23 August 2019, the Board comprised
four executive Directors and three independent non-executive
Directors. As a result, the number of independent non-executive
Directors and the number of members of each of the Board
Committees comply with the requirements under Rule 3.10, Rule 3.21
and Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules.

The Board

The Board is mainly responsible for overseeing the business and
affairs of the Group and aims to enhance the Company'’s value for
stakeholders. The Directors, individually and collectively, must act in
good faith in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders.
Roles of the Board include reviewing and guiding corporate strategies
and policies, monitoring financial and operating performance and
establishing and maintaining appropriate risk management and
internal control systems.
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The primary role of the Board is to oversee how management serves
the interests of shareholders and other stakeholders. To do this, the
Board has adopted corporate governance principles aimed at
ensuring that the Board is independent and fully informed on the key
strategic issues facing the Company. As at the date of this report, the
Board comprises five executive Directors and four independent non-
executive Directors.

The Company appointed Dr. Yang Zhihui as the chairman of the
Board and executive Director on 19 July 2013. Dr. Yang Zhihui has
over a decade’s experience in property development in the People’s
Republic of China. He is responsible for the leadership and effective
running of the Board. The Company does not have a position of
"Chief Executive Officer”, therefore, the executive Directors
undertake the day-to-day management of the Company's business
and strategic planning of the Group with the advice of all non-
executive Directors. Under the existing arrangement, the Board
believes that the balance of power and authority is adequately
ensured and the current arrangement is for the benefit of the Group.
However, the Board will also review regularly the board composition
and appoint a Chief Executive Officer if a suitable candidate is
identified.

The balanced board composition has been formed to ensure strong
independence exists across the Board and save as mentioned herein,
the Company has met the requirements under Rule 3.10 and Rule
3.10A of the Listing Rules for the Board to include at least three
independent non-executive Directors, representing at least one-third
of the Board. At least one of the independent non-executive Directors
has appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise as required under Rule 3.10 of the
Listing Rules. The brief biographical details of the Directors are set
out on pages 5 to 7, which demonstrate a diversity of skills, expertise,
experience and qualifications. The Company has received from the
four independent non-executive Directors annual confirmations of
their independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the
Company considers such Directors to be independent. In respect of
code provision D.1.4 under the CG Code, formal letters of
appointment for Directors setting out the key terms and conditions of
their respective appointment were executed by all Directors.
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In accordance with the bye-laws of the Company (the “"Bye-Laws”), at
each annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time
being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three, the number
nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by
rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at
least once every three years. A retiring Director shall be eligible for
re-election and shall continue to act as a Director throughout the
meeting at which he retires.

Any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold
office until the first general meeting of members after his
appointment and be subject to re-election at such meeting and any
Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board
shall hold office only until the next following annual general meeting
of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.

Regular Board meetings are scheduled in advance to facilitate fullest
possible attendance. The company secretary of the Company (the
"Company Secretary”) assists the executive Directors in setting the
agenda of Board meetings and each Director is invited to present any
business that he wishes to discuss or propose at such meetings.
Board papers are circulated to all Directors within reasonable time
before the Board meetings to ensure timely access to relevant
information. Directors may choose to take independent professional
advice if necessary. Draft and final versions of minutes are circulated
to all Directors for comments. Final versions of minutes are kept by
the Company Secretary and are open for inspection at any reasonable
time on reasonable notice by any Director. The Company held eight
(8) Board meetings and one (1) general meeting in 2019.
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The Board has established three Board Committees to oversee
particular areas of the Company's affairs and to assist in the execution
of its responsibility. All Board Committees are provided with sufficient
resources to perform their duties and, upon reasonable request, are
able to seek independent professional advice, at the Company's
expense. As at the date of this report, the composition of the Board
and the Board Committees are given below and their respective

responsibilities are discussed in this report.

Board of Directors

Exg

Audit
Committee

BNZEE

EEgCONI=HAEREE
HIEZEL LHPHETHBE MEEFRZ
BEeHRIEHENERNBITERL - XAl
HEBEXRSKBUEXER BRABAAF
X MAREAY EFGHEEZE R
MRESIINT - MES B ZBE SN AHRE -

Nomination
Committee

REZEE

SEBEARARE

Remuneration
Committee

¥HMzEE

Executive Directors:

Dr. Yang Zhihui (Chairman)

Ms. Chan Mee Sze

Mr. Yeung Lo (appointed on
9 January 2020)

Dr. Wong Hoi Po (appointed on

3 February 2020)

Ms. Pu Shen Chen (appointed on

19 February 2020)

Mr. Chu Huafeng (appointed on

26 July 2019 and resigned on
3 February 2020)

Ms. Zhou Xueyun (resigned on
9 January 2020)

Ms. Xu Ning (resigned on
26 July 2019)
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Independent Non-Executive Directors:

Mr. Li Chun Kei (appointed on
15 January 2020)

Mr. Bao Jingiao

Mr. Li Mingfa (appointed on
23 August 2019)

Mr. Nguyen Van Tu Peter (appointed on

22 January 2020)

Ms. Wang Yuying (appointed on
23 August 2019 and resigned on

22 January 2020)

Mr. Fok Ho Yin, Thomas (retired on

27 June 2019)

Mr. Wong Chun Hung (retired on

27 June 2019)
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committee chairman
(effective from

22 January 2020)
ZEEXR
(BZF-%F
—AZ+ZHBER)
member

K&

member

&

member

&

committee chairman
ZESIR

committee chairman
ZEEIR
member

241

committee chairman
(effective from
2 January 2020)
ZECEE
(Q_z_zi
—AZ+ZH BER)
member (resigned as
committee chairman
effective from
22 January 2020)
&

fﬂ7+75i
BIZEE2ERE)
member

34

member

%8

member

K&

committee chairman
RESER
member

K&

committee chairman
(effective from
22 January 2020)
ZECER
(BZZ2=Z%F
—AZ+ZB BE®R)
member (resigned as
committee chairman
effective from
22 January 2020)
3=

(BZZ2=%%F
—AZt+ZHi
BILEEXE)
member

3=

member

[B4=!

member

K&

committee chairman

A,
ZEEIR
member

K&

An updated list of Directors, identifying their roles and functions at
the Company, is available on the websites of the Company and the

Stock Exchange.
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Term of Appointment of Independent Non-Executive
Directors

There is no service contract signed between the Company and any
independent non-executive Director. All independent non-executive
Directors were appointed for a term of one year, which is
automatically renewable for successive term of one year upon the
expiry of the relevant term.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy in accordance with
the requirement set out in the CG Code (the “"Board Diversity
Policy”). The Company seeks to achieve board diversity through the
consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional
experience, skills and knowledge. All director appointments will be
made on the basis of merit and candidates will be considered against
objective criteria with due regard for the benefits of diversity on the
Board.

Nomination Policy

According to the nomination policy adopted by the Company (the
“Nomination Policy”), the Nomination Committee shall nominate
suitable candidates to the Board for it to consider and make
recommendations to shareholders of the Company for election as
Directors at general meetings or appointment as Directors to fill
casual vacancies with reference to various factors to assess the
suitability of a proposed candidate. The Nomination Committee shall
ensure the Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s
business.

Auditor’'s Remuneration

During the year under review, the remuneration paid/payable to the
Company's auditor, Zenith CPA Limited, is set out as follows:

Services rendered
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Fee paid/payable

SIRMHR% BN ENER
HK$'000

FET

Audit of financial statements BRI EHRE 2,500
Review of interim results ERPERZEAS 550
Total =1 3,050
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Audit Committee

As at the date of this report, the Audit Committee is comprised of
four independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Li Chun Kei
(Committee Chairman), Mr. Bao Jingiao, Mr. Li Mingfa and Mr.
Nguyen Van Tu Peter.

The written terms of reference stipulating the authority and duties of
the Audit Committee are available on the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange to comply with the provisions of the CG
Code.

The main duties of the Audit Committee are to, among others, (i)
review and monitor the preparation of the Group's financial
statements and annual and half-year reports and accounts; (ii)
monitor, develop and implement the Group’s policy on external
auditors; (iii) recommend the appointment and reappointment of the
Group's external auditor; (iv) supervise the Group's financial reporting
system, risk management and internal control systems; and (v)
develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the Board. The
Audit Committee has reviewed with the management and the
external auditor the accounting principles and practices adopted by
the Group and has discussed auditing and financial reporting matters
and risk management and internal control systems.

During the year, two meetings were held by the Audit Committee
and attended by the members to review and discuss financial
reporting matters, including the review of the interim and annual
consolidated financial statements and re-appointment/appointment
of an external auditor. During the year, there were no disagreements
between the Board and the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee is also responsible for performing the corporate
governance functions set out in the code provision D.3.1 of the CG
Code. The Audit Committee reviewed the Company’s corporate
governance policies and practices, training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior management, the
Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements, the code of conduct and compliance
manual, and the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.

Nomination Committee

As at the date of this report, the Nomination Committee is comprised
of four independent non-executive Directors: Mr. Li Chun Kei
(Committee Chairman), Mr. Bao Jingiao, Mr. Li Mingfa and Mr.
Nguyen Van Tu Peter.
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The written terms of reference stipulating the authority and duties of
the Nomination Committee are available on websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange to comply with the provisions of the CG
Code.

The main duties of the Nomination Committee are to, among others,
(i) review the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board on a regular basis and make
recommendations to the Board regarding any proposed changes; (i)
make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to
the appointment or re-appointment and succession planning of
Directors; (i) identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to the Board on
selection of individuals nominated for directorships; and (iv) assess
the independence of independent non-executive Directors.

The Nomination Committee will also monitor the implementation of
the Board Diversity Policy and the Nomination Policy and review the
respective policy, as appropriate, to ensure their effectiveness.

During the year, two meetings were held by the Nomination
Committee and attended by all members to review the structure, size
and composition of the Board, assess the independence of
independent non-executive Directors and make recommendations to
the Board on the appointment of Directors.

Remuneration Committee

As at the date of this report, the Remuneration Committee is
comprised of four independent non-executive Directors: Mr. Li Chun
Kei (Committee Chairman), Mr. Bao Jingiao, Mr. Li Mingfa and Mr.
Nguyen Van Tu Peter.

The written terms of reference stipulating the authority and duties of
the Remuneration Committee are available on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange to comply with the provisions of
the CG Code.

The main duties of the Remuneration Committee are to, among
others, (i) make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
policy and structure for Directors’ and senior management
remuneration; (ii) ensure that they are fairly rewarded for their
individual contribution to the Group'’s overall performance, having
regard to the interests of shareholders; (iii) make recommendations
to the Board on the remuneration packages of individual Directors
and senior management; and (iv) review and approve performance-
based remuneration by reference to corporate goals and objectives
resolved by the Board from time to time.
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The remuneration payable to each of the Directors of the Company is
determined with reference to their individual performance,
comparable market statistics and the operating results of the
Company. During the year, two meetings were held by the
Remuneration Committee and attended by all members to review
and discuss the Company’s policy and structure of remuneration of

ENARRBEEEZZHFMI2RREZMBAR
B A BLBEMERABERAARZLERE
MEE - FR FHEZESBRTMAER
FIAEKBHAEHFEER  BHMBNARFZ
EEHFIHRNRAE - EFHMZF BN
B BRRMIFE?

the Directors. Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in
note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

The overall attendance record of the Directors at the Board meetings, BERN _E—hEHFEEe g% EFZS
Board Committee meetings and general meeting in 2019 is set outas @&z MIRR A ® 7 BEBILSFH N T ¢
below:

Audit Nomination  Remuneration
Board Committee Committee Committee General
Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
ENZEE RE#ZEE FHEEE
FE -4 83 E = BRAE
(8 in total) (2 in total) (2 in total) (2 in total) (11in total)
(B#8R) (B2R) (B#2R) (B#2K) (B#£1R)
1 )
Number of meetings during the year ~ ZEEREZNY
Executive Directors HITES
Dr. Yang Zhihui (Chairman) NEEEL(LE) 7/8 N/A T N/ANER N/ATEF N
Ms. Chan Mee Sze RESaL 7/8 N/ANER N/ATNE N/ATER 1/1
Mr. Chu Huafeng (appointed on [FEBEER=ZT-NEF
26 July 2019 and resigned on tAZT BEZE
3 February 2020) YR-F_TFE_A=H
(359) 55 NATER  NATER  NATER 0/0
Ms. Zhou Xueyun (resigned on AEzatT (R4
9 January 2020) —ANBEHE) 6/8 N/ATE N/ATER N/ATE R 1
Ms. Xu Ning (resigned on 26 July 2019)  %#T &£ (R=Z—L&F
tAZTRBE{E) 13 NATER  NATER  NATER /1
Independent Non-Executive Directors BV FH{TES
Mr. Bao Jingjao HEHEE 7/8 22 2/2 2/2 1/1
Mr. Li Mingfa (appointed on FHREERZZ-NE
23 August 2019) NAZ+=BEZ) 212 1 0/0 17 0/0
Ms. Wang Yuying (appointed on ITEEZT(RZE-N&
23 August 2019 and resigned on NAZ+=BEZfE:
22 January 2020) TRZE-ZF
—AZ+=R&H) 22 /1 0/0 /1 0/0
Mr. Fok Ho Yin, Thomas (retired on EEREE(RZE-NF
27 June 2019) ANRZTERED) 12 17 12 ”n 171
Mr. Wong Chun Hung (retired on BEERE(RZZ—NE
27 June 2019) ANAZTEREL) 22 17 22 171 /1

N/A: TR
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Directors” and Officers” Liabilities Insurance

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage for
directors’ and officers’ liabilities incurred in discharge of their duties
while holding office as the Directors and officers of the Company.

Training and Professional Development

Any newly appointed Director is provided with comprehensive and
formal induction to ensure that he has a proper understanding of the
operations and businesses of the Group as well as the director’s
duties, responsibilities, and obligations under the Listing Rules and
relevant regulatory requirements.

During the year, all Directors were provided with regular updates on
the Group's business and operation, as well as its financial position
and budget. They were also provided with the information which
covered topics, including but not limited to, corporate governance
matters, disclosure and compliance of inside information, updates
and changes in relation to legislative and regulatory requirements in
which the Group conducts its business, and reading materials which
are relevant to their duties and responsibilities for their study and
reference. During the year, all Directors have participated in
continuous professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills pursuant to the code provision A.6.5 of the CG
Code.

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set
out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its model code for
securities transactions by the Directors. Following a specific enquiry
to all Directors by the Company, all Directors have confirmed that
they have complied with the required standard set out in the Model
Code throughout the year.

Directors” Responsibility for the Group’s Financial
Reporting

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of consolidated
financial statements of the Group which give a true and fair view, and
are prepared in accordance with the relevant statutory requirements
and applicable accounting standards in force, and are published in a
timely manner. The Directors are responsible for selecting and
applying suitable accounting policies on a consistent basis and
ensuring timely adoption of Hong Kong Accounting Standards and
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards.

There are no material uncertainties relating to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue
as a going concern.
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The Board understands the importance of presenting a clear and
comprehensive assessment of the Group's overall performance,
financial position as well as prospects in a timely manner; and the
Board is pleased to report that the annual and interim results of the
Group are announced within three months and two months limit
respectively after the end of the relevant periods.

Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board acknowledges its responsibility in evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of risks it is willing to take in
achieving the Group's strategic objectives. Besides, the Board is
responsible for maintaining sound and effective risk management
and internal control systems for the Group on an ongoing basis, to
safeguard investments of shareholders and assets of the Group, and
to maintain proper accounting records for the provision of reliable
financial information for internal and external reporting. The systems
provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material
misstatement in the consolidated financial statements or loss of
assets. Also, the risk management system is designed to manage
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve the Group's
strategic or business objectives.

The Board has entrusted the Audit Committee to review risk
management and internal control issues, if any, identified by the
external auditor, regulatory authorities and management, as well as
to evaluate the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group's risk
management and internal control systems. The Audit Committee
reports material issues, if any, to the Board. Regular reviews are
conducted during the year on the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems, covering all material
controls in areas of financial, operational and compliance controls,
various functions for risk management as well as physical and
information systems security. An annual review of the effectiveness of
the Group's risk management and internal control systems is
conducted, and the Board receives annually a confirmation from
management of the Company on the effectiveness of the Group's risk
management and internal control systems.

The Group has also established a formal risk assessment system. The
risk assessment exercise is performed annually through
questionnaires and interviews with senior management and function
heads to identify and evaluate significant risks of the Group. These
identified risks are prioritised based on the likelihood of their
occurrence and the significance of their impact on business of the
Group. Moreover, remedial actions or mitigation control measures
are developed to manage these risks to an acceptable level.
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On an annual basis, the Group reviews the need to have an internal
audit function. During the year, the operating subsidiaries of the Group
assign specific independent officers to perform the internal audit
function to conduct analysis and independent appraisal of the
adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management and internal
controls systems, and have procedures in place to keep information
confidential and manage actual or potential conflicts of interest. There
was no significant deficiencies in risk management and internal controls
reported.

The Company is aware of its obligation under relevant sections of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “"SFO") and Listing Rules. To
prevent possible mishandling of inside information within the Group,
safeguards on the handling and dissemination of inside information
have been implemented; including stringent internal structures have
been designed to prevent the misuse of inside information and avoid
conflicts of interest. All members of the Board, senior management,
executives, function heads, and staff who are likely to possess inside
information are bound by the SFO and the Listing Rules (including the
Model Code).

To ensure compliance with all applicable laws and regulations on the
prevention of money laundering, especially for the Gaming Business,
the Group had engaged an internationally reputed consulting firm
having practices in both Hong Kong and South Korea to review and
advise on the anti-money laundering ("AML") and counter-terrorism
financing (“CTF") framework, the related design of controls and the
policies of the Gaming Business. Based on the applicable laws and
regulations and with reference to professional advices, the subsidiary
of the Company operating the Gaming Business has developed its own
internal control policy, including especially those related to compliance
with the applicable AML and CTF laws and regulations. The responsible
department will, from time to time, evaluate that policy. During the
current year, the Group engaged a Korean law firm to perform an
independent assessment on the design and operation of AML and CTF
policies, procedures and controls, as well as the related monitoring
system. The Board has also reviewed the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems, including the AML and CTF
controls, and found the result satisfactory.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Board, through the review
of the Audit Committee, considers that (i) the Group's risk management
and internal control systems are effective and adequate, and the Group
had complied with the provisions on risk management and internal
control as set forth in the CG Code; and that (ii) the resources,
qualifications, experience, training programmes, and budget of the
accounting, financial reporting and outsourced internal audit functions
of the Group are adequate.
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Company Secretary

Ms. Lam Pui Sea (“Ms. Lam") has been appointed as the Company
Secretary since 19 August 2013. Ms. Lam is a fellow member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. She holds a
bachelor degree in Economics and Finance from the University of
Hong Kong. She has extensive experience in accounting and internal
control, corporate secretarial services and corporate administration.

The appointment and dismissal of the Company Secretary are subject
to the Board'’s approval in accordance with the Bye-Laws. Whilst the
Company Secretary reports to the chairman of the Board on the
Group's company secretarial and corporate governance matters, all
members of the Board have access to the advice and services of the
Company Secretary.

According to Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, Ms. Lam has taken no less
than 15 hours of relevant professional training during the year ended
31 December 2019.

On 22 January 2020, Ms. Lam has resigned as the Company Secretary
and Ms. Lok Man Tsit (“Ms. Lok"”) has been appointed to fill the
above vacancy.

Ms. Lok has more than 12 years of experience in acting as a company
secretary of listed companies on the Stock Exchange and providing
related company secretarial services. She holds a master degree of
Science in Professional Accounting and Corporate Governance. Ms.
Lok is an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators.

Voting by Poll

Resolutions put to vote at the general meetings of the Company are
taken by poll. Procedures regarding the conduct of the poll are
explained to the shareholders at the commencement of each general
meeting, and questions from shareholders regarding the voting
procedures are answered.

Shareholder’s Rights
Procedure to Convene a Special General Meeting

(i) Requisition to convene a special general meeting can be
deposited by the members of the Company holding at the date
of the deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth (10%) of
the paid-up capital of the Company as at the date of the
deposit carries the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company.
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(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

The requisitionists must submit their requisition in writing, in
which it must state the objects of the meeting, and be duly
signed by the requisitionists, mailed and deposited at Suites
5815-5816, 58/F., Two International Finance Centre, No. 8
Finance Street, Central, Hong Kong for the attention of the
Company Secretary; and may consist of several documents in
like form, each signed by one or more requisitionists.

The requisition will be verified with the Company’s share
registrar and upon its confirmation that the requisition is proper
and in order, the Company Secretary will ask the Board to
convene a special general meeting by serving sufficient notice
in accordance with the statutory requirements to all registered
shareholders, provided that the requisitionists have deposited a
sum of money reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s
expenses involved in convening a special general meeting. On
the contrary, if the requisition has been verified as not in order,
the requisitionists will be advised of this outcome and
accordingly, a special general meeting will not be convened as
requested.

Such meeting shall be held within 2 months after the deposit of
such requisition. If the directors do not within 21 days from the
date of the deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene
a meeting, the requisitionists, or any of them representing more
than one-half of the total voting rights of all of them, may
themselves convene a meeting, but any meeting so convened
shall not be held after the expiration of 3 months from the said
date.

A meeting convened under this section by the requisitionists
shall be convened in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as
that in which meetings are to be convened by Directors in
accordance to the Bye-Laws and the Listing Rules.

Any reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionists by
reason of the failure of the Directors duly to convene a meeting
shall be repaid to the requisitionists by the Company.

Procedure for Making Enquiries to be Put to the Board and
the Company

The Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous

enquiries. Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Board by
email: enquiry@landing.com.hk, fax: (852) 3621 0052, or mail to Suites
5815-5816, 58/F., Two International Finance Centre, No. 8 Finance
Street, Central, Hong Kong for the attention of the Company

Secretary.
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Procedure to Put Forward Proposals at Shareholders’
Meetings

Pursuant to the Bermuda Companies Act 1981 (the “"Bermuda
Companies Act”), shareholders representing not less than one-
twentieth of the total voting right of all the shareholders having at the
date of the requisition a right to vote at the meeting to which the
requisition relates; or not less than 100 shareholders are entitled to
request the Company to give shareholders notice of a resolution
which is intended to be moved at the general meeting. A written
notice to that effect signed by the requisitionist(s) with detailed
contact information must be deposited at the Company’s principle
place of business in Hong Kong at Suites 5815-5816, 58/F., Two
International Finance Centre, No. 8 Finance Street, Central, Hong
Kong for the attention of the Company Secretary. The notice shall
contain, inter alia, a description of the proposed resolution desired to
be put forward at the general meeting, the reasons for such a
proposal and any material interest of the proposing shareholder in
such a proposal.

The request will be verified with the Company’s share registrar in
Bermuda or Hong Kong and upon their confirmation that the request
is proper and in order, the Company will ask the Board to include the
resolution in the agenda for the general meeting.

Bye-Laws

The Company’s Bye-Laws (in both English and Chinese) are available
on both the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
During the year, there has been no significant change to the
Company's constitutional documents.

Communication with Shareholders

The purpose of the shareholder communication is to promote
effective communication with shareholders, encourage shareholders
to engage actively with the Company and enable them to exercise
their rights as shareholders effectively.

Information shall be communicated to shareholders through the
Company'’s annual general meeting and other general meetings that
may be convened, as well as by maintaining a website
(www.landing.com.hk) on which information about the Company’s
notices, announcements, proxy forms, circulars, financial reports,
results announcements (for both interim and annual reporting
periods) and Bye-Laws are made available.
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Reporting Guideline

This Environmental, Social and Governance ("ESG") Report is
prepared in compliance with the ESG Reporting Guide set out in
Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules. The Board confirms that it has
reviewed and approved the report. For governance section, please
refer to the Corporate Governance Report in this report.

Reporting Boundary and Period

This ESG report covers the Group's business operations in Hong
Kong and South Korea for the financial year from 1 January 2019 to 31
December 2019. The Group aims to give its stakeholders a better
understanding of its practices and governance in relation to key
environmental and social topics. Data in this ESG report are analysed
to account for year-on-year changes and presented in a way that
allows for consistent comparison.

Feedback

Your feedback helps the Company to improve the report further.
Please contact the Company for any questions or comments at
enquiry@landing.com.hk.

ESG Management Approach

The Group is principally engaged in the development and operation
of integrated leisure and entertainment resort, gaming and
entertainment facilities and property development. Striving to be a
responsible corporation, the Group not only provides extraordinary
leisure and entertainment experiences to its customers but also bears
its share of corporate social responsibilities.

Relating to the Group’s business, customer satisfaction, energy
consumption, health and safety and business ethics are key ESG
topics. To make progress along the sustainability journey, the Board
has assumed the overall responsibility for formulating ESG strategic
directions of the Group. The senior management of the Group is
responsible for managing these key ESG topics through continuous
optimisation of ESG policies, deployment of resources and
implementation of new initiatives, integrating the concept of
sustainability into day-to-day operations and improving ESG
performances on a gradual basis.
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Stakeholder Engagement

Environmental and social impacts of the Group's business operations
are of increasing concern to the Group's stakeholders including
customers, shareholders, employees, business partners, regulators,
suppliers and the media. Stakeholder engagement helps ensure that
the Group has considered a diverse range of perspectives and
prioritised the ESG topics that have a material impact to the Group
and its stakeholders. The Company is fully aware of the importance of
effective communication with stakeholders and maintain regular
dialogue both internally and externally.

Key Stakeholder Groups Key Concerns
FTEFEEBEAR FTERTEE

Customers ] Full compliance with regulations
] Quality products and services
. Customer satisfaction

BF . REMTER
. BEESRES
. BEREE

Shareholders o Economic performance

J Full compliance with regulations
S o REEM

o FHETER

Employees . Compensation and benefits

] Occupational health and safety

o Career development opportunities

o Corporate culture and engagement
®E o HHIKREAN

o BERERELE

o BELRERHE

o  (EXERBHE

Business partners ° Long-term partnership

EBBH o  RHEAFHRE

A A B 2 2 5

REBZMmERE(BEEP KRR EE -
EBEMH  EERE  HERRKE) BIRBEE
AARBEEBZEHRERMGZHE - M@
HEE 221G REAEEETNRAREE
WETEEHAKERENGZHBEEERY
BIZRIR - HERERZER  ARFRRNDEM
B BN 23 40 B B A 1T 8 RUS 38 DA B B AR R b
M ERYEcER T -

Engagement Channels

SHRE

Customer loyalty or membership
programmes and events

Customer satisfaction surveys
Customer services hotline and emails
Social media
BEFBHEREEHEI R
EFmMEERE
BRI 2R R BE

MRS

Annual general meeting and other meetings
Corporate communication including
circulars, notifications, result
announcements, annual and interim reports
BREBFREREMAE

REBA - BERE B XEREF
[ I B s

Performance appraisals

Employee involvement in volunteering and
Corporate Social Responsibility (“CSR")
projects

RIFFHE

BESEFZBIIE CEESEFE(TREHR
g5 ER

Meetings and discussion sessions

LM TT A A L 2
SEMFREER
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Key Stakeholder Groups Key Concerns Engagement Channels
TEFEEBEAR TERIEE SHERE
Regulators o Regulatory compliance o In-person meeting with regulators
o Ethical operation o Compliance reporting
o Circulars or guidelines
o Ad-hoc enquiries
EEWE e EEARMK e HEEEKIEEE
o  EBREST s ARWE

o BHEEIESI
e  HMZEMH

Suppliers o Long-term partnership o Supplier due diligence procedures
o Ethical business practices o Supplier evaluations and performance
° Supplier assessment criteria reviews
. In-person meetings and site visits
e o  RHIAEBE s HEREBRELRERF
o  EBREEmFREN o HEmFTELRRBE R
o HEWERE s  BELEWMRE
Media o Community engagement initiatives Management interviews
Hee o MRS e EHEESNH
Environmental Management BREEH

By B8 =

The Group is committed to mitigating its impacts on the environment ~ NEEZ N E BRIIRBEREE G R T E?
by undertaking environmental protection initiatives and impact fHARBHEERBERN T E - FH - AEH
assessments. During the year, the Group complied with all relevant  #E<FEI$EPT A BEBERENOED] - BB ETRER
laws and regulations in South Korea, including but not limited to the ~ ZER/ZE 2R (Air Quality Preservation Act) *
Air Quality Preservation Act, the Water Quality Preservation Act and  7K& {& #& )% (Water Quality Preservation Act) &
the Waste Management Act. Primarily an office-based operation, the &%) & I )% (Waste Management Act) © & /& 42
headquarter office in Hong Kong also strictly complied with HSFZ2R/MAELE  TEEBETEBZRE
environmental laws of Hong Kong. VERE o
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Energy Consumption

The Group consumes energy from various sources, including
purchased electricity, diesel and Liquefied petroleum gas (LPG) from
the daily operations of hotels and casino in Jeju Shinhwa World. In
2019, the Group consumed 104,862,651.46 kWh, representing a 30%
decrease than that of previous year. The decrease was mainly caused
by the reduction of electricity consumption in Jeju. Energy
consumption intensity was computed as 128.58 kWh/thousand Hong
Kong dollars revenue.

HE DR AE

AE BB N AR RE R 2 E R R IRAEIE B R
EPERSEHER BREBEEN  LHKR
ftAME - R-ZE—NF AE@AZEREER
104,862,651.46 F FLEF + 8 5k > 30% < 8l >
TEHRENZEEETRE - ERERERES
128.58 F ELEF/Fi mlias o

Energy Consumption (kWh)

BEROHFE (TR

———847,066.74

2,630,904.43
42,304,793.34

49,902,113.91

2018

2019

In pursuit of higher energy efficiency, the Group has implemented an
energy management system at Jeju Shinhwa World. Under the
premise of customer satisfaction and ensuring their experiences are
not affected, the Group has implemented various energy-saving
measures:

J Adjust the operating time of Heat Ventilation and Air
Conditioning (HVAC) systems at hotel building blocks, casino
and back office area to reduce LPG and electricity usage during
low occupancy season

o Continued to adopt energy-efficient light-emitting diodes (LED)
lights which have a lower electricity consumption across all hotel
guest rooms and most of the new amenities

o Sensors have been installed in areas including indoor parking
zones, staircases and hotel rooms, which automatically dim or
turn off lights when the area is vacant, to save electricity usage

/7521 ,431.50

1,003,299.86

Diesel
4
B Petrol
UH
B LPG
T =i =)

B Purchased Electricity
BEE

ERME  AEEDEEMNERAERE
BR - R ME ZATEE T X iR
HERIYPE ASBCEHRSAEMEER

FEBEERE  REZREIPRERS
BRBZEH (HVAC) R 2 E1TRRE - PR
PREFZBICAHRLENERE

o MAIE{FRENREEL —IREE(LED) B EAT
BBERERE T KIS H R iEE ALaE
LEDERISHEE=R

«  DEZNBEE - ERRAEEHNSES
TR A S T
ZBE DHEAE
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J Installation of green roof system
o Turn off lights in public and back of house area at night

] Continued the operation time adjustment of the manmade
waterfall attraction by reducing 3 hours of operations per day

The Group aims to achieve further energy conservation by the
increasing use of renewable energy. Electricity consumed in hotels,
condominiums and other facilities at Jeju Shinhwa World are partly
generated from photovoltaic systems with an installed capacity of 340
kWh. To further raise employees’ awareness, the Group has
implemented green measures at the head office, encouraging
employees to turn off electronic appliances and lights when not in
use.

Greenhouse gases (GHG) are emitted during the operations of the
Group, mainly by way of vehicle fuel combustion and electricity
consumption. During the year, the Group generated 40,000.82 tonnes
of carbon dioxide equivalent (tCOze), comprising 11,139.63 tCOze in
the direct emissions (Scope ) and 28,861.19 tCOze in the indirect
emissions (Scope Il). Greenhouse gas emission intensity was
computed as 0.049 tCOe/thousand Hong Kong dollars revenue.

GHG Emissions (tCO.e)

o RRELCEIRRL
o EMIBMEAHSMRSREIIERZER

o  HMERENERNEHMZEFRRE X
B AEE 3/

AEEEEE BB INERABERRNE—Z
BIRERE - B - A% MEMiBEERE
MhREEFRZENH O REEKEETERM0T
R ZRELG  RE—FPREEIZER
AEBEATRIRGEHEE SBERBET
FERZETRERERE -

AEBMEZBBEERETEFBAEMBIREK
RESEHFAHERAERE - TR AEEEL
40,000.82ME —E(LixE 2 - BIEEEIKR(HEE
—) 2 11,139.638 — &tk & = N B 5 PEp (5
Bl —)22881. 19— FtmE=E - EERE
BERRE S A0.04ME — S/ E &/ AT -

BEREBEER (M _S(tiRESE)

54,160.78

28,861.19

11,139.63

10,090.04

2018

Water Saving

Established policies are in place regarding water management,
including measures to ensure efficient water use and minimise the
environmental impact of wastewater discharge.

40 Landing International Development Limited B R R A R A
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During the year, the Group has implemented measures to strengthen
the water efficiency at Shinhwa Water Park, including the replacement
of water-efficient showerheads and the installation of an on-site grey
water treatment facility for recycling grey water from pools and
reduce pool wastewater discharge. The facility has a daily treatment
capacity of 600 tonnes of grey water, targeting to recycle a total of
15,000 tonnes of water annually.

Besides, the Group has reduced the operation time of its
waterscapes, which has led to a reduction of 1,530 tonnes of water
consumption.

During the year, the group consumed 735,344.52 m? of water and
recycled 275,008.00 m?. Water consumption intensity was computed
as 0.90 m*thousand Hong Kong dollars revenue. The Group did not
have any issue in sourcing water that is fit for the purpose during the
year.

Water Consumption (m?)

FEKE (LT7K)

771,077.80

2018

Emission Mitigation

The Group generates air pollutants such as sulphur dioxide (SOx),
nitrogen oxide (NOx) and particulate matter (PM) mainly due to
vehicle fuel combustion and the use of fuel-powered machinery for
construction. The Group has implemented clean air conservation
planning, aiming at reducing air pollution and GHG emissions from
its businesses through introducing energy-efficiency measures and
energy reduction initiatives.

FRN - ARBECRRERIART 9K EEE
ZRKME - BREREREKEEARSANLE
7K BR B 3R e DA B 3R 75 AR KOt AR KR A K
FRKEEIR » R B AT B IE 600 MEFR 7K - BIR/A
FEAERAAA £ 15000M7K

BN - NEF D EREHEK ES 27 EERR
SFERKE A 1,530 o

FA - RNEEZFEKERT35,3445257 75K 1
1B 3% /5 A 7K 8 1 % 275,008.00 32 77 K - K&
BEEROIOUF K/ FHETKE - FA - AE
| FE FE ER A 38 A 7K 5 T I A ] A RE o

735,344.52

2019

Wk

AEEEENZRSRY  HIN—SHR &
S RBFRTF - EERPRITEREIREL
RAERERERNEREME - ARECEE
BRERREE B HEEBSARIRERK
miE R ERE AT BB D EEBELE 2 =R

RERERBELEN -
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Regular environmental audits and reviews of initiatives and measures
are conducted by the management to achieve better compliance with
national and local regulatory requirements. On top of daily internal
tracking of boiler operation, the Group inspects the air emissions of
boilers twice a year to ensure compliance with local air emission
regulations. During the year, the NOx levels of the Group's boilers
have met the local regulation standard.

In pursuit of minimisation of emission of air pollutants for managing a
natural and comfortable environment in Jeju Shinhwa World, the
Group introduced an array of low-emissions measures, including the
replacement of traditional petrol vehicles by 48 electric carts and 8
electric vehicles for in-resort transportation. Besides, low NOx
emission boilers have been installed. Operation records are reported
to the Government office with regular tests of air emissions according
to the applicable law. The Group also carries out regular inspections
of all air conditioner pipes to ensure there is no refrigerants leakage.
During the year, air pollutants including 0.0060 tonne sulphur oxides
(SOx), 1.0621 tonne nitrogen oxides (NOx) and 0.0317 tonne
particulate matter (PM) were emitted.

BEES T ETREESLR S NS
UEEARETEARIM T ZEERTE - KE
ALRIEEEEITARERS  AEESFY
MIEERFFETRRRE  BREST Z
ERFBUER - FA - ARERE DALY

KTHA BIEERE -

A 2K 22 RS R FE BRA 4 5 7 N A R
RERTENIRE  NEES|A—ES2R S
M - BLIE A48T E ) S Bk B I 89 E &) B AR
BRAHMEMNERRAEER ZH - 1o
ELRREAG BN RIE - AEBREE
BZAZERABARAZTREELHESRE  IF
MR BRI - AE BN EHREMEEH
EE BERAWITESRR TR BHRZ
72 5055 2 ) 6 45 0.0060 WE B S 11 40 1.0621 18
REYF 0.0317 MBS TR F -

Air Pollutant Emission (tonnes)

ZER)SAR T (HR)

0.0081

2018 2019

* The Group started computing the PM emission from the reporting year of
2019
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Waste Management

Established waste management procedures are in place to promote
the idea of “Reduction, Reuse and Recycling” among employees and
visitors, aiming to handle the increasing amount of waste generated,
while the Group's estate management services team assists the
launching of procedures and relevant measures.

Non-hazardous waste generated by visitors such as plastic bottles,
packaging materials and metal containers are collected in recycling
bins placed at appropriate points. To further enhance the
effectiveness of the recycling initiative, the Group has organised
training and recycling programmes for employees such as waste
collectors and cleaners to raise their awareness of handling waste in
accordance with the Group's recycling procedures. Besides, the
Group encourages all employees to adopt reusable dishes, silverware
and glassware to replace disposable utensils for their luncheons.

To reduce food waste generation, an on-site food waste treatment
facility was built. Food waste is dried in the clean house for
compression which helps reduce the food waste disposal volume.
Food wastes are incinerated in conformity with the local regulatory
requirements. The ash generated in the combustion process can be
further converted and treated as fertiliser for gardening.

In 2019, the total amount of waste generated was 5,266.12 tonnes,
comprising 5,265.31 tonnes of non-hazardous waste and 0.81 tonnes
of hazardous waste. 2,498.90 tonnes of the waste were recycled.

Environmental and Natural Resources

The development of Jeju Shinhwa World was undertaken after
comprehensive environmental impact assessments covering potential
adverse environmental impacts by a qualified consultant. The design,
construction and operation of Jeju Shinhwa World include eco-
friendly features and reduce potential adverse impacts to the
surrounding environment.

Striving to minimise resources consumption in its operations, the
Group promotes the use of softcopies instead of the use of paper.
Also, double-sided use of paper is strongly encouraged when printing
is necessary. Envelopes and file folders are re-used. These in-house
green measures can raise employees’ awareness of the need for

environmental protection and reduce waste generation.

JERE YA L

REEBASENEEZMBE  AEEHERE
EMEERRF - REBRIREHEE [HE - ER
RERBE] B2 ETYEREEREERK I
BhRA B2 i SR AR R TR I

IREEEZBEEREY (BREBEE  BXDH K
BB GREEEERRHZOREAR - B
TR DG EIME  AEEREEYR
SB BRI RBEI REWEE - MREAR
SEZBYIRF - EREEEEY 2 BHE - 1t
S AEEmBEBEERRTREERNEA
Btk SRBEA N MIFAREER -

BB B BARLEFHR BRI - FHRE
R ENRAETTEG - AR B2
BE - HHRERE AR ERFERIE - RE6
R ELZ G — S B EREZCH -

RZE—NF FIEEEEMRER5266.12
WE - B 35526531 MEEEREEY R0SIMEAE
FEZEEY) o 2,498 0MAREZ Y BIRF A -

BB R RRER

A EE R A S RENET 2 ERAY
S CRBBETHYE) GETHE o AN
MEERY B REREEFACMARR
TE WAL EEEE SR BETHYE -

REERVEEPZERBR  AEERER
REFEARBRR - Lo - MFHEIXA
B BRAEHEOR - YEREFEHEX
3R - ZENBEEEER RSB THRIRRK
E2BH WRDELERY -
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To disseminate environmental protection messages to the
community, the Group organises environmental protection events
regularly. The Group's in-house volunteer clubs collaborate with
Jeju’s community service organisations, organising environmental
protection activities for local residents. During the Jeju Olle Walking
Festival in 2019, the Group has carried out roadside garbage tracking
activities at the Jeju Olle trail course to raise awareness of the public
in environmental conservation. Going forward, the Group will
continue to support the community to participate in a wide range of
environmental protection activities.

Employment

The Group views its employees as its most important assets, striving
to offer a good working environment and career development
opportunities. As at 31 December 2019, the total number of
employees was 1,785, of which 94.6% were based in Jeju, South
Korea, contributing to the local economy and community. The Group
has strictly complied with applicable employment laws and
regulations at locations where it has operation, including but not
limited to the Labour Standards Act of South Korea as well as
Employment Ordinance and Minimum Wage Ordinance in Hong
Kong.

To ensure compliance, company policies have been implemented on
equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination and are designed to
facilitate compliance with the Sex Discrimination Ordinance, Disability
Discrimination Ordinance, Family Status Discrimination Ordinance
and the Race Discrimination Ordinance. We strive to provide equal
opportunities in recruitment, trainings, promotion, transfer, salary,
welfare and termination of our employees. Our employees are
recruited and promoted in a fair and open manner regardless of age,
gender, marital status, family status, race, skin colour, nationality,
religion, political affiliation or sexual orientation.

Striving to foster open communication with employees through
various channels. The Group provides a safe and enjoyable work
environment, equitable compensation, benefit schemes,
opportunities for career growth through a variety of learning and
development programmes, and a strong corporate culture where
employees’ contributions are recognised and rewarded. In 2019, the
Group maintained its employee turnover rate at below 4%.
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Development and Training

Talent development is always an important part of human resources
strategy. Striving to be a leading integrated resorts developer and
operator, the Group provides comprehensive training to its
employees, enhancing their problem-solving skills and work efficiency
and adhering to the Vocational Skills Development Act in South
Korea.

Jeju Shinhwa World has completed specific training programmes for
specific positions, for example, leadership training was conducted for
all levels, service training was expanded to all resort operations.
Training initiatives were also strengthened through a systematic
Train-the-Trainer course.

During the year, in addition to the regular training provided by the
departments, approximately 98% of the employee of the Group
completed an average of approximately 13.26 hours of training.

Health and Safety

Protecting the health and safety of employees, the Group has strictly
complied with all relevant occupational health and safety regulations
including but not limited to Occupational Safety and Health Act in
South Korea and Occupation Health and Safety Ordinance in Hong
Kong. To ensure compliance, the Group provides employees with a
safe and healthy working environment by implementing the following
measures:

J ensuring the office and work environment complies with or
exceeds the requirements of relevant laws;

o establishing safety procedures for dangerous work;

o providing the required protective equipment and medical
insurance as well as regular health check-up to employees;

J conducting regular checks of machinery and equipment;

o establishing emergency measures such as fire or explosion
emergency plans;

o recording workplace injuries and analysing the cause of injuries

During the year, the Group provided health and safety training to
employees and conducted legal inspections and work environment
checks on a regular basis. In 2019, the Group recorded 2 cases of
work-related injury. To raise the safety awareness of the sub-
contractors, monthly meetings and weekly inspections were
organised.
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The Company was not aware of any non-compliance with laws and
regulations that have a significant impact relating to providing a safe
working environment and protection of employees from occupational
hazards during the year.

Labour Standards

The Group strictly prohibits the use of child labour and forced labour
and complies with the Labour Standard Act in South Korea. To ensure
compliance, established management approaches are in place:

o all employees must be at least 16 years of age;

J employees under 18 may not be engaged in hazardous work
and are prohibited from working at night to avoid affecting their
studies; and

. before hiring any job applicants, the Human Resources ("HR")

Department verifies their age, for instance, by checking
documents that prove the age of the applicant or any other
credentials that prove the date of birth. Also, the HR
Department ensures the applicant’s appearance is consistent
with the photograph on the identity documents.

If the Group discovers any employees are forced labourers, measures
are taken in accordance with requirements of the relevant legislation,
including (1) removing the employees from workplace immediately
and ensuring the employee’s safety, (2) immediately notifying the
person in charge of the HR Department to verify all relevant
information and confirming whether the employee has been
subjected to forced labour; and (3) immediately identifying the
problem or issue in the recruitment process that gave rise to the
occurrence of forced labour and rectifying this problem or issue
within 90 working days.

During the year, we were not aware of any non-compliance with laws
and regulations having a significant impact on the Group relating to
employment and labour practices; nor did we identify any incidents
relating to the use of child or forced labour.

Supply Chain Management

As part of development and operation of Jeju Shinhwa World, the
Group has worked with various contractors and suppliers for each
business function and has developed and maintained long-term
relationships with each of them. To ensure world-class products and
services, the Group has selected its business partners carefully and
follows fair and open procedures for procurement of all materials,
services and contents. The Group cooperates only with business
partners that share common ethical values and standards.
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During the year, the Group engaged approximately 845 contractors
and suppliers, among which around 95% were enterprises in South
Korea and the remaining around 5% enterprises were from overseas
such as America, Australia, Malaysia, the Philippines, Japan,
Singapore, China, Hong Kong, etc.

Product Responsibility

Striving to enhance customer satisfaction, the Group is committed to
providing world-class products and services at its integrated resorts
and casinos. Direct complaints received on-site are managed in
adherence with the service recovery procedures. Any comments
received are also handled and resolved promptly with solutions or
further assistance offered. During the year, the total number of
complaints and negative comments received by the hospitality
business and the attractions unit were approximately 1,340 and 480
respectively.

The Company complies with all applicable laws and regulations which
includes but not limited to Product Liability Act, Personal Information
Protection Act and casino regulations from The National Gambling
Control Commission in South Korea. To ensure compliance, the
Group strictly implements its consumer data protection and privacy
policies and monitors the use of personal data. Personal information
collected from different stakeholders such as guests, customers and
consumers in the ordinary course of the Group's business are
collected, stored and managed in strict compliance with the relevant
laws and regulations. Only authorised employees can access and use
personal data according to authorised purposes. All employees are
required to protect customer information and comply with all relevant
data privacy laws.

In addition, Jeju Shinhwa World's privacy policy is posted on its
website as required by the Korean Personal Information Protection
Act. To further protect personal data privacy, Jeju Shinhwa World
collects the minimum amount of personal data during membership
registration and also obtains prior consent from its customers before
providing any personal information to third parties. Collection and
use of selective personal data are also undertaken in accordance with
the information network law of Republic of Korea.

The Group is committed to achieving the highest level of standards
with respect to intellectual property rights of its suppliers, customers,
business partners, competitors and others as well as protecting its
own intellectual property rights. When it enters into contracts with a
third party, it always ensures that relevant clauses stipulating
observance and protection of intellectual property rights are
included. Also, the Group regularly seeks expert advice from its
external patent or trademark lawyers, striving to comply with all
relevant intellectual property laws and regulations, and to avoid any
potential intellectual property rights infringement.
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During the year, the Group was not aware of any incidents of non-
compliance with laws and regulations that have a significant impact
on the Group concerning health and safety, advertising, labelling and
privacy matters relating to products and services provided and
methods of redress.

Responsible Gaming

The Group is committed to preventing unlawful entry to its
foreigners-only casino in Jeju, South Korea. The following initiatives
have been undertaken.

o “No Minors Allowed” (i.e. people under the age of 19) signs are
displayed prominently at the entrance of the casino to inform all
guests

o Strict enforcement of identity checks before guests are allowed

to enter the casino

o Casino reserves the right to deny admission or remove a person
from the gaming area under circumstances it deems
appropriate such as behaviours affecting the safety or security
of others

The Group works closely with government and the relevant
responsible gaming and community bodies to minimise negative
social impact and to promote the highest standards of professional
integrity within the casino business.

Responsible gaming trainings are conducted for all casino staff to
equip them with culturally appropriate interventions on gambling
issues, enabling them to provide on-site information, support and
referral to available help.

All new hires are required to undergo responsible gaming awareness
training programme and annual refresher trainings, aiming to offer
necessary resources for guests who need assistance.

To build awareness of the Group's commitment to responsible
gaming, relevant messages are also reinforced on staff notice boards,
internal newsletters and posters in staff areas as well as intranet.
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Anti-corruption

The Group strictly complies with relevant regulations including but
not limited to Improper Solicitation and Graft Act in South Korea and
Prevention of Bribery Ordinance in Hong Kong when contracts and
agreements are executed and/or expenses are paid. There was no
concluded legal case regarding corrupt practices brought against the
Company or its employees during the year.

To ensure its compliance with all applicable laws and regulations on
the prevention of money laundering, especially for the gaming
business, the Group had engaged independent third-party consulting
firm, both in Hong Kong and South Korea, to advise and review on
the Anti-Money Laundering (“AML") and Counter Terrorism Financing
(“CTF") framework, the related design of controls and policies of the
Gaming Business, and annual assessment on the relevant policies,
controls and monitoring systems.

Adhering to applicable laws and regulations and in accordance with
professional advice, the subsidiary of the Company operating the
Gaming Business had developed its own internal control policy, which
complies with the applicable AML and CTF laws and regulations.

In addition to ongoing evaluation on the internal control policy by the
responsible department, the effectiveness of implementation of the
internal control system, including the AML and CTF controls, was
reviewed by the Board and found the results satisfactory.

During the year, the Company was not aware of any incidents of non-
compliance with laws and regulations that have a significant impact
on the Group relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering.
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Community Investment IR E

The Group is committed to giving back to the community. Duringthe  HREBBH HEEHE - FA - NEBFHEIAT
year, the Group undertook the below initiatives to demonstrate its et REREIE -

care to the community.

Beneficiary/Partner Program Summary
BEE/SEBYE it & STEBR

1 [
Seogwangseori & Seogwangdongri  Mutual cooperation Memorandum e Town development fund: Seogwangseori — KRW 50 million

of Understanding (“MOU") and Seogwangdongri — KRW 35 million
HEAERERTER( RBESR])

Theme Park & Waterpark tickets: Seogwangseori — 1,000

tickets/Seogwangdongri — 1,500 tickets

. Partnership with SG Acumen: Outsourcing for landscaping,
cleaning, security, and housekeeping

. Partnership with Jeju Laundry: Outsourcing for uniform

laundry

. W #H % & E £ : Seogwangseori — 50008 # B Rk
Seogwangdongri — 3,500 £ [E

. FERAR KK ELEFIE ¢ Seogwangseori — 1,0005&FIS
% Seogwangdongri — 1,5005k P&

o HESGAcumenBfE  SMIBEMERIL  BR  REREHBE

i
. £ Jeju Laundry &1 : SMHIBIARZE R
Andeokmyun Mutual cooperation MOU . Andeokmyun Sports Competition sponsorship: KRW 5
HBE & ERR B million in cash and product sponsorship

. Andeokmyun Community Chest donation: KRW 2 million/
month
o AndeokmyunBELEES) : HE 00 ERBERERER
o Andeokmyun A% &1RE) - § A 2008 EE
Senior citizen centre snack delivery o Delivered desserts, cakes, and pastries made by Jeju
RERPONRIERE Shinhwa World chefs to senior citizen centres in the
Andeokmyun region
0 Visited 31 senior centres (550 elderly citizens) in 2019
. Il Andeokmyun & 15 2 5 & 0 3% S B 25 1 468 5% t 3R T A
Bz fm - BT
o RIZ-NERIIBREPL(G0ERE)

e e ‘\;é

= /\_\

Red Cross blood drive . Over 50 Jeju Shinhwa World employees participated in the
A+FeRED Andeok Blood Drive to donate blood
. BB 504 B M 13 At RE B 2 Andeok BIED)
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Beneficiary/Partner Program Summary
REE/QEBH SHEBE

Jeju Tourism Association (“JTA") JTA Sports Competition Participation in JTA Sports Competition
(BN RS ) JTAREHE . Provision of food and beverage and room vouchers as lucky
draw prizes

O Z7 \JTA%@}E] tt%
o RUEERLEREBESERAMESRR

Seogwangri Gotjawal Soccer Tournament ° Participation in Gotjawal Soccer Tournament
Gotjawal BRI BIZE . 28 Gotjawal R IFIZE
Jeju City & Seogwipo City Mutual cooperation MOU . Signed MOU with Jeju and Seogwipo City Mayors to
BT REEET HBE & ERR B provide free Shinhwa Theme Park admission tickets to local
children’s centres in 2019
0 Invited 1,550 children in 61 children’s centres

o HENKABBTREESBRELE R_Z—N1FAE
HREROREEEMETEARAGHE
. BERE 6 HTERDZ1550%57E

Jeju Olle Clean Olle ° Participation in the Clean Olle campaign in which Jeju
BZOlle Shinhwa World employees walked along Jeju Olle trails and

cleaned up trash

. Invited MICE clients (30 pax) to a one-day outing to pick up
trash along Olle Trail with Jeju Shinhwa World employees

o Z2HEFBROIEET - M8 ELRIEETE Jeju Olle/ME
REBAIR

o  HFERREBERPQOA)ZM-RE BEMBELRE
8/ Olle/ME 2 53R

Product sponsorship . Sponsored 2,500 utensils sets for the 2019 Jeju Olle
EmED Walking Festival
. Over 200 employees also participated in the event

o ARZE-NFZJejuOlle HT/EBEE) 2, 500142 &
o EBB0EESZEED
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Beneficiary/Partner Program Summary
REE/GEBH it &l SHEBR

-
Oreum Caring Jeju "Adopt an Oreum’ campaign . Participation in Jeju's oreum-caring program. During 2019,

NS [$F Oreum] &3 Jeju Shinhwa World employee volunteers have visited
Oreum on a regular basis to pick up litter and check up on

maintenance along trekking trails.
o ZEFENoreumfR#Eit 8 R -T-NF - BMBELR
8 THRRE E B35 Oreum BB - Wi & B R 1TH#1T

eI -
Haenyeo Haenyeo Appreciation Lunch . Invited over 30 haenyeos, or traditional Jeju sea women
8L BEHHTE who free dive to catch seafood, to an appreciation lunch.

. Invited cast of TV drama “I am the Wind" to speak with
Haenyeos about their lives and tribulations.

M
=4 ¢ BEEBNASLATEFHABEENZBAFNLS

TREZRYHTE
° BFEEREIC am the Wind) 28 B BB 2 R H A% ST
& o
Jeju musicians Shinhwa Love Concert . Started the Shinhwa Love Concert to provide Jeju
BMEEA BEEERES musicians a platform to perform in five-star hotel lobbies.
o  BRRERESLY RENSSEARMKEREREE
AEREZTR
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Performance Data Summary (Environmental) BURBPRREE (BREY)
2019 2018

—E-hEF —E-NF
Energy BEIR
Gasoline/Petrol (kWh) R (T RE) 521,431.50 847,066.74
Diesel (kWh) Le5m (T ELBS) 1,003,299.86 2,630,904.43
Liquefied petroleum gas (kWh) Bk AmE (FRE) 49,902,113.91 42,304,793.34
Purchased electricity (kWh) Eﬁféfé%j] (FEBF) 53,435,806.19 103,865,994.33
Total energy consumption (kWh) REFEE (TRE) 104,862,651.46 149,648,758.84
Energy consumption intensity ﬁuﬁﬁi wnE

(kWh/Revenue HK$'000) (FRE WaETET) 128.58 48.48
Greenhouse Gas RE R
Scope 1 Direct emissions (tCO,e) FE— — BEHFM(CO,e) 11,139.63 10,090.04
Scope 2 Energy indirect emissions #E— — REREEBER (tCO,e)

(tCOye) 28,861.19 54,160.78
Total greenhouse gas emissions (tCO,e) /§¥ Gk TJFE&E(‘ECO e) 40,000.82 64,250.82
Greenhouse Gas emission intensity BERBYNER 0.049 Not applicable

(tCO,e/Revenue HK$'000) (FEE, Mz :F/%TE) TiEA
Waste BEEY
Total hazardous waste generation (tonne) FIE4 G EEE Y4 E (18) 0.81 0.89
Total non-hazardous waste generation — FrEABEEFEY4EE (HE)

(tonne) 5,265.31 5,092.00
Water 7K
Water consumption (m?) FKE(IFHXK) 735,344.52 771,077.80
Water consumption intensity FKERE 0.90 0.36

(m3/Revenue HK$'000) (ST HK Wz THETT)

Air Pollutants ERTEY

Nitrogen oxides (tonne) ma b (WE) 1.0621 0.6122

Sulphur oxides (tonne) waE b (E) 0.0060 0.0081

Particulate matters (tonne) BRI R (IE) 0.0317 Not applicable
TEA
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The Directors present the annual report and the audited consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019.

Principal Activities

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Business Review
Overview

Details of (i) business review and relevant principal risks and
uncertainties and (i) future development of the Group's business are
set out respectively in the "Operation and Business Review”,
“"Qutlook” and “Principal Risks and Uncertainties” sections under
"Management Discussion and Analysis” of the Letter from the Board.

The Group understands the success of the Group's business depends
on the support from its key stakeholders, including employees,
customers, suppliers, banks, regulators and shareholders. The Group
will continue to ensure effective communication and maintain good
relationship with each of its key stakeholders.

Key Financial Ratios

Details of the Group's business performance are indicated in

EEEMREBRE_T-NAF+-_A=1T—H
IR 2 FRMEERRAMBRE -

FEEH

ARBRBREER AR - KRB EEZWBRA
ZEBEBEHN A IS RRME -

05 ol e
BE

ﬁf’ﬁ(')%%EEE&WFEE%HEMATEHEHI%
(NAEREXBRRERZFBONHARES
u1¢ [EEEFwEDT | A TEEREHE

Bl TREZINZERBR N THAEER|FEH -

AEEPAAAREEERBRDBURNE £ E st
HEEZXR BREEE TP #ER R
1T BEEMBLRER AEESEERSTR
NMEBEERSEREBLRIRE

ERMBLER
BRAREEBRRZFBRESTS R (B

“Management Discussion and Analysis” section of the Letter from the  B&lsmEDHT ] —EIARZIR - MEMB IS K&,
Board, and other financial ratios are set out below: NI :
2019 2018
—E-hEF — N\
Debt to equity ratio BARBELE 27.2% 21.0%
Quick ratio RENLL R 1.0 0.9

Notes:

(1M Debt to equity ratio is calculated by dividing total liabilities by total equity.
Debt to equity ratio increased from 21.0% in 2018 to 27.2% in 2019.

S

Quick ratio is calculated by dividing total current assets less inventories and
completed properties for sale by total current liabilities. Quick ratio
increased from 0.9 in 2018 to 1.0 in 2019.

Environmental Policies and Performance

Details of the Company’s environmental policies and performance
are set out in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report.
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Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with regulatory
requirements and the risk of non-compliance of the applicable rules
and regulations. The Group has been allocating system and staff
resources to ensure ongoing compliance with rules and regulations
and to maintain cordial working relationships with regulators
effectively through effective communications. During the year, the
Group has complied with, among others, to the best of our
knowledge, the following major laws and regulations:

Hong Kong

—  the Listing Rules;

—  the SFO;

—  Companies Ordinance; and
—  the Gambling Ordinance.
South Korea

—  Tourism Promotion Act;

—  Special Act on the Establishment of Jeju Special Self-governing
Province and the Development of Free International City;

— Jeju Special Self-governing Province Tourism Promotion
Ordinance;

—  Foreign Exchange Transaction Act;
—  Building Act (and its Enforcement Decree);
—  Landscape Act (and its Enforcement Decree);

—  Environmental Impact Assessment Act (and its Enforcement
Decree);

—  Road Act;

—  Jeju Special Self-governing Province Building Ordinance;

—  Commercial Act; and

—  Foreign Investment Promotion Act.

ERREEAR

AEBERBTEEREMERRIIFEEZ
TERER AEE-BENERGMAANER
NHERFEETROINRE  WEBBARER
/\n£"$%%1%%ii%f/\f’ﬁﬁﬁ% FA-BERM
PR ARBECET(HPEFBE)UTERX
15'1)32/2%%

&E

—  LEmRA

— BHERBEGHA
—  REMED R

—  BEEED -

— KB

— BKRIUBEMBHNBERENRERER
B B ¥ ™ %F Bl )% & (Special Act on the
Establishment of Jeju Special Self-
governing Province and the Development
of Free International City) :

— BIMNE R B8 B IR E R E KB (Ueju
Special Self-governing Province Tourism
Promotion Ordinance) :

7422 (Tourism Promotion Act) :

—  HMER 5% Z (Foreign Exchange Transaction
Act)

— BEFIR(REEWHAS) (Building Act
(and its Enforcement Decree)) :

—  MWIVEAR(REEHZEAS) (Landscape Act
(and its Enforcement Decree)) :

— RBREBEZETBEIR(REEEES)
(Environmental Impact Assessment Act
(and its Enforcement Decree)) :

—  BREZE (Road Act)

—  BMER B S E 2 EE A (Jeju Special
Self-governing Province Building
Ordinance) :

—  PEEAR(Commercial Act) i &

—  HNEGE E 1R # 7% & (Foreign Investment
Promotion Act) ©
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Results and Appropriations

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income on pages 77 to 78.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2019.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Share Capital

Movements of the share capital of the Company during the year are
set out in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

Distributable Reserves of the Company

Details of distributable reserves of the Company are set out in note
31 to the consolidated financial statements.

Summary of Financial Information

A summary of the results, assets, liabilities and non-controlling
interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted
from the audited consolidated financial statements, is set out on
page 204.

Directors

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report are:
Executive Directors:

Dr. Yang Zhihui (Chairman)

Ms. Chan Mee Sze

Mr. Yeung Lo (appointed on 9 January 2020)

Dr. Wong Hoi Po (appointed on 3 February 2020)

Ms. Pu Shen Chen (appointed on 19 February 2020)

Mr. Chu Huafeng (appointed on 26 July 2019 and
resigned on 3 February 2020)

Ms. Zhou Xueyun (resigned on 9 January 2020)

Ms. Xu Ning (resigned on 26 July 2019)
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Independent Non-Executive Directors:
Mr. Bao Jingiao

Mr. Li Mingfa (appointed on 23 August 2019)

Mr. Li Chun Kei (appointed on 15 January 2020)

Mr. Nguyen Van Tu Peter (appointed on 22 January 2020)

Ms. Wang Yuying (appointed on 23 August 2019 and
resigned on 22 January 2020)

Mr. Fok Ho Yin, Thomas (retired on 27 June 2019)
Mr. Wong Chun Hung (retired on 27 June 2019)

In accordance with Bye-Law 84(1) of the Company’s Bye-Laws and
code provision A.4 of the CG Code under Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules, Dr. Yang Zhihui, Ms. Chan Mee Sze and Mr. Bao Jingiao will
retire by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting and are
eligible for re-election.

In accordance with Bye-Law 83(2) of the Company’s Bye-Laws and
code provision A.4 of the CG Code under Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules, Mr. Yeung Lo, Dr. Wong Hoi Po, Ms. Pu Shen Chen, Mr. Li
Mingfa, Mr. Li Chun Kei and Mr. Nguyen Van Tu Peter will be subject
to election by shareholders of the Company at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

Change in Information in respect of Directors

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, changes in information
of Directors are set out below:

Name of Director Details of changes

B FEHITES
WEHELE

FREREER -_ZT-NFNAZT=H
BZE)

FHgEE (R -2 -_ZF A +HHEZE)

rEEEE (R E-EF—F=-+=H
BEZT)

TEBLZE(R=E—NAFNA=+=H

BEEARE(R=ZF-NFRAZ+ERED
wRERE (R NFRAZ+TERED

RIBA R ] 2 ERRANA S 84(1) 15 Ko i AR AU B
BIABETARERTAZTAMEXAL (E
Bt BREBXLRHSHLEBRERER
REFAEHERFLNAEBNG LEEE
£

IRIEA R R 2 ER2 4RI 2 83(2) 5 K =70 37 A B
BB TEEERTAUZTARXAL HE
Sdk s TEREL  BERLL THALE
TR E R T EB R SR AR AR E
[ERR AT KGIBIE -

2R 5

B FHAI$1351B()  EEERMEHH
AT

A BEFE
Ms. Chan Mee Sze — Resigned as independent non-executive director of Mingyuan Medicare
PRERBZ T Development Company Limited (shares of which were listed on the main board of
the Stock Exchange, stock code: 233) with effect from 23 January 2020
— BEHRRBRZRBR DA (KRN GO ER LT - BRI - 233) 2B
BITES RE-ZEF-—A-T=HRER
—  Appointed as director of certain subsidiaries of the Company
— CEZERARFRETHWEBRARZESR
Mr. Yeung Lo —  Appointed as director of certain subsidiaries of the Company
BREE — CDEZERARFETHWERARZES
Dr. Wong Hoi Po —  Appointed as director of certain subsidiaries of the Company
BERIEL — CDEZERFRFETHWEBRARZESR

Ms. Pu Shen Chen —
SBIEE L —

Appointed as director of certain subsidiaries of the Company

EEZEAARRRETHERRIZES
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Directors’” Service Contracts

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract which is not determinable by
the Group within one year without payment of compensation (other
than statutory compensation).

Arrangements to Purchase Shares or Debentures

At no time during the year was the Company, or any of its holding
companies, its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries, a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company and any
other body corporate.

Directors’ Interests in Transactions, Arrangements or
Contracts

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Connected Transactions”
in this report and note 36 to the consolidation financial statements, no
transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to which the
Company, or any of its holding company, subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director had a material interest,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

Permitted Indemnity Provision

Pursuant to Bye-Law 164 of the Company’s Bye-Laws and relevant
provisions of the regulations stipulated, every Director or other
officers of the Company shall be indemnified and secured harmless
out of the assets and profits of the Company from and against all
losses and liabilities which he may incur or sustain in or about the
execution of the duties of his office or otherwise in relation thereto,
and no Director or other officers shall be liable for any loss, damages
or misfortune which may happen to or be incurred by the Company in
the execution of the duties of his office or in relation thereto,
provided that this Bye-Law shall only have effect in so far as its
provisions are not avoided by the Bermuda Companies Act.

A permitted indemnity provision for the benefit of the Directors is
currently in force and was in force throughout the financial year. The
Company has taken out and maintained Directors’ and officers’
liabilities insurance throughout the year, which provides appropriate
cover for the directors of the Group.
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Directors” and Chief Executives’ Interests And/Or Short
Positions in the Shares, Underlying Shares and
Debentures of the Company or Any Associated
Corporation

As at 31 December 2019, the interests and short positions of each
Director and chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV the SFO), which are
required (i) to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the provisions of Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which they were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); (ii) pursuant to
section 352 of Part XV of the SFO, to be entered in the register
referred to therein; or (iii) pursuant to the Model Code to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:

Name Capacity

A 55

B R ERATHA B AR A W 8 AT
R T 1 2 By ~ R B By B 27 v 2
SR B

RZBE—NEF+_A=+—8 "  ARFREES

ZTRABERARR LEBEEZE (EER
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BHFTRHERANRERSFMAEKRMEXVELE
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XV &0 58 352 1652 Az Gk Frat & aa it + 3k (i) R 3%
BAESFRI e AN B MR AT 2w KB R
T

Percentage of

Dr. Yang Zhihui ("Dr. Yang”)
MEEHLT([HEL))

Held by controlled corporation

FIEHlZ A B A

Long or issued Share
Number of  Short Capital of
Shares held  Position the Company
EARRDF
EBRITRA
FrERHEE HFAIKXE BOH
1,481,567,297  Long 50.48%

(Note) &2

(B&E)

Note: 1,481,567,297 ordinary shares are held by Landing International Limited
("LIL"), a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands whose entire
issued share capital is held by Dr. Yang. Dr. Yang is one of the directors of
LIL as at 31 December 2019.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, none of the
Directors was a director or employee of a company which had an
interest or short position in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the
provision of Divisions 2 and 3 Part XV of the SFO and none of the
Directors, the chief executive of the Company nor their associates
had any other interests or short positions in the shares of the
Company, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which (a) were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which any such Director or the
chief executive of the Company is taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO); or (b) were required to be entered into
the register maintained by the Company, pursuant to Section 352 of
the SFO; or (c) were required to be notified to the Company or the
Stock Exchange, pursuant to the Model Code.
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DIRECTORS” REPORT
TR

Directors’ Interests in a Competing Business R Y STRIES Pl E

None of the Directors or their respective associates was interested in ~ RAARIREHE - MEEFSHHSEIAE2HE A
any business apart from the Group's businesses, which competes oris  +RZANE B Z B AIMT A HESBEREAER
likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the Group’s ¥ Ak AT LB 55 2 ¥ 15 A Tk

business as at the date of this report. o

Substantial Shareholders’ Interests And/Or Short = R SR A A W) By T A TR B Ay b
Positions in the Shares, Underlying Shares of the ZHELE B Bk A

Company

As at 31 December 2019, the register of substantial shareholders R-ZT—HhE+-_A=+—H BAATIRE
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of Part XV of the  ®B% REIGIEMEXVEE B EFEZ FEMR
SFO shows the following shareholders had notified the Company of ~ B &M ATaCEE - TR ED FEe AR A EAR
relevant interests and short positions, being 5% or more of the issued R AR EITIRAFEH L ANRD T2 BITARAN 5%

share capital of the Company. A MBS AR o
Percentage of
Long or issued Share
Number of  Short Capital of
Name Capacity Shares held  Position the Company
EARRQF
HRH EBITRA
wE/EB 55 FEROBE %K=& BOk
LIL Beneficial Owner 1,481,567,297  Long 50.48%
B R EIRR BEmEAA (Note 1) 4R
(PH&ET)
Ms. Xu Ning (“Ms. Xu") Interest of spouse 1,481,567,297  Long 50.48%
rrrt (Mgkt]) FofB s (Note 1) #f&
(PH&ET)
Bao Xin International Group Limited Held by controlled corporation 217,484,400  Long 7.41%
("Bao Xin") ket a/NCIES o) (Note2) 4R
Bao Xin International Group Limited (MF5E2)
([Bao XinJ)
Mr. Yao Jianhui (“Mr. Yao") Held by controlled corporation 217,484,400  Long 7.41%
whEEse A (T k4 D) PREESIZ R R A (Note 3)  #F&
(BIzE3)
Beneficial Owner 4,425,600  Long 0.15%
BEHERA (Note 3) #fA&
(Pf7E3)
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Notes:

1. LIL, whose entire issued share capital is held by Dr. Yang, is interested in
1,481,567,297 shares of the Company. Ms. Xu is the spouse of Dr. Yang.
Under the SFO, Ms. Xu is deemed to be interested in the same number of
shares in which Dr. Yang is interested in.

2. Bao Xin, through its owned subsidiaries, holds 217,484,400 shares of the
Company, representing approximately 7.41% of the total number of issued
shares of the Company.

3. Bao Xin, is a controlled corporation wholly owned by Mr. Yao, which is
interested in 217,484,400 shares of the Company. Together with the
4,425,600 shares of the Company beneficially owned by Mr. Yao, Mr. Yao is
deemed to be interested in a total of 221,910,000 shares of the Company,
representing approximately 7.56% of the total number of issued shares of
the Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, no other person
(other than the Directors and the chief executive of the Company) or
their associates had any interests or short positions in any shares,
underlying shares and debentures of, the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 336 of the
SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.

Confirmation of Independence of Independent Non-
Executive Directors

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers
that all of the independent non-executive Directors are independent.

Connected Transactions

No disclosure requirement is needed for the connected transaction(s)
according to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Purchase, Sale and Redemption of Listed Securities

There was no purchase, sale or redemption of any of listed securities
of the Company by the Company or any of its subsidiaries during the
year ended 31 December 2019.

Management Contracts

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year.

BaE
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Major Customers and Suppliers

During the year ended 31 December 2019, sales to the Group's five
largest customers accounted for approximately 15.65% of the annual
revenue and the aggregate amount of purchases attributable to the
Group's five largest suppliers represented less than 32% of the
Group's total purchases. The sale to the largest customer represented
approximately 6.9% of the annual revenue. None of the Directors or
any of their associates or any shareholders (which, to the best
knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group's five
largest customers and suppliers.

Retirement Benefits Schemes

Information on the retirement benefits schemes of the Group are set
out in note 2.4 to the consolidated financial statements.

Emolument Policy

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set by the
management of the Group on the basis of their merit, qualifications
and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are considered and reviewed by the
Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Company’s operating
results, individual performance and comparable market statistics.

Equity-Linked Agreements

Details of the equity-linked agreements entered into during the year
or subsisted at the end of the year are set out below:

Share Option Scheme

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 11 July 2010 (the
"Adoption Date”) (the “Share Option Scheme”). Apart from the
Share Option Scheme, the Company has no other share option
scheme currently in force. The purpose of the Share Option Scheme
is to provide incentives or rewards to the participants, including any
Directors (including executive Directors, non-executive Directors and
independent non-executive Directors) and any employees of the
Group or any invested entities or substantial shareholders and any
advisors, consultants, suppliers, customers, services providers of any
members of the Group or any invested entities or substantial
shareholders, and any other groups or classes of participants at the
sole discretion of the Board, for their contribution to the Group and
to enable the Group to attract and retain employees of appropriate
qualifications and with necessary experience to work for the Group
and any invested entities. Pursuant to the Share Option Scheme, the
Board may invite any eligible person including any Director and
employee of the Group to take up options to subscribe for shares of
the Company. The Share Option Scheme is valid and effective for a
period of ten years from its Adoption Date.

62 Landing International Development Limited %5 & 2] B % Jg A fiL 3 5]
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There is no minimum holding period before any options can be
exercised. The maximum number of shares to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted (including exercised, cancelled and
outstanding options) under the Share Option Scheme in any
12-month period up to and including the date of grant to any
participants shall not in aggregate exceed 1% of the issued share
capital of the Company for the time being unless the proposed grant
has been approved by the shareholders of the Company in a general
meeting with the proposed grantee and his associates (as defined in
the Listing Rules) abstaining from voting.

The subscription price at which a grantee may subscribe for shares on
the exercise of an option under the Share Option Scheme is
determined by the Board in its absolute discretion at the time of the
grant of relevant option and in any case shall not be less than the
highest of (a) the closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of offer of grant; (b)
the average closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of offer of grant; or (c) the nominal
value of the shares.

Save for the grant of options on 15 December 2014 which was
subsequently cancelled on 8 January 2015, as at the date of this
report, no share option has been granted or exercised by the
Company since the Adoption Date, and the total number of shares of
the Company available for issue under the Share Option Scheme was
293,489,871, representing 10% of the issued share capital of the
Company.

Pre-Emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Bye-Laws, or the laws in Bermuda, which would oblige the Company
to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Board confirms that the
Company has maintained a sufficient public float as required under
the Listing Rules throughout the year ended 31 December 2019.
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Donations

The Group made charitable or other donation of approximately
HK$7,340,000 during the year ended 31 December 2019.

Auditors

PricewaterhouseCoopers was appointed as the auditor of the
Company to fill the vacancy following the retirement of Zenith CPA
Limited (“Zenith”) as the auditor of the Company at the annual
general meeting of the Company held on 17 June 2016. The
Company'’s consolidated financial statements for the years ended 31
December 2016 and 2017 were audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers.

Zenith was appointed as the auditor of the Company to fill the
vacancy following the resignation of PricewaterhouseCoopers as the
auditor of the Company on 24 December 2018. The Company's
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2018 and 2019 were audited by Zenith. Save for the above, there were
no other changes in the Company'’s auditor in the past three years.

Zenith shall retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
appointment in the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.

Hak

AEBRBE—FT-NAFT_A=1+—BLHF
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On behalf of the Board

Yang Zhihui
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 27 April 2020
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
M) 7 A% BT o

ASSURANCE | TRANSACTIONS | ADVISORY

ZENITH@%

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF LANDING INTERNATIONAL
DEVELOPMENT LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda
with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Landing
International Development Limited (the “"Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 77 to 202, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2019, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2019, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter
below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is
provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report, including in relation to these
matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The
results of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed
to address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion
on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Key audit matter
BRENSBE

[oH o % it T IH

RRBFTFAEDRERMAZERAE  RRY
B AR AMBBRRMERRERZER °
ZEEHERERMETBREAMBHRR LT
ARARREE - RATSHRSFTREHRES
ZER -BMTIREEEMS » BHIAEEE
IR AR SE B 2 A S T3

BHICBITARET [ RHEIF 476 BB
KAFEZEML] —fifzEE  BREZSES
HARE - At RAZERERBEITEER
HRME R E M BHRRERERFEE R 2 ¥
MR - BfBREF (BREAREBIATER
METZERF) ZER - REMISLEEN RS 815
BRZEBLERREHRER -

How our audit addressed the key
audit matter

EfzETNAUEEERETSER

Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment of the
business for development and operation of the integrated leisure
and entertainment resort (the “Integrated Resort Development
Business”) and the business for operation of gaming and
entertainment facilities (the “Gaming Business”) operated in Jeju
Shinhwa World
REMNGEEHRAANEECBREELEGERARREEBNER (&R
FEBRERRER]) URKEBPERREREER (BREK] 2
W - BERREZRERE

Refer to Notes 3 and 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

LA RERMEIR 14 -

The Group has been developing the Integrated Resort Development
Business, which include hotels, theme park, and gaming facilities
operated in Jeju Shinhwa World (the “Jeju Shinhwa World”). During
the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group incurred capital
expenditure of HK$205 million related to the Jeju Shinhwa World,
and the carrying amount of the property, plant and equipment of the
Jeju Shinhwa World amounted to HK$10,316 million as at 31
December 2019 which included hotels, a theme park and area
designated for gaming facilities.

EEEIERGFAERBRERER  EREERNBEMNSFEE R ([E
MBFHRDECEZBEE  FERAEREERE - BHE_T—NF
TZA=+—BLFE BEEEREMNBEUHAELEERAFAX
205,000,000 7T - RZZE—NF+_A=+—H  BMNEHFERY
¥ BERZEZIREER10,316,000,000/87T « EHRBIEEE - £
BRAEREISEBEREZ R -
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Our procedures in relation to the carrying
value of property, plant and equipment of
the Jeju Shinhwa World included:
BEMBEMNEFERYE - BERREREE
ZEFERE:

— Understanding, evaluating and
validating the operating effectiveness of
the controls over additions of costs to
the Jeju Shinhwa World;

TR~ TG N BERR BIHE M A8 5 ST
HRRIN AN Z SEAERCRR

—  Performing substantive test of additions
during the year on a sample basis by
examining relevant documents such as
invoices and the qualified surveyors’
report to evaluate whether additions
have been properly capitalised;
RERNEEBEINK AR ETEE MR
A HERREEZREERABME
EEMBEXH AT ERIKEAREEHE
EERL
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Key Audit Matters (continued)

Key audit matter
BRESBE

ToH S 2 it = 0 (4

How our audit addressed the key

audit matter

EfzETNAUEEERETSR

There are a number of areas where management judgement impacts
the carrying value of property, plant and equipment and the related
depreciation profiles. These areas include:
EREHEERZETEFEYE  BERREREENMEBT
BB B

— determining which costs, including borrowing costs, meet the
criteria for capitalisation;

EERN (BREERN) RENTEERMMBM

— determining the date on which construction-in-progress is
transferred to property, plant and equipment and depreciation
commences; and
ETRERIRERRYE BERRBURINERKRZBE
53

— determining if any impairment indicators exists at the year end.

BEERERENFRREEFE -

We focused on this area due to the significance of the carrying
amount of the property, plant and equipment of the Jeju Shinhwa
World to the consolidated statement of financial position and the
high level of judgements required by management in assessing if
impairment indicators existed at the date of the consolidated
statement of financial position.

HAF IR - REEREMNEELERYE - BERRE 2R
HEHGEMBRAAXRMEEE - M EERBERGEMBRAKE
HF R ERERSFERFIELEARHE -

Evaluating management’s policy in
determining the date of commencing
depreciation;
HAEEEEAHEEMERMBHZK
%K

Assessing the competency, objectivity
and independence of the external valuer
engaged by management, and
discussing with the external valuer their
work scope, and assessing the
appropriateness of the valuation
methodology used; and
AHEEREMRERGGEN AR &'
BIRE BV - EIMBEEMRKRE
TIFERET W - YaHEAAZEES
ERERE R

Understanding and evaluating the
Group's procedures regarding the
identification of sources of information
relevant to impairment indicators.
TEREFE BEEBEABYERERR
HERRRZIZF ©
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Key Audit Matters (continued)

Key audit matter
BRESBE

Impairment assessment on goodwill and other intangible assets of
the Gaming Business operated in Jeju Shinhwa World

REMGETERRNEE BERE BB R A UETLEERERN G

Refer to Notes 3, 17 and 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

FRHGG A FEREME3 17K 18 ¢

As at 31 December 2019, the carrying amount of the Group’s goodwill
amounted to HK$5 million, which was recognised upon the
acquisition of the Gaming Business in Jeju, South Korea in 2015. The
other intangible assets of HK$869 million represents the gaming
license, which has an indefinite useful life and is subject to annual
impairment review.

RZZBE-NFE+ZA=+—H EK5E®HEZKREMERS5000000
BT BERER T -AFUBERREMNBERBRER - At
B/ K E 869,000,000/ TEEHER - HEAEMRAIEAFHER
tEL FERERER

Management engaged an external valuer to assist in performing an
impairment assessment on the goodwill and intangible assets using a
value-in-use calculation.
EREZRRIMEEMGIMAEREEFECHERBETEEL
TTRERTS

We focused on this area due to the fact that significant management
judgements were involved in the underlying assumptions of the
impairment assessment, including the revenue growth rate, terminal
growth rate and discount rate. These require significant auditor's
attention.

BAZINLER  REENRENGEZEERRSIREAEEE
b BREEEERE  REERERFTREK - B EXETRAZHAED
MBAERE °
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How our audit addressed the key
audit matter

EfzETNAUEEERETSR

Our procedures in relation to management'’s
impairment assessment on goodwill and
intangible assets included:

RN EEEETHEREREERENEZ
BFEE:

— Evaluating management’s five-year
approved cash flow forecast;
A EREs AFHSHERSRER
Al

— Assessing the competency, objectivity
and independence of the external valuer
engaged by management;

FHEEIEE IS RSN R A ER 2 B AR
EHRE BT

—  Discussing with the external valuer their
work scope, and assessing the
appropriateness of the valuation
methodology used;
EONEREERM NS 2 TEERBETTR
i WAHE TR Z METEEERE ¢

—  Assessing the reasonableness of the key

assumptions used by the external valuer
and management such as revenue
growth rate, terminal growth rate and
discount rate by comparing these
assumptions against relevant market
data and industry research;
AN EMRERBMAZEER
RERAE  MHHEERE  HERIER
KRIFT|E - HERKZ SRR AR
IS BUHE R IT R TTEITLLE
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Key Audit Matters (continued)

Key audit matter
BRESBE

ToH S 2 it = 0 (4

How our audit addressed the key

audit matter

EfzETNAUEEERETSR

Comparing the current year actual
results with the prior year forecasted
results prepared by management for the
Gaming Business to ascertain the
reliability of management’s forecast;
BAFEERXEREEERERLER
PimEn EFREIRARAEETLLE - A
B ETRA 2 AT S

Testing the arithmetical accuracy on the
value-in-use calculation of the Gaming
Business; and
ARABEERGERABEAEZEN 2B
HiZE R

Evaluating the procedures performed by
management to identify any instances of
non-compliance with the applicable
rules and regulations relevant to the
Gaming Business in South Korea which
may have an adverse impact on the
Group's operations.
AHEEEENBNNBERABRRBYER
BRRAERPIZREREAETZIE
FREE BEEXBETMNEE-
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Key Audit Matters (continued)

Key audit matter
BRESBE

Impairment of trade and gaming receivables

P& B 5 5008 ) 18 I WORROE 2 R E

Refer to Notes 3 and 20 to the consolidated financial statements.
BRI A T REM 3R 20 °

As at 31 December 2019, the carrying amounts of the Group's
receivables from trade and gaming customers amounted to HK$17
million and HK$5 million, respectively. The loss allowance of trade
and gaming receivables charged to the statement of profit or loss for
the year was HK$2 million and HK$155 million for, and the cumulative
loss allowance of trade and gaming receivables carried as at 31
December 2019 was HK$12 million and HK$346 million, respectively.
RIZE-NF+-A=+—H ESEEREFFENEUELE
P 30R 2 BREE 2 Bl 4 17,000,000 7 7T & 5,000,000 8 7T ° I F A B
RINPR 2 FE U 5 /IR K (8577 e MUK IR B 18 7848 0 51l 4% 2,000,000 78 7T
&% 155,000,000/87C * MAZF—AF+ A=+ HIEZBKES
KIE N B E W R R BB B 2 R A12,000,000% 7T &
346,000,000 % 7T, °

Trade receivables are generally due within 30 days of billing and
negotiated on case-by-case basis, the credit terms granted to certain
customers could be up to 3 months.

FEWE 5 38 — MR B R 1% 30 B MBI B IR ERIERER - MiX
TETHEPZEEHAEIM@A -

Gaming receivables are assessed on an individual player basis to
estimate the future cash flows that will be recovered. Management
considers all available information, both prior to and after the year
end in assessing the level of impairment provision. Management
evaluates the estimated loss allowance based on historical repayment
behaviour of debtors, ageing profile, player’'s background, specific
information on individual customers as well as experience with
collection trends in the casino industry, and current economic and
business conditions.

B RUKRATDRERNERERTGE  RMEFERSREZRER
E-EREECATEREREEEREEFEAMRIMAARE
e BEEENBEBRAZBEERTA KEARL BESS @
AEFPZHEEN  BMRUGNBE 2 KRBIANBITEBEREBMNR -
FHETRHIE B R -
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How our audit addressed the key
audit matter

EfzETNAUEEERETSR

Our procedures in relation to the impairment
of trade and gaming receivables included:
KMHEREZFHBERBEEVREZREZ
BFRaE:

— Understanding and evaluating the
Group's credit control procedures
regarding the credits granted to trade
and gaming customers;

TEEE EEEFMRTESNE
FERFPEEZEERITRERF

—  Performing testing on ageing report to
ascertain the accuracy of classification of
receivables by ages;

AR e 5 S TR SUA FEAR B IR BR
oM IFHEREE

—  Comparing track records of play and
settlement by each of the individual
players, on sample basis;
MELRBRENBEREZBY MEERE
FERCER

—  Performing inquiry with management on
the likelihood of recoverability of the
trade and gaming receivables;

S FE W B 5 SRR K 18R e UK IR AT W ]
Z I Re M B IR TR

Inspecting cash receipts from customers
after financial year end relating to trade
and gaming receivables balances as at
31 December 2019, on sample basis;
and

MERERNMBRFERBEFPKIERH
RIE-NF+A=+—HZEKE
ZHRBARBERYRIBEHRZRE R
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Key Audit Matters (continued)

Key audit matter
BRESBE

ToH S 2 it = 0 (4

How our audit addressed the key

audit matter

EfzETNAUEEERETSR

Loss allowances for trade and gaming receivables are based on
management's estimate of the lifetime expected credit losses to be
incurred, which is estimated by taking into account the credit loss
experience, ageing of overdue trade and gaming receivables,
customers’ repayment history and customers’ financial position and
an assessment of both the current and forecast general economic
conditions, all of which involve a significant degree of management
judgement. We identified assessing the recoverability of trade and
gaming receivables as a key audit matter because the assessment of
the recoverability of trade and gaming receivables and recognition of
loss allowance are inherently subjective and requires significant
management judgement, which increases the risk of error or potential
management bias.

EWE S FBAREERRFAZBERBENEEBHRELE 228
BHEEBBRZ A AEKE  ELACHREERERR Al
FEW B 55 IA R R RUGRIAZ Rk - BP & K BB BN
AR BRI EEEERR T 2SI RERREZE
I8 FE HI BT o BP9 W E 5 IR RIS R UK AT B2 E 2 FF
EER REARETFH - IR A RKE 5 FE KB B UG
A WEREENREREEREEANE LABEBRO LT EFY
EREEEHE Mg MERFBEERE R 2 AR -

Assessing the reasonableness of
management's loss allowance estimates
by examining the information used by
management to form such judgements,
including testing the accuracy of the
historical default data, evaluating
whether the historical loss rates are
appropriately adjusted based on current
economic conditions and forward-
looking information and examining the
actual losses recorded during the
current financial year and assessing
whether there was an indication of
management bias when recognising loss
allowances.
HMEEEBYERBRGMELARES
B - AR E TR R A AR A
REH  SERABEENEIR ZEE
1t AZBEBEEXEEREA AL
MR RBIEEEFHELEERE R
REBABREFEEHRG 2 ERER - AR
HERERERRBRESATRET
FEEREEERR
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Key Audit Matters (continued)

Key audit matter
HEETEE

Net realisable value of properties under development (“PUD")
and completed properties held for sale (“CPFS")
BRRPURX(ZRIURDRGECERYR(HFECERME])
ZUSRFE

Refer to Notes 3, 21 and 22 to the consolidated financial
statements.

FRHGGE M BFIREMES 21 K22 -

As at 31 December 2019, the carrying amounts of the Group's
properties under development and completed properties held for
sale amounted to HK$237 million and HK$983 million, respectively.
These balances were stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value.

RZZE-—NAF+A=+—H EEEZERDPVERGELEKY
% 2 BRHEE 5 5l /& 237,000,000 7% 7T K& 983,000,000 7T ° 7% & 4 ERIE
PR BRI R BREME P 2 BEE DR -

The calculation of the net realisable value of the PUD and CPFS as
at 31 December 2019 was performed by management.
EEER_ZE—NF+ A=+ BitEEETMERSGEEEXY
¥ 7 A E3ERE o

We focus on this area because the calculation of the net realisable
value of PUD and CPFS involves significant management
judgement and estimation in preparing the updated estimations of
the costs to complete each properties development as well as in
assessing the expected future net selling prices for each property
development with reference to recent sales transactions generated
internally or nearby locations, the estimated future selling costs
and relevant taxes.

BTN EE  REERFERRTYERSESERDMEZA
BRFEFNERNEREEHEG M ARETKZEYEERER
ZERHMEAMEG A RS ERMRAT T MHER S - AaTAREK
HEKARRBEHEMN ESBENEERER 2AMARKFER -
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How our audit addressed the key
audit matter

BRzETNNEERARETSE

Our procedures in relation to assess the
net realisable value of PUD and CPFS
included:
RARFERBRPUNRRGECERIREA
BRFEIEFEE

— Assessing the design, implementation

and operating effectiveness of key
internal controls over the preparation
and monitoring of management
budgets and forecasts of properties
development projects;

AR EREEERE R ERE
RIEBREBMG EERAMEE 2R
At BHERGEERR

— Conducting site visits to property

development sites, on a sample basis,
and discussing with management the
progress of property development
project and the development budgets
reflected in the latest forecasts for
property development project;
BB MERRBEMAEN - WEE
BEN®NFEEREEZCEREDMESR
RIEE &ITBRIFT R 2 BERIEE

—  Comparing the estimated construction

costs to CPFS with the Group’s latest
budgets and comparing the costs
incurred to 31 December 2019 with
budgets made at 31 December 2018 to
assess the accuracy of management'’s
forecasting and budgeting process; and
BEECEXNMEZHFTEERSE
B OEEESHAEETHR AR
RBEZE_T-NEF+_A=+—HBHE
ERABEE_T-NF+ZA=1+—
HATRETRE - e hEREERA &
REBE BT R

—  Comparing the subsequent net selling

prices to the cost of properties sold in
accordance with the Group's sales
budget plan.

BiE BEEECHERENS LEBHE
BRFEBEDEVMRER -
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Other Information included in the Annual Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance

conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of
the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial
reporting process.

TN A 2 3Lt Rt

ERREFAHEMERNAT - HWEHBR
FHRAMBER  BIEEEEMBHRRLR
Pz BB RS

B SMBRRCBRL TVREEMER
BATTAEZFEMEMNBREMEAZER

£ A
4w o

BRRMEEEUBRE 2ES  RAZEE
EREEMEN  ELEET  TEEMEN
ERESEAMBERRARMETSBERRAT
R BERGFEEAEABRUTFEEAHERRK
MZIER e ERERMERITZ T PR
REMERNFEERNFERRL - HAFTERS
ZFE - wiEhE e RULAEEARE -

AR B M B R AR Z HAT

BERAESAREARBEEBGTMASRM
FEMEREEAREBERB RGN Z KERE
BREEEMTEZHEAMBRE  XHERR
REFASMBHRRZBENFERR KNS
RMEB EAFERRAFIT L AREERS -

EREFAVBERRE S EAREFEREARN
i BEEERKELEZRS  YEFERBERT
BEERBECERMZFR  URERFEL
BEREER K ERRAEFEER
# BEREFRIFLLE  HFEELBER
BRAOE-

BERAESEERZBEMB TETEES =&
KB BHRERFZBE -
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as
a body, in accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act
1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

74 Landing International Development Limited % i} [ B 38 Je A7 fiL 23 ]
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other

matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant

audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control

that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have

complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence

and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters

that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and

where applicable, related safeguards.

e B B g 7wt A M B R R B W
{L (48)

e HERRAKELESTEMZINEEE
hER - RIBPIERERENRE  BESS
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R Mz EmEENZEERE A IEEX
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MAR  BREEE  UREEFBHREKE
B ERBRZZHMEIE -

e I EXEAERXEHEBIMBEM
EEGtE EEZETRE  UEHES
MHHRERBR - ZMEE EXERE
st2rim s BEMRT - RAIAEFER
EEREHEE -

BREEZZEQETARR  (HHhEHE)FE
BiHE KRRATHERBEAZTESR  BER
{PIFERR AT BRI N BB Ea R 2 (EART B AR

BATAEZZERRER  FARMEH
BRMBLMZABERERATE  TRES
BBRBAREAENER ST ERMBULIEL
FIBREMEMERAREERZERT - 18
ALy S HE it

Annual Report 2019 4£8¢ 75



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
P8 7 A% B

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of
the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Mr. Cheng Po Yuen.

Zenith CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Cheng Po Yuen

Practising Certificate Number: P04887
Hong Kong

27 April 2020
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

maRER

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HZE=Z

—“NEF-A=+—RLEE

2019 2018
—E-hF — N\
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt s TAER FAExT
REVENUE = 5 815,533 2,099,025
Cost of properties and inventories sold DHEDMERTFEERZ KA (109,597) (183,816)
Other income and gains/(losses), net iU A R Uzt (E18) » H58 6 4,816 (25,674)
Gaming duties and other related taxes B R AET R (38,161) (328,901)
Amortisation and depreciation i RITE (655,137) (550,848)
Employee benefit expenses EERFER (692,316) (863,281)
Other operating expenses Hih&iEE A (852,355) (928,292)
Finance (costs)/income, net 75 (B AS) /WA - E5E 8 (187,390) 19,863
Fair value (losses)/gains on investment HEMEZ N FEE(ER),
properties, net Was - 58 (241,016) 215,160
Impairment loss on trade and FEU B 5 5/ TE I H b e W 5k TE
other receivables, net WBEETE - 55 (181,383) (86,990)
LOSS BEFORE TAX BREIATE 18 7 (2,137,006) (633,754)
Income tax credit/(expenses) Bk e, (F%) 11 4,151 (67,773)
LOSS FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO R A REE AELFERE
OWNERS OF THE PARENT (2,132,855) (701,527)
LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO BRAREEARESRER
OWNERS OF THE PARENT 13
Basic HR HK(72.67) cents  HK(23.87) cents
AL il
Diluted e HK(72.67) cents  HK(23.87) cents
AL il
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
EEamB R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 E#Z T —NF+_A=+—HLLFE

2019 2018
—B-AFE ZEN\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
LOSSFORTHEYEAR ... ... . SE®B® (2132,855) _ _ (701,527)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS Htv2HEER
Other comprehensive (loss)/income that may be — A[ER A £ B E#T 7 M £ 162
reclassified to profit or loss in Zﬁ/ﬂ%@(@fa)/ﬂfﬂn :
subsequent periods:
Revaluation of property, plant and equipment  PAERE IR G ERS (LY
upon transfer to investment properties, net B K %A - R AR 3,496 1,029
Exchange differences on translation of foreign BEBINEG 2 BN ZR
operations (546,139) (455,569)
Net other comprehensive loss that may be ATRERNE R BRI BT S E B
reclassified to profit or loss in ZEf 2 EEEFE
subsequentperiods (542,643) (454,540)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income that will not  #F T EREE IR EH 7B E 180
be reclassified to profit or loss in Z B2 mE (EE) Was
subsequent periods:
Remeasurements of employee benefit obligations ¥t £ & B2 A& T 2,494 (1,389)
Equity investments designated at fair value EERBRAFEES AR MRS
through other comprehensive income: ZRRERE
Changes in fair value NEEEED (44,490) (238,679)
Net other comprehensive loss that will not be B raREeHiFERHBRE
reclassified to profit or loss in B H i 2 E1EF5E
subsequentperiods (f",‘l,’??é), (240,068)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR FEHMEEHERE - NRHEE
L THE YBAR NET OF 1A e (584,639) ___ (694.608)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FORTHE YEAR B AREEAEBEFEZHEBEARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE PARENT (2,717,494) (1,396,135)

78 Landing International Development Limited %5 & [ B % Jg A fiL 2 5]



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

i B IR DL A

As at 31 December 2019 R=FE—NLF+-_A=+—H

2019 2018
- —FN\F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt 5 FERT FAT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS EREEE
Property, plant and equipment YE BB NR 14 10,700,729 11,828,231
Investment properties REME 15 776,838 1,225,514
Right-of-use assets FREEE 16(a) 94,111 -
Goodwill kS 17 5,336 5,567
Intangible assets mILEE 18 870,842 908,148
Equity investments designated at fair value BEABEATEETA
through other comprehensive income Hih 2 mEEs 2 RS E 19 35,846 80,336
Prepayments, trade and other receivables TENFUE - [EWE FRIE R
H A e WK IR 20 113,773 510,778
Deferred tax assets EIERIIEE EE 29 - 38,577
Total non-current assets ERBEEAE 12,597,475 14,597,151
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Properties under development R E 21 236,781 248,105
Completed properties for sale FEDEKE 22 982,533 1,080,950
Inventories FE 23 76,435 92,044
Prepayments, trade and other receivables TARNFIE - EE ZTRIBR
H i e WK 0R 20 825,853 428,768
Financial assets at fair value through BRAFEEFABRZ
profit or loss & E 24 2,511 -
Tax recoverable AT [a] £ I8 219 125,542
Cash and cash equivalents HEeRBEEEEY 25 398,033 1,098,459
Total current assets mBEERE 2,522,365 3,073,868
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBEE
Trade and other payables eI E 5 5RIE R E MR FIR 26 510,418 971,027
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings SARBRITREMES 27 859,016 1,109,440
Lease liabilities HEAE 16(b), 28 38,777 =
Tax payable eI IE 7,719 9,064
Total current liabilities E B EARE 1,415,930 2,089,531
NETCURRENTASSETS _______ H*HBEE®E .~ 1,106,435 984,337
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES #EERABEE 13,703,910 15,581,488
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
BT B BIRDLAR

As at 31 December 2019 R —ZE— W F+_-_HA=+—H

2019 2018
—E-NEF —T—)N\F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
M =E FET FHET
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FREBEMF
Trade and other payables eS8 5 7R IE I HoAth A~ R IE 26 37,577 49,832
Interest-bearing bank and ARRITREMEE
other borrowings 27 1,707,895 843,941
Lease liabilities HEARE 16(b), 28 41,924 =
Deferred tax liabilities EEHIBEAE 29 31,747 85,454
Total non-current liabilities EREBERE 1,819,143 979,227
Net assets EERE 11,884,767 14,602,261
EQUITY =
Equity attributable to owners of BRAREA ARLER
the parent
Share capital %N 30 29,350 29,350
Reserves i 31 11,855,417 14,572,911
Total equity RS 11,884,767 14,602,261
Yang Zhihui Chan Mee Sze
nEs xR
Chairman and Executive Director Executive Director
ETEFHITESE HITESE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —F—"WE+-_A=+—HItFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

RARERAER
Share Other  Accumulated Total
capital reserves losses equity
BA& Hftfdte ZitER BER
(Note 30) (Note 31) (Note 31)
(MzE30) (MzE31) (Mf&E31)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEx TEx TARL TAx
. _________________________________________'_______________________________'__________ _______|]
At 1 January 2019 RZE-h%-A-H 29,350 17,293,262 (2,720,351) 14,602,261
Loss for the year FEEB - - (2132855)  (2132,855)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the year: EEEMPE (BE) /W
Transfer to accumulated losses BREZHEER - 472 (472) -
Remeasurement of employee benefit obligation ENtEREERAERR - 2,494 - 2,494
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations ~ #EEIEBEL 25 - (546,139) - (546,139)
Revaluation of property, plant and equipment REBEZRENERSHENE
upon transfer to investment properties, net LSRR - 3,496 - 3,496
Release of revaluation of investment properties upon RERENZ - KR REHEREE
transfer to property, plants and equipment REME &l - (8,915) 8,915 -
Changes in fair value of equity investments at fair value BATREGFALMZERE 2
through other comprehensive income RiEREZ AT RERD - (44,490) - (44,490)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FRrmERe® - (?93,982) o (2,]24,412) o (2,717,494) ]
At 31 December 2019 RZB-AE+=A=1-H 29,350 16,700,180* (4,844,763 11,884,767
At 1 January 2018 RZZ-NF-A-H 1,473,953 16,699,248 (2,018,824) 16,154,377
Loss for the year FEEB = = (701,527) (701,527)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the year: EEEMPE(BE) /W
Remeasurement of employee benefit obligation B2 EERNER - (1,389) - (1,389)
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations ~ HEBNEK 2 EH ZH - (455,569) - (455,569)
Revaluation of property, plant and equipment RBEZRENERSHENE -
upon transfer to investment properties, net BEN&E  FE - 1,029 = 1,029
Changes in fair value of equity investments at fair value BATEEFAAMEEKE L
through other comprehensive income RiERE 2 ATEES - (238,679) - (238,679)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FEEZABEAS - (694,608) (701,527) (1,396,139)
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners: WREAFDEBEAZR S :
Repurchase and cancellation of ordinary shares EERGHET AR (6,503) (149,478) = (155,981)
Consolidation of ordinary shares AHEER (1,438,100) 1,438,100 = =
(1,444,603) 1,288,622 - (155,981)
At 31 December 2018 RZE-NE+ZA=+-H 29,350 17,293,262* (2,720,351) 14,602,261

*

HERERBEESMBRAR 2GR FHE
11,855,417,0007% 7T ( = % — /4 : 14,572,911,000
BIT) °

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of  *
HK$11,855,417,000 (2018: HK$14,572,911,000) in the consolidated statement
of financial position.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
B ERRL

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #Z —F—"WE+-_A=+—HItFE

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B E FTHER THETT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES &£ > REHE
Loss before tax PR ATE R (2,137,006) (633,754)
Adjustments for: AR
Dividend income from equity investments BRATFEAEFT AEMEARE
at fair value through other comprehensive RS E 2B A
income 6 (699) (897)
Gain on disposals of subsidiaries BB A R 2 s 6 (114) (116)
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEME - BENMREEE
plant and equipment Z BB 6 107,808 13,758
Recover of land lease payment MR E LS
upon cancellation I8 6 (144,936) -
Disposal of right-of-use assets and lease REBR LSRR E
liabilities on early termination of land lease ZERAEEEIMEERR 6 30,253 =
Derecognition of interest accretion on early RREEORITEERA
redemption of bank borrowings R ZFBE K 6 18,926 =
Depreciation of property, plant and mE - BEEEEITE
equipment 7 604,286 550,632
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEZNE 7 50,580 -
Amortisation of intangible assets B EE 7 7 271 216
Impairment loss on trade receivables, net FEWE 5 RIERERE - FHE 7 1,859 10,552
Impairment loss on gaming receivables, net ¥ EWZIEREEE - JF5 7 155,023 76,438
Impairment loss on other receivables, net Hipe W sURERSE - F58 7 24,501 -
Impairment of items of property, M - BEKEEEE
plant and equipment ZRE 7 259,326 85,015
Provision for inventories GFEEE 7 4,905 =
Fair value losses/(gains) on investment WEWEZ AN FEE
properties, net BB (W)« F58 241,016 (215,160)
Fair value gains on financial assets at BATEEFABRZ
fair value through profit or loss M EE A FEAKE 7 (53) -
Finance costs B TSR AR 8 199,949 28,372
Finance income T PN 8 (12,559) (48,235)
(596,664) (133,179)
Increase in properties under development RN (288) (3,578)
Decrease in completed properties for sale FECERMERD 57,881 146,555
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FERD,/(3EM) 6,850 (8,571)
Increase in prepayments, trade and TBNFHIE - EREZHRIER
other receivables LA L R IE S A (313,078) (14,530)
(Decrease)/increase in trade and JEAHE 5 7008 I H th fB
other payables IR, HE N (413,491) 8,160
Cash used in operations KREZBHARS (1,258,790) (5,143)
Interest received 2 U A 2 34(a)(ii) 12,559 48,235
Interest paid EAFE (119,787) (35,264)
Interest element on lease liabilities HEBEERID (57,642) =
Income tax refunded EREIME 113,269 -
Income tax paid BETETER (2,594) (163,975)
Net cash flows used in operating activities REEBIAR S RE 55 (1,312,985) (156,147)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
EEBAemER
For the year ended 31 December 2019 B Z —Z—NF+ _A=+—HILFE

2019 2018
—E-hEF —ZE-)N\F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt aE FTHERT THETT
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES #&ZEB2REHE
Dividend received from equity investments B ERE 2 BB 699 897
Purchase of financial assets at fair value BERAFEBEFABRZ
through profit or loss BB EE (2,495) =
Purchases of items of property, plant and BEWE  BWENKXEES
equipment (205,501) (2,783,845)
Additions of investment properties NBIREYE (699) =
Proceeds from disposal of items of HEYE BEIEREEEB
property, plant and equipment FR{S 38 11,930 2,586
Proceeds from disposal of investment properties & & & ¥ % 115 7UE 61,000 -
Additions of intangible assets RNEEFEE 18 (613) (71,549)
Acquisition of assets and liabilities WHEEEREE 32 - (188,397)
Proceeds from disposals of subsidiaries &M B A R FTS IR 33 216 1,226
Proceeds from recover of prepaid land lease  pAESEREUREI T FH &
upon cancellation BRI RIBATERIE 171,640 =
Loans advanced to third parties ME=FRNER - (1,910,000)
Repayment of loans advanced to third parties =7 BB BN ER - 1,910,000
Net cash flows from/(used in) BEESME(FTA)
investing activities Rens F8 36,177 (3,039,082)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES B&ZB 2R &7 R
Repurchase of ordinary shares B O] AR 30 - (155,981)
New bank and other borrowings ERTREMEER 3,053,010 2,610,834
Repayment of bank and other borrowings EERTREMEER (2,409,337) (2,569,826)
Principal portion of lease payments HENHRAEE S 34(c) (17,686) -
Net cash flows from/(used in) BMEEEE(FTAR)
financing activities Rens T 625,987 (114,973)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND RERBAESENRD FE
CASH EQUIVALENTS (650,821) (3,310,202)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of FHzHeREEEEY
the year 1,098,459 4,338,022
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net ~ JMNEEREF) 7 &  FH (49,605) 70,639
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRZBERBASEEY
AT END OF THE YEAR 398,033 1,098,459
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH BRERBITEHRZDHT
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances e RIRITREER 25 362,881 1,076,391
Non-pledged time deposits with BERREINHAIN=@EA
original maturity of less than ZEEWERER
three months when acquired 25 35,152 22,068
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in PHARRRIRZIRE
the statement of financial position MIRE&EEY 398,033 1,098,459
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ok o B 5 A M

84

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda and its shares are
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the "Stock Exchange”). The address of registered
office of the Company is located at Clarendon House, 2 Church
Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda, and the principal place of
business of the Company is located at Suites 5801-04, 58th
Floor, Two International Finance Centre, 8 Finance Street,
Central, Hong Kong. Subsequent to the year ended 31
December 2019, the Group has relocated its principal place of
business to Suites 5815-16, 58th Floor, Two International
Finance Centre, 8 Finance Street, Central, Hong Kong

During the year, the Group is principally engaged in
development and operation of the integrated leisure and
entertainment resort (the “Integrated Resort Development”);
gaming and entertainment facilities (the “Gaming Business”);
and property development (the “Property Development”).

In the opinion of the directors, the immediate and ultimate
holding company of the Company is Landing International
Limited, which is incorporated in the British Virgin Islands.

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as
follows:

Place of incorporation/ Issued ordinary/

registration and registered
Name business share capital
AL/ E R BRITEER/
&R BEXRHY R A

27 B 4 T R

RRRARFSHE MK RN BERE
GEBRAR  ERMDREBHERS
FIERAR ([BRA))EREM - NAH
Z 5kt #¥ S & sk A& Clarendon House, 2
Church Street, Hamilton HM 11,
Bermuda ' MAAA A2 F B&EEHEA R
BEFIRSEARBERE S FH 0 ZHI58
E5801-04ZE - REE-_ZT—NLF+=A
=t HIEFER  AEBZFELEEM
BREBEERSTIRSMEFSHEE P
» —HA 5812 5815-16 = °

FR AREEXENEERIGLHZEIK
BRREZRN((FEEBRNRR]) &
¥ RRgERE ([ EREE])  RYEERR
(MMmxBR]) -

EERB ARRZERRRRERRTR
RNRBELESEMKL 2 ERERE
IRAE]

FRMBARZER
ARBEEMBARZFHBWT ¢

Bright House Company Limited Macau Macau Pataca
25000
BEERAA 2 250008

United States dollars
("US$") 76,470,000
764700005 T
(E3A)]

Callisto Business Limited British Virgin Islands

RBRIES

Callisto Business Limited

Landing International Development Limited %5 [ B4 e 47 PR A\

Percentage of
equity attributable
to the Company Principal activities
ADAREREAD L B3
Direct Indirect
E& 3
- 100%  Investment holding
REZR
100% - Investment holding
RELER



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i A A AR Mk

1 CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1
(continued)

] B SR R B (4])

FENE LR &R (&)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Place of incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
registration and registered equity attributable
Name business share capital to the Company Principal activities
AL/ R BRAEER/
£B Rexuy A AAAREREADL IERH
Direct Indirect
E# 3
Chi Shun Investment (Yangzhou) Company - The People's Republic of China Renminbi ("RMB") - 100%  Investment holding
Limited* (“Chi Shun") ("PRC") 400,000,000
(Note i) (Note ii) (Note iii)
BEREGMERLA(8BE])  ®EARANE(TE) ARE(TARM]) RAER
G EDIGEDIGE) 400,000,000

Datsun Industrial Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100%  Asset holding

KEEXARAA Bt 10,0007 BENE

Golden House Ventures Limited British Virgin Islands Us$2 - 100%  Marketing

Golden House Ventures Limited EBRRHS 2ET B

Happy Bay Pte. Ltd. Singapore Singapore Dollar - 100%  Investment holding

("SGD")97 472,000
Happy Bay Pte. Ltd. G 97,472,000 RERR
s ((Hmgl)
Landing Entertainment Korea Co,, Ltd.  South Korea Korean Won - 100%  Gaming business
("KRW")27,176,895,000
Landing Entertainment Korea Co., Ltd. % 21,176,895,000% BY A%
([&R))
Landing Estate Management Services  South Korea KRW100,000,000 - 100%  Residential management
Co., Ltd.
Landing Estate Management Services i3 100,000,000 8 FEER
Co., Ltd.

Landing Jeju Development Co,, Ltd. South Korea KRW465,000,000,000 50% 50%  Development, management,
operation and rental of
facilities for tourism,
commerce, accommodation
and recreation

ERENRRRA e I 465,000,000,000 % & ¥R EE BER
HERE AEx-

[ RIRER

Landing Korea Co., Ltd. South Korea KRW?20,567,240,000 - 100%  Establishment of training
center

Landing Korea Co., Ltd. mi# 20,567,240,000 & 8 e T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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S 5 e i

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

1

O] B SR R B (4])

FEME AR &R (&)

Place of incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
registration and registered equity attributable
Name business share capital to the Company Principal activities
HRAL/ ERR BRAEER/
£R RexHA AfRE AATREREADY IERH
Direct Indirect
E# 3
Landing Management Company Hong Kong HK$100 100% - Management office
Limited
EREERRAT Bt 1007 (3320
Landing Resorts Management Hong Kong HK$100 100% - Management office
Company Limited
ERREERERATA Bt 1007 EBHER
Landing Resorts Philippines Republic of the Philippines Philippine Pesos - 100%  Management office
Development Corporation ("PHP")10,300,000
Landing Resorts Philippines FREANE 10,300,000 ERIFER
Development Corporation FRERZ
([FeEHzR])
Leader Rainbow Limited Hong Kong HKS1 100% - Securities Investment
BIARAT] Bt 127 i
Rainbow Source Developments British Virgin Islands US$100 100% - Asset holding
Limited
TRERARAR LBRLEE 100%7 BENE
Royal Dragon Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100%  Property holding
Royal Dragon Limited BB VBT VESEE]
Shinhwa World China Co., Ltd. PRC 1S§59,860,000 - 100%  Sales and marketing
(“Shinhwa China")* (Note i) (Note iv) services
BRI S EW(LE)ARAR hE 59,860,000% 7T HEREHRY
(TR 1) (R ) (W)
Win Rich Group Limited British Virgin Islands US$50,000 100% - Asset holding
BESEARAT RERLHE 500007 BERA
Yao Zhan Trading Limited British Virgin Islands Us$t 100% - Property holding
REZHBRAT RERARE E3 MERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i A A AR Mk

1 CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1 AR EEEER (4)
(continued)
Information about subsidiaries (continued) BB ARZER (&)
* The English name of the company referred to in these consolidated @ BRI EAM R AT - ZEREMIEHRE
financial statements represent management’s best effort to translate Froliizz Al 2 EXZRBIIEEBREKAN
the Chinese name of the company, as no English name has been BHEZARIR LB RBIEL 2 B -
registered.
Note i:  These entities are registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprises i : WEBEREPBRAGEMAIINEEE
under PRC law. o

Note ii:  This entity was incorporated during the year. MisEii 0 WEEREANEMEKL -

Note iii: The registered capital of Chi Shun amounted to RMB400,000,000, FzEiii : %515 B9 E it & & A& A R # 400,000,000
of which RMB385,020,000 was paid up as at 31 December 2019. T ERAR —_ZE-hAF+_A=+—H
The Group had the remaining unpaid capital contribution of B & I A K 385,020,000 c K=&
RMB 14,980,000 as at 31 December 2019. —hWE+-A=+—H "&EBHEBX

XS R AR 14,980,000 7T °

Note iv: The registered capital of Shinhwa China amounted to MiEiv: BRAFEME A A59,860,0005% 5t @ H
US$59,860,000, of which US$57,844,955 was paid up as at 31 AR -ZE—-hE+-_A=+—HBE B}k
December 2019. The Group had the remaining unpaid capital 57,844,955k T R=—ZT—h&FE+=A8
contribution of US$2,015,045 as at 31 December 2019. =t+t—H ' AEEEHBARAINTERE

2,015,0453& 7T °

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in FRINHEBEERATEZEAREBFRNE
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for BRERAEBFEEENT D 2R AF
the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the WBAR - EERAREEMMBARZ
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the HEELRBEBBNILE

opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.
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NOTESTO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

22 /N
A

2.1

88

B 285 e Fi

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs")
(which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards,
Hong Kong Accounting Standards ("HKASs”) and
Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants ("HKICPA"), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, except for investment
properties, equity investments designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income and financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss which have been measured at fair value.
These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand (HK$'000)
except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December
2019. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is
achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e.,
existing rights that give the Group the current ability to direct
the relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether it has power over an investee, including:

(a)

the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders
of the investee;

(b)

rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
() the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the
same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue
to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Landing International Development Limited % i} [ B 38 Je A7 fiL 23 ]

2.1

B P e

ZUBHRROBREBESTMAS([FE
BERAAE ) AH 2B BN BHRELER
((BRMBHREREN ) (BEAEEEY
BamEE  FEEHE((BBEFE
AN kEE) BAEAREGTRAUREL
REMEHI 2 WERERE - RIREYE
BERNFEE ARLMEE K2 RE
REREAFEEFABSZIMBEER
REBEFEIN  ZFMBERRIBEE
SERRABHIRE - ZEMHERERAETE
5 BRRBEAEN  MAEBESNEL
AEREATRE(TET)

mEREEE

RAEMBHRREBEARALENBE AR (S
BAE@BNDEZ_Z-—NLF+ZA
=t BLEFEZMBHRER -HEBARG
ARBEEKFEEREN CER(BEERE
HEE) EAKEN2EREHREE
AESARESZEDRMELSREHR
TEEND(ASEERTREEINE
EREHRBRERD BN R EZX
F O ¥REF - BUES I HIHE -

ERNRFEERIERBRRLIRNREHARK
ZHRORESIALUENE - NREERFFE
HREAHAUREHR ZEIREER—
IHEEERBER - 8%

REUZHEMBREFTBEAZALN
2
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NOTESTO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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B 285 e Fi

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group
and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-
group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash
flows relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control described above. A
change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss
of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary, (ii)
the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii) the
cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (i) the
fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any resulting
surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group's share of
components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or accumulated losses, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

2.1 #HmEEE (4)

REREEE(H)

Tgﬁnﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬁuﬁz“x1 D BREBNAS

NAER ANMIEER e - B8
%ﬁ@ﬁ Pt s IR AL AEBRIRAA o B
SERERRMETRZERZMBEER
W’Aﬂfﬂ’é%&%% CREE A X

WEEERIBRETTE
AR —IE B A | 3R E W$%@@§ﬁ
%1&%%75 THIREE R o R —EHB

A ) 2 W 7S He e i S B I 458 B FE KA
7 RIBIBRAERR S o

AR S B e L — B A
AIE&RIFREROMB AR EE (BIEM
B)RAGE () ERIEERER 2 BREE

K (i e A MEam 2 RETHE A% - WHERR ()

FrER R B 2 A TEE : (i) FTREB MR
B2 NFEEE: Ki)iEas R T E itk E
7 BERSUES AL o WASEE B S8
BEEKAE  LATREAM 2K EER
ZARSEREEHOEEN S ERERHR
FHES1E (RE ) ©

= EfEFETE

A I
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NOTESTO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

90

The Group has adopted the following new and revised HKFRSs
for the first time for the current year's financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 9
HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 19
Amendments to HKAS 28
HK(IFRIC)-Int 23

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle

Prepayment Features with
Negative Compensation
Leases

Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
Settlement

Long-term Interests in Associates
and Joint Ventures

Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments

Amendments to HKFRS 3,
HKFRS 11, HKAS 12 and
HKAS 23

Other than as explained below, the adoption of the above new
and revised standards has had no significant financial impact on
these financial statements.

(a)

HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17 Leases, HK(IFRIC)-Int 4
Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease,
HK(SIC)-Int 15 Operating Leases — Incentives and
HK(SIC)-Int 27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions
Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. The standard sets out
the principles for the recognition, measurement,
presentation and disclosure of leases and requires lessees
to account for all leases under a single on-balance sheet
model to recognise and measure right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities, except for certain recognition exemptions.
Lessor accounting under HKFRS 16 is substantially
unchanged from HKAS 17. Lessors continue to classify
leases as either operating or finance leases using similar
principles as in HKAS 17.

The Group has adopted HKFRS 16 using the modified
retrospective method with the date of initial application of
1 January 2019. Under this method, the standard has been
applied retrospectively with the cumulative effect of initial
adoption recognised as an adjustment to the opening
balance of accumulated losses at 1 January 2019, and the
comparative information for 2018 was not restated and
continued to be reported under HKAS 17 and related
interpretations.

Landing International Development Limited %5 [ B4 e 47 PR A\
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

B 285 e Fi

DISCLOSURES (continued)

(@  (continued)

New definition of a lease

Under HKFRS 16, a contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys a right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.
Control is conveyed where the customer has both the
right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits
from use of the identified asset and the right to direct the
use of the identified asset. The Group elected to use the
transition practical expedient allowing the standard to be
applied only to contracts that were previously identified as
leases applying HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 at the date
of initial application. Contracts that were not identified as
leases under HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 were not
reassessed. Therefore, the definition of a lease under
HKFRS 16 has been applied only to contracts entered into
or changed on or after 1 January 2019.

As a lessee — Leases previously classified as

operating leases

Nature of the effect of adoption of HKFRS 16

The Group has lease contracts for various items of
leasehold land, buildings and facilities. As a lessee, the
Group previously classified leases as either finance leases
or operating leases based on the assessment of whether
the lease transferred substantially all the rewards and risks
of ownership of assets to the Group. Under HKFRS 16, the
Group applies a single approach to recognise and
measure right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for all
leases, except for two elective exemptions for leases of
low-value assets (elected on a lease-by-lease basis) and
leases with a lease term of 12 months or less (“short-term
leases”) (elected by class of underlying asset). Instead of
recognising rental expenses under operating leases on a
straight-line basis over the lease term commencing from 1
January 2019, the Group recognises depreciation (and
impairment, if any) of the right-of-use assets and interest
accrued on the outstanding lease liabilities (as finance

costs).
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(a)

(continued)

As a lessee — Leases previously classified as
operating leases (continued)

Impact on transition

Lease liabilities at 1 January 2019 were recognised based
on the present value of the remaining lease payments,
discounted using the incremental borrowing rate at 1
January 2019 and included in the statement of financial
position. The right-of-use assets were measured at the
amount of the lease liability, adjusted by the amount of
any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to the
lease recognised in the statement of financial position
immediately before 1 January 2019.

All these assets were assessed for any impairment based
on HKAS 36 on that date. The Group elected to present
the right-of-use assets separately in the statement of
financial position.

For the freehold land and buildings (that were held to
earn rental income) previously included in investment
properties and measured at fair value, the Group has
continued to include them as investment properties at 1
January 2019. They continue to be measured at fair value
applying HKAS 40.

The Group has used the following elective practical
expedient when applying HKFRS 16 at 1 January 2019:

J Applying the short-term lease exemptions to leases
with a lease term that ends within 12 months from
the date of initial application

o Using hindsight in determining the lease term where
the contract contains options to extend/terminate
the lease

. Applying a single discount rate to a portfolio of
leases with reasonably similar characteristics when
measuring the lease liabilities at 1 January 2019
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i A A AR Mk

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(a)

(continued)

As a lessee — Leases previously classified as
operating leases (continued)

o Excluding initial direct costs from the measurement
of the right-of-use assets at the date of initial
application

Financial impact at 1 January 2019

2.2 &t BUR Kk R 52 B (4])

(a)

(&)

EREABA —BESERKEE
HEZHEE (&)

REXERBMGEEREE
EE IR MR 1) 20 B R AR AR

REZZB-NF-A-B2HBX

The impact arising from the adoption of HKFRS 16 at RZE—-—NF—RA—BHEMNEEH
1 January 2019 was as follows: BRELRNE16REEZFENT ¢
Increase/
(decrease)
#imn, (R
HK$'000
FHET
Assets BE
Increase in right-of-use assets {5 AREE EE N 733,210
Decrease in prepayments, trade and TRRTRIE - EIE 55018 R H R
other receivables FIRR (128,217)
Increase in total assets EEAEE N 604,993
Liabilities =R
Increase in lease liabilities HEEFEHEN 604,993
Increase in total liabilities B EAREE I 604,993
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 2.2 GEHBUR Kb #E B (4)
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(@) (continued) @@ (&)
Financial impact at 1 January 2019 (continued) R-E—NhF—HA—Bz2B%
& (%)
The lease liabilities as at 1 January 2019 reconciled to the RZZE-NF-—HA—BWNHEEAR
operating leases commitments as at 31 December 2018 is ER - N\F+_A=1+—8f
as follows: LETHEREZHERNT
HK$'000
THET
Operating lease commitments as at R=ZB-N\E+=ZA=+—HH
31 December 2018 REHERE 2,994,369
Less: Adjustments after taking into account B BN _ZE—N\F+_A=+—H
the extension options recognised as at RN ER R IEENAE
31 December 2018 (719,749)
Less: Commitments relating to short-term leases  J& : £252 HATA & & FIscFHEAE =
and those leases with a remaining lease term —F—-NEF+=-_A=+—H
ended on or before 31 December 2019 s BT LEREE LA K&
and low-value assets REEEERBRRAE (3,461)
Undiscounted future lease payments within BB REERE 16REBE L
the scope of HKFRS 16 REGIRARREE R 2,271,159
Less: Discount factor for the present value of B RREENFIR BRI A
the future lease payment (1,666,166)
Lease liabilities as at 1 January 2019 R-B-hE—HA—HWHEERE 604,993
The weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied ERAR-_Z—-—hF—HA—-—BHNHEE
to the lease liabilities as at 1 January 2019 was 12.26%. BENMEFEEGRMNES
12.26% °

94 Landing International Development Limited B R R A R A



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i A A AR Mk

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(b)

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 addresses the accounting for income
taxes (current and deferred) when tax treatments involve
uncertainty that affects the application of HKAS 12 (often
referred to as "uncertain tax positions”). The
interpretation does not apply to taxes or levies outside
the scope of HKAS 12, nor does it specifically include
requirements relating to interest and penalties associated
with uncertain tax treatments. The interpretation
specifically addresses (i) whether an entity considers
uncertain tax treatments separately; (i) the assumptions
an entity makes about the examination of tax treatments
by taxation authorities; (iii) how an entity determines
taxable profits or tax losses, tax bases, unused tax losses,
unused tax credits and tax rates; and (iv) how an entity
considers changes in facts and circumstances. The
interpretation did not have any impact on the financial
position or performance of the Group.

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in
these financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 9,

Definition of a Business'

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform’

HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28 (2011)

HKFRS 17
Amendments to HKAS 1

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture?
Insurance Contracts®
Definition of Material'

and HKAS 8

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021

No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG 2.3 CAEAMAE M AR ARz B R

96

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to
be applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 clarify and provide additional
guidance on the definition of a business. The amendments
clarify that for an integrated set of activities and assets to be
considered a business, it must include, at a minimum, an input
and a substantive process that together significantly contribute
to the ability to create output. A business can exist without
including all of the inputs and processes needed to create
outputs. The amendments remove the assessment of whether
market participants are capable of acquiring the business and
continue to produce outputs. Instead, the focus is on whether
acquired inputs and acquired substantive processes together
significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs. The
amendments have also narrowed the definition of outputs to
focus on goods or services provided to customers, investment
income or other income from ordinary activities. Furthermore,
the amendments provide guidance to assess whether an
acquired process is substantive and introduce an optional fair
value concentration test to permit a simplified assessment of
whether an acquired set of activities and assets is not a
business. The Group expects to adopt the amendments
prospectively from 1 January 2020. Since the amendments apply
prospectively to transactions or other events that occur on or
after the date of first application, the Group will not be affected
by these amendments on the date of transition.

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7 address the
effects of interbank offered rate reform on financial reporting.
The amendments provide temporary reliefs which enable hedge
accounting to continue during the period of uncertainty before
the replacement of an existing interest rate benchmark. In
addition, the amendments require companies to provide
additional information to investors about their hedging
relationships which are directly affected by these uncertainties.
The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2020. Early application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact
on the Group's financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i A A AR Mk

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG 2.3 CLAE i 15 W R A B 2 7 o U B
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS R (4)
(continued)
Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 provide a new definition BRI ENFE IR RS ST ERES
of material. The new definition states that information is material B BEI AR ABERNIRETITEE c TEEE]
if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be BH - Wk SRR ER e BRI S
expected to influence decisions that the primary users of BT ERAMBEHRRCETEFRER
general purpose financial statements make on the basis of REZETERRIET AT  AIEHEER B
those financial statements. The amendments clarify that BR - ZEFEFRE  EEHEURRER
materiality will depend on the nature or magnitude of M EKERERE o Mk Rl 2 K A]
information. A misstatement of information is material if it could AIEEHTETBEFEREEL AT QA
reasonably be expected to influence decisions made by the FAENBEAKN AEBFREE T _TF
primary users. The Group expects to adopt the amendments — A — BRBIRAIEEERNZEEBE] - 78
prospectively from 1 January 2020. The amendments are not HZE BRI T2 HAER 2 B SRR IERK
expected to have any significant impact on the Group's financial ERIEAFE -
statements.

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FEREHNBORBIE

POLICIES
Business combinations and goodwiill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition
date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. For each business combination, the
Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests
in the acquiree that are present ownership interests and entitle
their holders to a proportionate share of net assets in the event
of liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate share of the
acquiree's identifiable net assets. All other components of non-
controlling interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-
related costs are expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition
date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in
host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair
value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or
loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured at fair
value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the
Group's previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the
identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the
sum of this consideration and other items is lower than the fair
value of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after
reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain
purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
The Group performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at
31 December. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating units, or
groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether
other assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those
units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to
which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less
than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a
subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or
group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within
that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal.
Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured based
on the relative value of the operation disposed of and the
portion of the cash-generating unit retained.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i A A AR Mk

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FEGEHEORBEE (4)

POLICIES (continued)
Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties and equity
investments at fair value at the end of each reporting period.
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The fair value
measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction
to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the
principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a
principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset
or liability. The principal or the most advantageous market must
be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a
liability is measured using the assumptions that market
participants would use when pricing the asset or liability,
assuming that market participants act in their economic best
interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a

whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level2 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable, either directly
or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the

lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the
end of each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, completed properties held for sale, properties
under development, financial assets, deferred tax assets and
investment properties), the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the
asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value
less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset,
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in
which case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of
an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to the
statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises in
those expense categories consistent with the function of the
impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as
to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that
asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount
that would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is
credited to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which
it arises, unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in
which case the reversal of the impairment loss is accounted for
in accordance with the relevant accounting policy for that
revalued asset.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person

() has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Related parties (continued)

(b)  the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

(i)  one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

(iii)  the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services
to the Group or to the parent of the Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property, plant
and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bring the asset to its working condition and
location for its intended use.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to the statement of profit or
loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as a
replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and
equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group
recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful
lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Changes in the values of property, plant and equipment are
dealt with as movements in the asset revaluation reserve. If the
total of this reserve is insufficient to cover a deficit, on an
individual asset basis, the excess of the deficit is charged to the
statement of profit or loss. Any subsequent revaluation surplus
is credited to the statement of profit or loss to the extent of the
deficit previously charged. On disposal of a revalued asset, the
relevant portion of the asset revaluation reserve realised in
respect of previous valuations is transferred to accumulated
losses as a movement in reserves.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off
the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its
residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual
rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Freehold land outside Hong Kong Not depreciated

Buildings Over the shorter of
the lease terms or
50 years

Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of
the lease terms or
4.5% to 20%

Furniture, fixtures and 18% to 20%
office equipment

Motor vehicles 10% to 25%

Aircraft 5%

Gaming equipment and accessories  20%

Structure and other facilities 2% to 33%
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at
each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the
year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the net
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents buildings and assets under
construction, which is stated at cost less any impairment losses,
and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs of
construction and capitalised borrowing costs on related
borrowed funds during the period of construction. Construction
in progress is reclassified to the appropriate category of
property, plant and equipment when completed and ready for
use.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings held to
earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation, rather than
for use in the production or supply of goods or services or for
administrative purposes; or for sale in the ordinary course of
business. Such properties are measured initially at cost,
including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are stated at fair value, which reflects
market conditions at the end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of
investment properties are included in the statement of profit or
loss in the year in which they arise.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investment properties (continued)

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in the statement of profit or
loss in the year of the retirement or disposal.

For a transfer from investment properties to owner-occupied
properties, the deemed cost of a property for subsequent
accounting is its fair value at the date of change in use. If a
property occupied by the Group as an owner-occupied property
becomes an investment property, the Group accounts for such
property in accordance with the policy stated under “Property,
plant and equipment and depreciation” for owned property up
to the date of change in use, and any difference at that date
between the carrying amount and the fair value of the property
is accounted for as a revaluation in accordance with the policy
stated under “Property, plant and equipment and depreciation”
above.

Properties under development and completed
properties held for sale

Properties under development and held for sale are stated at
the lower of cost and net realisable value. Development cost of
properties comprises cost of land use rights, construction costs
and borrowing costs incurred during the construction period.
Upon completion, the properties are transferred to completed
properties held for sale.

Net realisable value takes into account the price ultimately
expected to be realised, less applicable variable selling
expenses and the anticipated costs to completion.

Properties under development and held for sale are classified
as current assets unless the construction period of the relevant
property development project is expected to complete beyond
normal operating cycle.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a
business combination is the fair value at the date of acquisition.
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either
finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are
subsequently amortised over the useful economic life and
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that
the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period
and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite
useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for
impairment annually either individually or at the cash-
generating unit level. Such intangible assets are not amortised.
The useful life of an intangible asset with an indefinite life is
reviewed annually to determine whether the indefinite life
assessment continues to be supportable. If not, the change in
the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted
for on a prospective basis.

Gaming licenses

Gaming licenses acquired in business combinations are
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Gaming licenses
have indefinite useful lives and are carried at cost less any
impairment losses.

Trademarks and patents

Trademarks and patents acquired in a business combination are
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Trademarks and
patents have finite useful lives and are carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses.
Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method to
allocate the cost of trademarks and patents over their estimated
useful lives of 7 to 10 years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leases (applicable from 1 January 2019)

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is,

or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the

contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified

asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement

approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases

of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to

make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the

right to use the underlying assets.

(a)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at
cost, less any accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement
of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes
the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct
costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated
useful lives of the assets as follows:

Leasehold land
Buildings

Over the lease terms
Over the lease terms

Facilities Over the lease terms

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

108

Leases (applicable from 1 January 2019) (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(b)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease payments
to be made over the lease term. The lease payments
include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable
lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and
amounts expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise
price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be
exercised by the Group and payments of penalties for
termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group
exercising the option to terminate. The variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are
recognised as an expense in the period in which the event
or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in
the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced
for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a change in
lease payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments
resulting from a change in an index or rate) or a change in
assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leases (applicable from 1 January 2019) (continued)

(c)  Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of machinery, motor
vehicle and office equipment (that is those leases that
have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option). It also applies the recognition exemption for
leases of low-value assets to leases of office equipment
that are considered to be of low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception
(or when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as
either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are
classified as operating leases. When a contract contains lease
and non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each component on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted for
on a straight-line basis over the lease terms and is included in
revenue in the statement of profit or loss due to its operating
nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same
basis as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as
revenue in the period in which they are earned.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leases (applicable before 1 January 2019)

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership
of assets remain with the lessor are accounted for as operating
leases. Where the Group is the lessor, assets leased by the
Group under operating leases are included in non-current
assets, and rentals receivable under the operating leases are
credited to the statement of profit or loss on the straight-line
basis over the lease terms. Where the Group is the lessee,
rentals payable under operating leases net of any incentives
received from the lessor are charged to the statement of profit
or loss on the straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through
other comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or
loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset's contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group's business model for managing
them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting the
effect of a significant financing component, the Group initially
measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus in the case of a
financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction
costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or for which the Group has applied the
practical expedient are measured at the transaction price
determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set
out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are
not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through profit
or loss, irrespective of the business model.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4 FEGFIBORMEE (4)

POLICIES (continued)
Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

The Group's business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate
cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows
will result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the
financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified and
measured at amortised cost are held within a business model
with the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified and
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income
are held within a business model with the objective of both
holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial
assets which are not held within the aforementioned business
models are classified and measured at fair value through profit

or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in the statement
of profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or
impaired.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify
irrevocably its equity investments as equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income
when they meet the definition of equity under HKAS 32
Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not held for trading.
The classification is determined on an instrument-by-instrument
basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to
the statement of profit or loss. Dividends are recognised as
other income in the statement of profit or loss when the right of
payment has been established, it is probable that the economic
benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the Group and
the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably, except
when the Group benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of
part of the cost of the financial asset, in which case, such gains
are recorded in other comprehensive income. Equity
investments designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income are not subject to impairment
assessment.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in
the statement of financial position at fair value with net changes
in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity
investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected to
classify at fair value through other comprehensive income.
Dividends on equity investments classified as financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss are also recognised as other
income in the statement of profit or loss when the right of
payment has been established, it is probable that the economic
benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the Group and
the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset
or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group's consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or
o the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows

from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either (a)
the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk and
rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the Group
continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the
Group's continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also
recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the
rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
("ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and
all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of
collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to
the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that
result from default events that are possible within the next 12
months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which
there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective
of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit
risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since
initial recognition. When making the assessment, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort,
including historical and forward-looking information.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain
cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in
default when internal or external information indicates that the
Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual
amounts in full before taking into account any credit
enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is written off
when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the
contractual cash flows.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
General approach (continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment
under the general approach and they are classified within the
following stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade and
gaming receivables which apply the simplified approach as
detailed below.

Stage 1 Financial instruments for which credit risk has
not increased significantly since initial
recognition and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to 12-month
ECLs

Stage 2 Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition
but that are not credit-impaired financial assets
and for which the loss allowance is measured at
an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the
loss allowance is measured at an amount equal

to lifetime ECLs
Simplified approach

For trade receivables and gaming receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or when the Group
applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a
significant financing component, the Group applies the
simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified
approach, the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but
instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at
each reporting date. The Group has established a provision
matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and
the economic environment.

For trade and gaming receivables that contain a significant
financing component, the Group chooses as its accounting
policy to adopt the general approach in calculating ECLs with
policies as described above.

2.4 FEEGFHEORMEE (4)

B EERE ()
— R % ()

B TS R PR R 2 FE M 53
R B MRS - RS2
RIS A IR — A T UR(E » T
BEEL TR S RS -

F-RER — EERRBMFHERUK
WEBER ML EZ
EBERREESBEESEN =
(EPSRER A=Y TR Pl

TA

EERRBNFERIAS
REEEINEYIEBEE
BB B EERE &
ZERBESEASTNE
HEHEEERZMHET
A

o=

£ _RER

K& HHEBEERE
(BYXFEBEXRBE
ERE) KAt EZEBE
RETRASEREHES
EEBRZUMTEE

E=FEER

Bt %

RTESERRENRD 2 RKE S HIAR
BEREGRL MAREEEATHEKR
BMEMDAELEZEFLABZAITEE
TEME - ARBEERGET AT ERE
FEEER - RE[MI(CTE  AEELEE
BEERRED  RMNES®RE D HRE
EHEREESEEERBREES - ~5E
ERBEABEEEBRLRELEERE
b - WIRIERS A ZF E AR 1M A = R K
RBEHAE -

REBEEABER D REEZFKENE
FREFEMS @ AEEEERA—RT
EERESETBER - AR FIBURETETE
HEEEE -

Annual Report 2019 4£8¢ 115



NOTESTO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

22 /N
A

24

116

B 285 e Fi

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as loans
and borrowings or payables as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in
the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade and other
payables, lease liabilities, and interest-bearing bank and other

borrowings.
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.
Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or
loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount
or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included in finance costs in the statement of
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i A A AR Mk

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4 FEGFIBORMEE (4)

POLICIES (continued)
Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from
the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of
an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange
or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original
liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference
between the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if there
is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the weighted average method.
Net realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less
any estimated costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject to
an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short
maturity of generally within three months when acquired, less
bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group's cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to
cash, which are not restricted as to use.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of the
reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be
required to settle the obligation. The increase in the discounted
present value amount arising from the passage of time is
included in the statement of profit or loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, when the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4 FEGFIBORMEE (4)

POLICIES (continued)
Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss;
and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the
end of each reporting period and are recognised to the extent
that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and
only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax
assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied
by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity
or different taxable entities which intend either to settle current
tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets
and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in
which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Gaming duties and other related taxes

According to the respective local legislation by the Government
of South Korea, the Group is required to pay certain percentage
gaming tax on the net gaming wins from gaming operations. In
addition, the Group is also required to make certain variable
and fixed payments to the Government of South Korea based
on the gaming wins generated from tables and slot machines in
its possession. These expenses are recognised as “Gaming
duties and other related taxes” in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss as incurred.

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at
an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which the
Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or
services to the customer. The variable consideration is
estimated at contract inception and constrained until it is highly
probable that a significant revenue reversal in the amount of
cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the
associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing the
transfer of goods or services to the customer for more than one
year, revenue is measured at the present value of the amount
receivable, discounted using the discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction between the Group
and the customer at contract inception. When the contract
contains a financing component which provides the Group a
significant financial benefit for more than one year, revenue
recognised under the contract includes the interest expense
accreted on the contract liability under the effective interest
method. For a contract where the period between the payment
by the customer and the transfer of the promised goods or
services is one year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted
for the effects of a significant financing component, using the
practical expedient in HKFRS 15.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i A A AR Mk

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(a)

(b)

Integrated resort revenue

Revenue from integrated resort, mainly comprised
hospitality; food and beverage sales and theme park
ticket sales. Revenue from hotel room rental, food and
beverage sales and other ancillary services is recognised
at the point in time when the services are rendered.
Revenue from theme park ticket sales are recognised at
the point in time when the tickets are used.

Gaming revenue

Gaming revenue represents the net difference between
gaming wins and losses. Commissions related directly to
customers are recorded as a reduction to gaming revenue.
Gaming contracts include a performance obligation to
honor the patron’s wager and typically include a
performance obligation to provide a product or service to
the patron on a complimentary basis to incentivise in
exchange for points earned under the Group's loyalty
programs.

For wagering contracts that include products and services
provided to a patron in exchange for complimentary
commissions or points earned under the Group's loyalty
programs, the Group allocates the estimated stand-alone
selling price of the points earned to the loyalty program
liability. The loyalty program liability is a deferral of
revenue until redemption occurs. Upon redemption of
loyalty program points for Group-owned products and
services, the standalone selling price of each product or
service is allocated to the respective revenue type.

For redemption of loyalty program points with third
parties, the redemption amount is deducted from the
loyalty program liability and paid directly to the third
party.

Commission and allowances to gaming counterparties is
calculated based on certain percentages of net gaming
wins or rolling amount and is recorded as a reduction to
gaming revenue when the relevant services have been
rendered by gaming counterparties.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

122

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(c)

Sales of properties

Revenue from the sale of properties is recognised at the
point in time when the purchasers obtained the physical
possession or the legal title of the completed property
and the Group has the present right to payment and the
collection of the consideration is probable.

Revenue from other sources

(a)

(b)

(c)

(@)

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using
the effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over
the expected life of the financial instrument to the net
carrying amount of the financial asset.

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis
over the lease terms. Variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or a rate are recognised as income in
the accounting period in which they are incurred.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’
right to receive payment has been established, it is
probable that the economic benefits associated with the
dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the
dividend can be measured reliably.

Management fee income is recognised when such services
have been provided to customer.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or

a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before

the Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract

liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Group performs

under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or

services to the customer).
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Right-of-return assets

A right-of-return asset is recognised for the right to recover the
goods expected to be returned by customers. The asset is
measured at the former carrying amount of the goods to be
returned, less any expected costs to recover the goods and any
potential decreases in the value of the returned goods. The
Group updates the measurement of the asset for any revisions
to the expected level of returns and any additional decreases in
the value of the returned goods.

Share-based payment

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group's operations. Employees
(including Directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the
form of share-based payments, whereby employees render
services as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled
transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for
grants is measured by reference to the fair value on the date at
which they are granted.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in
employee benefit expense, together with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which the performance
and/or service conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense
recognised for equity-settled transactions at the end of each
reporting period until the vesting date reflects the extent to
which the vesting period has expired and the Group's best
estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately
vest. The charge or credit to the statement of profit or loss for a
period represents the movement in the cumulative expense
recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Share-based payment (continued)

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken
into account when determining the grant date fair value of
awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being met is
assessed as part of the Group's best estimate of the number of
equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market performance
conditions are reflected within the grant date fair value. Any
other conditions attached to an award, but without an
associated service requirement, are considered to be non
vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the
fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of
an award unless there are also service and/or performance

conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met, no
expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or non
vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been
modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition,
an expense is recognised for any modification that increases the
total fair value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise
beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of
modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it
had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This
includes any award where non-vesting conditions within the
control of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award,
and is designated as a replacement award on the date that it is
granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they
were a modification of the original award, as described in the
previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
share.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefits

(a)

Pension obligations

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for all of its employees in Hong Kong.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the
statement of profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets
of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the
Group in an independently administered fund. The
Group's employer contributions vest fully with the
employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group's certain subsidiaries which
operate in South Korea are required to participate in a
defined contribution is a pension plan under which the
South Korea subsidiaries pay fixed contributions into a
separate entity. The contributions are recognised as
employee benefit expenses when an employee has
rendered service.

In addition, the subsidiaries in South Korea also operates
a defined benefits scheme in South Korea, the assets of
which are generally held in separate trustee-administrated

funds.

The schemes are generally funded through payments to
insurance companies or trustee-administered funds,
determined by periodic actuarial calculations. A defined
benefit plan is a pension plan that is not a defined
contribution plan. Typically, defined benefit plans define
an amount of pension benefit that an employee will
receive on retirement, usually dependent on one or more
factors such as age, years of services and compensation.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

126

Employee benefits (continued)

(a)

(b)

Pension obligations (continued)

The liability recognised in the statement of financial
position in respect of defined benefit pension plans is the
present value of the defined benefit obligation at the
reporting date less the fair value of plan assets. The
defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by
independent actuaries using the projected unit credit
method. The present value of the defined benefit
obligation is determined by discounting the estimated
future cash outflows using interest rates of high-quality
corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency in
which the benefits will be paid, and that have terms to
maturity approximating to the terms of the related
pension liability.

Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience
adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are
charged or credited to equity in other comprehensive
income in the period in which they arise. Past-service costs

are recognised immediately as income.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries, which operate
in the Philippines, are members of government-managed
“Social Security System Scheme”. The Philippine
subsidiary is required to pay a monthly fixed contribution
or certain percentage of the employees’ relevant income
and met the minimum mandatory requirements of the
Social Security System Scheme. The Philippine subsidiary
has no further payment obligations once the contributions
have been paid. The contributions are recognised as
employee benefit expense when they are due.

Employee leave entitlement

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made for
the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of
services rendered by employees up to the date of
consolidated statement of financial position.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave
are not recognised until the time of leave.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of
those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases
when the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or
sale. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in
which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and
other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the
borrowing of funds.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars,
which is the Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the
Group determines its own functional currency and items
included in the financial statements of each entity are measured
using that functional currency. Foreign currency transactions
recorded by the entities in the Group are initially recorded
using their respective functional currency rates prevailing at the
dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the
reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in the statement
of profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items
measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-
monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with the
recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the
item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair value
gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or
profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income
or profit or loss, respectively).

2.4 FEEGFHEORMEE (4)

BERA

WiE 2ESLEEREREE(AIRER
ERRAGERERGIHEZEE)E
BREAZEERINOETEREERAS —
M BEEABAIMEERERGRHIHE
B ZEEBERATBRETELR - IEE
fEERANELEREHE - BEKREE
ENRRERBREAESMEL ZEMAK
K o

s

ZEMBHRETIAET(AIARRGF 28
E¥)25 - ARBEANBZERBTTEER
WEER  GTASERMBEHRRZIERTY
UZe BT E - AEEE TEREMAC
BZINERZERFE RERBRNESR
KEERERAR - MINEDIRRC EMEE
KB BERHEMRER 2L 8 E X
B BEHIMESKHRBEELZEENE
R IR

IOMNEE LA E 2 FFERIRBIZE X
RHEHZERRE - LINERFEER
HZFERBBARAEATEERER
ZEXRBE - BB N FEEFEZIFE
BHRAEEZWSNEERRERREE A
FEEZH WAk BR -2 EE
(AP FEE KRS KB ENHE 2 m ik
FERTHEACER ZERZRITD RN
HEip2ESmBETHER) -

Annual Report 2019 4E# 127



NOTESTO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

22 /N
A

24

128

B 285 e Fi

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an
advance consideration, the date of initial transaction is the date
on which the Group initially recognises the non-monetary asset
or non-monetary liability arising from the advance
consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in
advance, the Group determines the transaction date for each
payment or receipt of the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries and
associates are currencies other than the Hong Kong dollar. As
at the end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of
these entities are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period
and their statements of profit or loss are translated into Hong
Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for the
year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in the statement of
profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation
and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the closing
rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into Hong
Kong dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the
cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas
subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for
the year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 3 EKREFEHAE KAE

AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group's financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets
and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from
those involving estimations, which have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Classification between investment properties and owner-
occupied properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an
investment property, and has developed criteria in making that
judgement. Investment property is a property held to earn
rentals or for capital appreciation or both. Therefore, the Group
considers whether a property generates cash flows largely
independently of the other assets held by the Group. Some
properties comprise a portion that is held to earn rentals or for
capital appreciation and another portion that is held for use in
the production or supply of goods or services or for
administrative purposes. If these portions could be sold
separately or leased out separately under a finance lease, the
Group accounts for the portions separately. If the portions
could not be sold separately, the property is an investment
property only if an insignificant portion is held for use in the
production or supply of goods or services or for administrative
purposes. Judgement is made on an individual property basis
to determine whether ancillary services are so significant that a
property does not qualify as an investment property.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key

sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting

period, that have a significant risk of causing a material

adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities

within the next financial year, are described below.

(a)

Provision for impairment of trade and gaming receivables

The Group applies the simplified approach in calculating
ECLs. An impairment analysis is performed at each
reporting date using a loss rate approach to measure
expected credit losses. The credit risk categorisation is
determined based on a number of factors which include (i)
debtors’ ageing; (ii) historical repayment behaviour of
debtors; and (iii) other debtors’ specific information
available to the Group which is relevant for credit risk
assessment. The credit risk categorisation is adjusted to
reflect subsequent information uncovered to an extent that
such information provides evidence of conditions existed
as at the year end date and forward-looking information.
The expected loss rates are estimated based on the
expected cash flows that can be recovered from the
estimated repayments based on historical recovery ratios.

The assessment of the correlation among historical
recovery ratio, estimated repayment and ECLs is a
significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to
changes in circumstances and conditions. The Group's
historical credit loss experience and estimates may also
not be representative of customer’s actual default in the
future. The information about the ECLs on the Group's
trade and gaming receivables is disclosed in note 20 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(b)

(c)

Impairment assessment of goodwill and gaming licences
with indefinite useful lives

The Group determines whether goodwill and gaming
licences with indefinite useful lives are impaired at least
on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the
value in use of the cash-generating units or the fair value
of gaming licences to which the goodwill and gaming
licences with indefinite useful lives are allocated.
Estimating the value in use and fair value requires the
Group to make an estimate of the expected future cash
flows from the cash-generating units and also to choose a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value of those cash flows. Details of goodwill and gaming
licences with indefinite useful lives are disclosed in notes
17 and 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwiill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets (including the right-
of-use assets) at the end of each reporting period.
Indefinite life intangible assets are tested for impairment
annually and at other times when such an indicator exists.
Other non-financial assets are tested for impairment when
there are indicators that the carrying amounts may not be
recoverable. An impairment exists when the carrying value
of an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its
recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value
less costs of disposal and its value in use. The calculation
of the fair value less costs of disposal is based on available
data from binding sales transactions in an arm'’s length
transaction of similar assets or observable market prices
less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When
value in use calculations are undertaken, management
must estimate the expected future cash flows from the
asset or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of
those cash flows.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(d)

(e)

Impairment assessment of property, plant and
equipment

The Group determines whether an asset is impaired at
least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of fair
value of the asset. The fair value for the impairment
assessment of property, plant and equipment is estimated
based on current prices in an active market and by
reference to external valuation reports. Details of
property, plant and equipment are disclosed in notes 14
to the consolidated financial statements.

Net realisable value of properties under development
and completed properties for sale

The Group's properties for sale are stated at the lower of
cost and net realisable value. Based on the Group's recent
experience and the nature of the subject properties, the
Group makes estimates of the selling prices, the costs of
completion in cases for properties under or held for
development, and the costs to be incurred in selling the
properties based on prevailing market conditions. If there
is an increase in costs to completion or a decrease in net
sales value, the net realisable value will decrease and this
may result in provision for properties under development
and completed properties held for sale. Such provision
requires the use of judgement and estimates. Where the
expectation is different from the original estimate, the
carrying value and provision for properties in the periods
in which such estimate is changed will be adjusted
accordingly. In addition, given the volatility of the property
market and the unique nature of individual properties, the
actual outcomes in terms of costs and revenue may be
higher or lower than that estimated at the end of the
reporting period. Any increase or decrease in the
provision would affect profit or loss in future years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 3 HKGEHAIE KA E ()
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

fhat 2 NAMEE ()

(f)  Estimation of fair value of investment properties ) FEAREYEZ N FERE

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

In the absence of current prices in an active market for
similar properties, the Group considers information from a
variety of sources, including:

() Current price in an active market for properties of a
different nature, condition or location, adjusted to
reflect those differences;

(i)  Recent prices of similar properties on less active
markets, with adjustments to reflect any changes in
economic conditions since the dates of the
transactions that occurred at those prices; and

(i)  Discounted cash flow projections based on reliable
estimates of future cash flows, supported by the
terms of any existing lease and other contracts and
(when possible) by external evidence such as current
market rents for similar properties in the same
location and condition, and using discount rates that
reflect current market assessment of the uncertainty
in the amount and timing of the cash flows.

Leases — Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate
implicit in a lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental
borrowing rate (“IBR"”) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR
is the rate of interest that the Group would have to pay to
borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the
funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the
right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment. The
IBR therefore reflects what the Group “would have to
pay”, which requires estimation when no observable rates
are available (such as for subsidiaries that do not enter
into financing transactions) or when it needs to be
adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease
(for example, when leases are not in the subsidiary’s
functional currency). The Group estimates the IBR using
observable inputs (such as market interest rates) when
available and is required to make certain entity-specific
estimates (such as the subsidiary’s stand-alone credit
rating).
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

The executive directors of the Company are considered to be
the Group's Chief Operating Decision-Maker (“CODM").
Management has determined the operating segments based
on the reports reviewed by the CODM that are used to make
strategic decisions. The CODM considers the Group is
operating predominantly in three operating segments as
follows:

(@) Integrated Resort Development
(b)  Gaming Business
()  Property Development

The CODM monitors the results of the operating segments
separately for the purpose of allocating resources and assessing
performance. Segment performance is evaluated based on
reportable segment results, which is a measure of adjusted
profit or loss before tax. The adjusted profit or loss before tax is
measured consistently with the Group's loss before tax except
that finance costs, net and other unallocated income, changes
in fair values of investment properties in Hong Kong, gains on
disposals of subsidiaries as well as head office and corporate
income and expenses, net are excluded from such
measurement.

Segment assets exclude cash and cash equivalents, investment
properties in Hong Kong, equity investments designated at fair
value through other comprehensive income, tax recoverable,
deferred tax assets and other unallocated head office and
corporate assets as these assets are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings, tax payable, deferred tax liabilities and other
unallocated head office and corporate liabilities as these
liabilities are managed on a group basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

i BB R Wi
4 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 4 rEbERH (A
Year ended 31 December 2019 BE-_ES—hE+-A=+—HLE
E
Integrated
Resort Gaming Property
Development Business  Development Total
&a
ERE#RRE BEES NERR a5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TER
Segment revenue: (note 5) AEuE ¢ (MEE5)
Sales to external customers REIDEFZHE 488,615 213,117 113,801 815,533
Segment results PEEE (1,076,090) (469,038) 23,226 (1,521,902)
Reconciliation: Hfk -
Finance costs, net (other than intereston ~ BI&RA + SB2E (FAEBEFI BB
lease liabilities) (129,748)
Corporate and other unallocated expenses, % REMANEFY « F5
net (483,270)
Fair value loss on an investment property in -~ B8 —FiRAYE 2 ATFBESE
Hong Kong (2,200)
Gain on disposals of a subsidiary HE—EHBARZ Kz 14
Loss before tax B ATERE (2,137,006)
Segment assets PHEE 10,553,262 1,594,950 1,224,087 13,372,299
Reconciliation: HR
Investment properties in Hong Kong BERENE 188,000
Equity investments designated at fair value 15 AR ATEE AL
through other comprehensive income 2HME RERE 35,846
Cash and cash equivalents BERELEEBY 398,033
Tax recoverable AR ERE 219
Corporate and other unallocated assets BRREMADELEE 1,125,443
Total assets BEAE 15,119,840
Segment liabilities SHEE 342,520 113,883 20,793 477,196
Reconciliation: #f
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings &t 83R1T R EMEE 2,566,911
Tax payable ERHIE 7719
Deferred tax liabilities EEREER 31,747
Corporate and other unallocated liabilites &R EMADEEE 151,500
Total liabilities BEEE 3,235,073
Other segment information included in FTADBEEZHMAHER
segment results:
Depreciation and amortisation TEREHE (540,486) (52,606) - (593,092)
Impairment loss on trade and other T E 5708 R H th e e 7R
receivables, net REERE  F8 (1,859) (155,023) - (156,882)
Fair value losses on investment propertiesin  FERENE 2 ATEEER
South Korea (238,816) - - (238,816)
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4 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 4 rEbERH (A
Year ended 31 December 2018 BE-_ZE—N\E+=-H=+—HI1L=E
E
Integrated
Resort Gaming Property
Development Business  Development Total
ma
EREERE BYER NEERE @5t
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT TAT TET TAT
Segment revenue: (note 5) AEE : (H5E5)
Sales to external customers REINBEE ZHE 270,977 1,486,660 341,388 2,099,025
Segment results PEEE (587,129) 82974 160,471 (343,684)
Reconciliation: Hfk -
Finance income and unallocated HBMAREMRABMA - F8
income, net 32,336
Corporate and other unallocated TEREMRS IR - #8
expenses, net (322,822)
Fair value gains on investment propertiesin ~ &/81% &M% 2 AFEERE
Hong Kong 300
Gain on disposals of a subsidiary HE—RIMNEAR 2 KR 116
Loss before tax B RIER (633,754)
Segment assets DEEE 11,557,841 2,195,684 1,337,981 15,091,506
Reconciliation: B
Investment properties in Hong Kong BERENE 251,200
Equity investments designated at fairvalue 387 ARATEE AL 2 EUES
through other comprehensive income IR A 80,336
Cash and cash equivalents BELBELEEY 1,098,459
Tax recoverable A E R 125,542
Deferred tax assets ERERBEE 38,577
Corporate and other unallocated assets BRRAMRIREE 985,399
Total assets BE®E 17,671,019
Segment liabilities PiaRE 432,532 405,905 61,407 899,844
Reconciliation: i
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings &t B3R R EMIEE 1,953,381
Tax payable ERHE 9,064
Deferred tax liabilities ELERIBERE 85,454
Corporate and other unallocated liabilites @R EMADEEE 121,015
Total liabilities BEAE 3,068,758

Other segment information included in FADHEE 2 H A SER
segment results:

Depreciation and amortisation WEREH (456,401) (47,321) - (503,722)
Impairment losses on trade and TEURE 5 5008 e At FE R

other receivables, net HEBR  F8 (22,780) (64,210) - (86,990)
Fair value gains on investment propertiesin  FI81% &Mz AT EERE

South Korea 214,860 - = 214,860
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AR B AR M R
4 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 4 SrEPER ()
Geographical information EER
(a) Revenue from external customers (a) XKEISBEFZ Wz
2019 2018
—g-nE —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FETT
South Korea [FE 815,533 2,099,025
The revenue information above is based on the locations LA EW B R TR IR P AR E
of the customers. FI o
(b) Non-current assets (b)) FHBEE
2019 2018
—E-AEFE  —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHIT
! ! [ |
South Korea FE 11,140,523 12,153,063
Hong Kong BB 416,840 786,653
Others Hfth 14,315 114,029

11,571,678 13,053,745

The non-current assets information above is based on the A EIERFEEESR HIRIEEER
locations of the assets and excludes goodwill, intangible ENE(TBEFE  EREE &
assets, prepayments, trade and other receivables, equity 218 - EWE S20E R HEEK
investments designated at fair value through other 2B EEABRAEEETAEM
comprehensive income and deferred tax assets. 2HNE ZIBRERE REERIBE
ZE)FI -
Information about major customers EREIFEEXF &R
During the year ended 31 December 2019, no single customer HE_T—NE+-_B=+—HILt&EE -
(2018: two customers were derived from the Gaming Business WEE —2E (T — \F: mMEKEHE
segment of approximately HK$641,659,000) contributed over TR DI 7 B 4 641,659,000 7T ) {5
10% of the Group's total revenue. N E IR S EREFRIE 10% ©
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W s R R P
REVENUE 5 Wz
An analysis of revenue is as follows: e
2019 2018
—E-AEFE  —ZE-N\F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FERT FET
Revenue from contracts with customers EFE&AM 803,375 2,080,759
Revenue from other sources F b 25 9 7
Gross rental income from investment REREMELEHEZ
property operating leases MW ABEE 12,158 18,266
815,533 2,099,025
Revenue from contracts with customers BEEEHWE
Disaggregated revenue information Dl E R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 BE-—Z-NZF+-A=+—HLEFE

Integrated
Resort Gaming Property
Segments Development Business  Development Total
)
paR:i] ERERR FEB MERR At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT TERT TERT THERT
Types of goods or services EmIRBER
Hotel rooms B G B 321,420 - - 321,420
Theme park ticket sales FTRABMRHEE 43,302 - - 43,302
Food and beverage sales BERIHE 103,445 - - 103,445
Retail sales TE 8,290 - - 8,290
Table games SHEEE - 189,972 - 189,972
Electronic machine games BT B R - 10,618 - 10,618
Events EE) - 12,527 - 12,527
Sales of properties HEME - - 106,712 106,712
Property management fee income ~ ¥EEBEEWA - - 7,089 7,089
Total revenue from contracts BPEHAW=EE
with customers 476,457 213,117 113,801 803,375
Geographical markets HEE
South Korea [ 476,457 213,117 113,801 803,375
Timing of revenue recognition Wy 55 7R R B
Goods transferred at a point in time AR —RFfEZHER 7 7 5 476,457 213,117 113,801 803,375
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REVENUE (continued) 5
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
Disaggregated revenue information (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2018

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e dis (%)

EF ARk (&)

W AR ()
BE-T\f+-A=1t—"HLFE

Integrated
Resort Gaming Property
Segments Development Business  Development Total
e
DH EREZRE BR L MEERE FEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FAT FTAT
! ' ' ___________________! ! ______________|
Types of goods or services BmBREER
Hotel rooms B SRR 116,117 = = 116,117
Theme park ticket sales ES=UNHIRES=(S 41,795 = = 41,795
Food and beverage sales BERIHE 94,799 25 - 94,824
Table games RE R - 1,452,934 - 1,452,934
Electronic machine games BT B R = 28,506 = 28,506
Events EE = 5,195 = 5,195
Sales of properties SHEEE = = 335,613 335,613
Property management fee income ~ #J¥EEEUA = = 5,775 5,775
Total revenue from contracts BEAHINes A%
with customers 252,711 1,486,660 341,388 2,080,759
Geographical markets HETIS
South Korea [ 252,711 1,486,660 341,388 2,080,759
Timing of revenue recognition 1 g T 0 B
Goods transferred at a point in time A E —F EI268E % 7 79 5 252,711 1,486,660 341,388 2,080,759
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REVENUE (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
Contract and contract related liabilities

In providing goods and services to its customers, there may be
a timing difference between cash receipts from customers and
recognition of revenue, resulting in a contract or contract-
related liability.

The Group primarily has five types of liabilities related to
contracts with customers: (1) loyalty program liabilities, which
represents the deferred allocation of revenues relating to
incentive earned from the loyalty programs; (2) unredeemed
chip liabilities, which represents the amounts owed in exchange
for gaming chips and tokens held by a customer; (3) patrons
deposits and gaming liabilities, which represents casino front
money deposits that are funds deposited by customers before
gaming play occurs; (4) contract liabilities for sales of goods and
services, which represents the advance payments on goods and
services to be provided, such as advance ticket sales and
deposits on hotel rooms; and (5) liabilities for pre-sales of
properties, which represents advances received from buyers in
connection with the Group's pre-sales of properties. These
liabilities are generally expected to be recognised as revenues
within one year of being purchased, earned, or deposited and
are recorded within other payables, accruals and deposits
received on the consolidated statement of financial position.
Increases in balances mainly represent the increase in
unredeemed incentives relating to loyalty programs and
increase in cash received from buyers in relation to the pre-sales
of properties.
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REVENUE (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

Contract and contract related liabilities (continued)

Details of contract liabilities are as follows:

Loyalty
program
liabilities

SHE
HEER
HK$'000

TEx

Unredeemed
chip
liabilities
R
EEGR
HK$'000
TR

W sk (4)
BE A0S ()
BHRIREHIEEEE (&)
BHEEHBEIIWT
Patrons
deposits and
other gaming ~ Sales of goods ~ Pre-sales of
liabilities and services properties
BEEAR #EBR
ApEYER k% RENR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tin TEn TR

Total

#it
HK$'000
TER

Balance at 1 January 2018 R-B-NE-B-RAzE&8 316 30,583 898 12,092 37,652 84,341
Increase in contract liabilities as MEFRIGELEHAYN

areslt of cash received from BB

customers in advance 70941 - U3 12,111 55,262 139,857
Decrease in contract liabilities as ENRRYRIARHAR

aresult of recognising revenue EYRNEERD)

during the year was included in

the contract liabilties (51,161) (7,304) - (15,601) (40,290) (114,39)
Balance at 31 December 2018 RZE-NE+ZA=1-H

and 1 January 2019 R=2-nE-B-Re&H 2.8% 8239 1,841 9,200 52,624 109,802
Increase in contract liabilities as AEFRUESERAYN

aresult of cash received from AEEM

customers in advance 513 16,433 2336 75,832 65,672 160,786
Decrease in contract iabilities as ERERNEIAANAE

aresult of recognising revenue BRI

during the year was included in

the contract liabilties (19,089) (22,202) (1,760) (73,685) (97.752) (214,488)
Exchange realignment 5 A% (1,010) (983) (73 (374) (2,288) (4,728)
Balance at 31 December 2019 R=B-1nE+=A=1-H

A3 3310 16,487 2,344 10,975 18,256 51,372
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OTHER INCOME AND GAINS/(LOSSES), NET 6

H AW A BeWe i, (548) » S48

2019 2018
—E-NF —T-N\F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Pt et TER FET
Management fee income EEBRA 2,237 2,880
Dividend income from equity investments A FEEFAEME2ERE 2
at fair value through other WRRER & 2 Bk B
comprehensive income 699 897
Gains on disposal of subsidiaries HEMB AR e 33 114 116
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEME  BERIEER ZEE
plant and equipment (107,808) (13,758)
Expenses recharged and rental for SEAREEIR . BARES
aircraft usage - 12,667
Recover of land lease payment PSRRI Bl T FE &
upon cancellation TIB 144,936 =
Disposal of right-of-use assets and lease RELIETHAERNE 2 (FHE
liabilities on early termination of BEREEARE
land lease (30,253) =
Derecognition of interest accretion on REBEIFITEERRILRRZ
early redemption of bank borrowings (RSB (18,926) =
Early redemption charges of BIEEZRTFEEER
bank borrowings (9,061) -
Foreign exchange differences, net [EH =5 B8 20,398 (41,753)
Others EHi 2,480 13,277
4,816 (25,674)

Landing International Development Limited %5 [ B4 e 47 PR A\



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i A A AR Mk

7 LOSS BEFORE TAX 7 BRBLAT IR
The Group's loss before tax is arrived at after charging/ REB BT ERE NG, GEA) T
(crediting): £I7 :
2019 2018
—E-NEF —T-N\F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
k3 TER FHET
Cost of properties and inventories sold EENERFENE
— Cost of properties sold — BEWEKA 67,491 146,555
— Cost of inventories sold — BEEFEMA 37,201 37,261
— Provision for inventories — FERE 4,905 =
109,597 183,816
Employee benefit expenses EERMAX (TREESHM
(excluding directors’ remuneration (MEE9)) -
(Note 9)):
— Wages, salaries and other staff costs —TI& -HFeRkEMEIRA 620,401 791,395
— Retirement benefit costs* — RIRRE AR A 46,611 47,165
667,012 838,560
Amortisation and depreciation: BERITE -
— Depreciation of property, — W% BERSEBINE
plant and equipment 14 604,286 550,632
— Depreciation of right-of-use assets — AR TE 16 50,580 -
— Amortisation of intangible assets — B EEEH 18 271 216
655,137 550,848
Impairment loss on trade and EUE 5 78 K Eh FE M kIR
other receivables, net: REER - FE
— Impairment loss on trade receivables, — BWRE SR EREESE  F8
net 20(i) 1,859 10,552
— Impairment loss on gaming receivables, — B ENBERERE - F8
net 20(ii) 155,023 76,438
— Impairment loss on other receivables, net — E 4 fEUFIBRERE @ F58 24,501 -
181,383 86,990
Expenses included in “other operating SAATEMEBER] hzBERA:
expenses” **:
— Auditor's remuneration — ZEE < 6,748 4,780
— Building, equipment and facility — BT RELRREEEBA
maintenance expenses 127,397 169,656
— Bad debt written off — SRR 3,040 -
— Fair value gains on financial assets at —RATREFABR MG
fair value through profit or loss BEZATEEKS (53) -
— Impairment loss on property, — W% - BER&EREER
plant and equipment 14 259,326 85,015
— Sales and marketing, promotion and —HEREH HERESER
advertising expenses 136,580 213,492
— Minimum lease payments under — REMEE T HERERE
operating leases - 88,373
— Lease payments not included in the — Tt AMEE BB HENIE
measurement of lease liabilities 8,340 -
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LOSS BEFORE TAX (continued) 7 bRBLATIE R (4])
i3 At the end of the reporting period, the Group had no forfeited * R EAR - A5 B3 S8 U ZRAT A DA
contributions available to reduce its contributions to the pension BARFE ZRARSARHR(ZZE—NF:
schemes in future years (2018: Nil). ;) o
*x The remaining items of “other operating expenses” including but not *x AATEMEZEER | 2HAERBEED
limited to aircraft operating expenses, consumable supplies and BRREEET L ERERHERITHRE
administrative expenses. e
FINANCE (COSTS)/INCOME, NET 8  WE(HA), WA » FH
2019 2018
—E-nE —2-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Interest expenses: MEFX :
— Lease liabilities —MHEBE (57,642) =
— Bank borrowings —RITIEE (142,307) (26,393)
— Other borrowings — HhfigE - (18,460
(199,949) (44,853)
Less: Amounts capitalised on B B BREEENML B
qualifying assets - 16,481
Financecosts ~~~ ~~~ W®AEx (199949 (28372
Interest income: FEWA :

— Bank interest income — RITFEHA 2,058 3,896
— Other interest income — EAF B 10,501 44,339
Finance income L BBeA 289 Y2

Finance (costs)/income, net BH3% (RRAS), WA » BEE (187,390) 19,863
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9 DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the
Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure
of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as
follows:

g

BE EmRA - B QG5 5 383(1)
@ (b) ~ (o) BMOIFIA KA A (I 5E=EH
HERDROIE 25 B2 EEHMMAT ¢

2019 2018
—B-nE —FN\&
HK$'000 HK$'000
T FHL

Executive directors: WITES :
Fees we 16,443 14,100
Other emoluments: HinEiS -
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e FRREYH = 7,286 8,519
Employer's contribution to a retirement & E 2RI AT &I K
benefit scheme 607 902
24,336 23,521
Independent non-executive directors: BN IERITES ¢
Fees e 968 1,200
25,304 24,721
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9 DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued) 9  EHHIM ()
Executive directors’ and non-executive directors’ HITEERFHTESZHE
emoluments
The emoluments paid to executive directors and independent RERNE XN FRITES MBI IERITE
non-executive directors during the year were as follows: EZemT
For the year ended 31 December 2019 BE-—ZE—hh&E+=-A=+—BHILt=E
E
Employer's
contribution to
Allowances a retirement
Discretionary and benefits benefit
Name k4 Fees Salary bonuses inkind scheme Total
Exz
BER  RKERHE
ne #e miEwa BENRE #R @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TER TER TER
S s
Executive directors: WTESE:
Dr. Yang Zhihui (“Dr. Yang") PE2E((EL]) 10,000 7,286 - - 607 17,893
Ms. Zhou Xueyun ("Ms. Zhou") AE=z+([Axt)) 2,000 - - - - 2,000
Ms. Chan Mee Sze ("Ms. Chan") BEExt((Rzt]) 1,500 - - - - 1,500
Mr. Chu Huafeng? (“Mr. Chu") fipts s ([ E£]) 208 - - - - 208
Ms. Xu Ning* (“Ms. Xu") frrrt (Bl 2,735 - - - - 2,735
,,,,,, 03 1B TS e
Independent non-executive directors: BUEHTES
Mr. Bao Jingjao (“Mr. Bao”) HEFEE(HEE]) 480 - - - - 480
Mr. Fok Ho Yin, Thomas? (“Mr. Fok”) EAREA([BEL)) 180 - - - - 180
Mr. Wong Chun Hung? (M. Wong") ERELEN([ERE]) 180 - - - - 180
Ms. Wang Yuying® ("Ms. Wang") xS v eanl(ES &) 64 - - - - 64
Mr. Li Mingfa® (“Mr. Li) FRREE ([ZEE]) 64 - - - - 64
,,,,,,,, T T
17,411 7,286 - - 607 25,304
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9 DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued) 9 HEFHM ()
Executive directors’ and non-executive directors’ HITESRIHITESZME (A)
emoluments (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2018 BE—E—\FE+=ZA=+—HLEE
Employer's
contribution to
Allowances a retirement
Discretionary and benefits benefit
Name # Fees Salary bonuses inkind scheme Total
Exz
EER RKETIEE
ik e HBTEA Bl (5 @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL TAL TR THRT THT THT
' _____________'___________________|
Executive directors: §Xﬁ§$
Dr. Yang Zhihui (“Dr. Yang") 1 f;ﬁyi(Hﬂltﬁt ) 10,000 7,719 - - 902 18,621
Ms. Zhou Xueyun (“Ms. Zhou") =t ([Azt]) 2,000 - 800 - - 2,800
Ms. Xu Ning' (“Ms. Xu") @TﬁtUﬁti> 1,600 = = = - 1,600
Ms. Chan Mee Sze' (“Ms. Chan”) EEBxt'((Rzt)) 500 - - - - 500
14,100 7,119 800 - 902 23,521
Independent non-executive directors: BUIFHTES
Mr. Bao Jingjao (“Mr. Bao”) MG HLE(REE]) 480 = = = = 480
Mr. Fok Ho Yin, Thomas? (“Mr. Fok”) EEREE((BRE]) 360 - - - - 360
Mr. Wong Chun Hung? (“Mr. Wong") Bt USd(E o) 360 - - - - 360
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, e .
15,300 7,719 800 - 902 24711

! Appointed on 1 September 2018
2 Retired on 27 June 2019

3 Appointed on 26 July 2019

*: Resigned on 26 July 2019

% Appointed on 23 August 2019

There were no other emoluments payable to the executive
directors and independent non-executive directors during the
year (2018: Nil).

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, on 9 January
2020, 22 January 2020 and 3 February 2020, Ms. Zhou, Ms.
Wang and Mr. Chu resigned as directors of the Company,
respectively, and on 9 January 2020, 15 January 2020, 22
January 2020, 3 February 2020 and 19 February 2020, Mr. Yeung
Lo, Mr. Li Chun Kei, Mr. Nguyen Van Tu Peter, Dr. Wong Hoi Po
and Ms. Pu Shen Chen were appointed as directors of the
Company, respectively.

There were no arrangements under which a director waived or
agreed to waive any remuneration during the year.

RZZE—NFNA—BEZF

R-Z—hFENA-++LBEE
CRZE-AEELAZ+AAEZRE
RZTE—NFEAZ T BEE
R-B—hFENA-—+=RAEZE

a s w N -

FALEBENATESRBIUIFRITES
ZEMBME (ZTE—N\F: &) -

#H
il

=

RE - RZF_FTF—ANAB
F—A=+= E&_Q_Ei_ﬂ
Bxt - ERLREEEDBIBE
ARBEERML HBRELE  FTHHEE
E iEBLE  EERELRHEED K
DHR_F_FF—-—ANB ZFT=F
$*H+£E —E-FF-—A=tZ
B —E_ZF_HA=AR_ZT_FTF_
ATHBEEZERRARIES -

BRI AILEE E R KEKF T R U IEMR
Bz 2 Hk -

=H
—_=
5| 0
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S 5 R A B i
FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUAL 10 hAmEAHANL
The five highest paid individuals during the year included one RAFEE  AERRFATEE—BESF
director (2018: one director), details of whose remuneration are (ZE—-N\F: —ZESF) FEZHe
set out in Note 9. Details of the remuneration for the year of the EENHTE9 - NAREE » HRNE (ZF
remaining four (2018: four) highest paid employees who is —N\F: OB EaFHES (YEARAE
neither a director nor chief executive of the Company are as EHRTBITHRAE) ZBEFBOT ¢
follows:
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FABT
e S ——
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e FEBEREWRER 18,612 35,146
Employer's contribution to a retirement B 2RI R EH S K
benefit scheme 341 638
18,953 35,784
e S ——
The number of non-director highest paid employees whose WIHEEZ RmFEE 2 FMEE N F LA
remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows: AR
2019 2018
—E-hEF T N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TR
e S ——
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 77T 2 3,000,000 77T 1 -
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 % 7T 2 3,500,000 7% 7T 1 -
HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000 4,500,001 7T 2 5,000,000 7T 1 -
HK$6,000,001 to HK$6,500,000 6,000,001 7T 2 6,500,000 7 7T - 1
HK$8,000,001 to HK$8,500,000 8,000,001 77T 2 8,500,000 % 7T 1 2
HK$13,000,001 to HK$13,500,000 13,000,001 7T 2 13,500,000 4 7T - 1
4 4

Landing International Development Limited %5 [ B4 e 47 PR A\



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

i A A AR Mk

11 INCOME TAX

No Hong Kong profits tax has been provided as the Group did
not generate any assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during
the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: Nil). Taxation on
overseas profits has been calculated on the estimated
assessable profit for the year at the rates of taxation prevailing
in the countries in which the Group operates.

11 P

BE-T-NF+-A=+—HLFE"
PR A AN ER (B3 B 70 B 8 B AR AR ] JE AR B
Mo BEREENSRELBEE(=ZF
—N\EF ) BINENZRBTIRAE
B X B E P EBRRF ARG ERTR
ZBITHRETHE o

2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FETT
Current — South Korea BNHEA — m %2
Charge for the year FAHB 5,726 40,258
Underprovision in prior years BEFERENE 522 =
b2 40,258
Current — Elsewhere BHR — HAthih[@
Charge for the year F AR 4,465 -
(Over)/underprovision in prior years BAEFE (BERE) BETR (2,713) 73
1,752 73
Deferredtex .. ®%¥®’ (1215 27,442
Total tax (credit)/charge for the year FRFMEKR), FAEHE (4,151) 67,773

The tax on the Group's loss before income tax differs from the
theoretical amount that would arise using weighted average tax
rate applicable to profits of the consolidated entities as follows:

AEERFAEHABR HBEERARE
B RGMER 2 AN R E A SE
mEBEERNT

2019 2018
—B-hE ZEN\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FAT
Loss before tax FR 75 A 548 (2,137,0006) (633,754)
Tax calculated at domestic tax rates RABRMBR 2 & 1 iE A
applicable to profits in the FEFRE 2 718
respective countries (448,838) (156,978)
Adjustments in respect of current tax AR B HAR 2 BN EARL IR
of previous periods (2,191) 73
Income not subject to tax BARBIA (376,765) (87,907)
Expenses not deductible for tax AR IR R 472,123 89,421
Tax losses utilised from prior periods EBABA AR IERE - (16,458)
Tax losses not recognised RIERHIEEE 351,520 239,622
Tax (credit)/expenses THIE (%), Fx (4,151) 67,773
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W 4 i
DIVIDENDS 12 BS
The directors did not recommend the payment of a final EETEEZREE_ZE—NE+=A
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: Nil). = t—HLEFERNRERE(ZZE—N
F ) o
LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO 13 BEo Wl e N AL B B s 48
OWNERS OF THE PARENT
The calculations of basic and diluted loss per share are based BREARANEEEE CTE T ETIER ¢
on:
2019 2018
—E-hE —E-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHTT
. ' _____________________________________________________________________________________________|
Loss K518
Loss attributable to owners of ARt ESRERNEEEEZ
the parent, used in the basic and BRAER AEILER
diluted loss per share calculation: (2,132,855) (701,527)

Number of shares

g 4=
2019 2018
—E-AEFE —ZE-N\F
'000 '000
T T

Shares gl
Weighted average number of ordinary AR EERERBEZFAN
shares in issue during the year used in B TS BRI T E

the basic loss per share calculation 2,934,898 2,938,668
The Group had no potential dilutive ordinary shares outstanding AEBRBREFEWEEITEN 2 BEE
during the respective year. SEE AR o
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14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

14 W% - Wm Kt

Freghold Furniture, Gaming
[and fixtures, equipment Structure
outside Leasehold and office Motor and andother  Construction
Hong Kong Buldings  improvements  equipment vehicles Aircraft ~ accessories faciities in progress Total
RIS ERNE  GH 2ER BYRER SRIR
KA¥RLE Bz BB BAERR bt} it ] Ef Aftikie kRIR &3t
HK§'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK§'000
TEL T T T T T T T T Tin
31 December 2019 Z8-hETZAZ1-A
At January 2019: RZ-nE-A-H:
Cost e 1211320 6,464,528 13615 1353792 93,05 426,531 134,561 1,529,551 1,454,005 12,680,965
Accumulated depreciation and impairment ZHERRE - (173439) (5,630) (289921) (40,559) (97,747) (12,265) (233173) - (852,734
Net carrying amount B3 12132 6,291,089 7985 1063871 52496 328,784 122,29 1,296,378 1454005 11,828,231

At 1 January 2019, net accumulated

depreciation and impairment 12132 6,291,089 7,985 1,063,871 5249 328784 122,29 1,296,378 1,454,005 11828231
Additions - - - 4830 - - " 133 200,464 205,501
Depreciation provided for the year - (136,445) (807) (262,006) (12,024) 21327) (18,469) (153,208) - (604,286)
Disposals - (8,442) - (150) (159) - (2,014) (3125) (105,848) (119.738)
Disposal of  subsiciary HE—HEAR - - (69) (3) - - - - - (102
Transfers a5 16,049 608,767 501 107,162 40 - 1431 38121 (1,052,501) -
Transfer from investment propertes (Note 15) SRARENE(HE15) - 136,715 - - - - - - - 136,715
Transfer o investment properties (Note 19) BRERANZ (Wt 19) - (31,631) - - - - - - - (31,631)
Revaluation of property, plant and equipment upon RERERENERERDE

transfer to investment properties - 4,064 - - - - - - - 4,064
Impairment (15,721) (122,754) - - - (120,845) - - - (259,326)
Exchange realignment (49,537) 293,083) el (44,798) (1,720) - (5,209) (51,075) (13,534) (458,699)
At 31 December 2019, net accumulated depreciation

and impairment 1,162,112 6,448,300 1847 868,876 39,063 186,612 98,109 1407224 482,586 10,700,729
At 31 December 2019:

Cost A 1177890 6,876,817 312 1427801 89,730 426,531 138,163 1782726 482,586 12,445,966

Accumulated depreciation and impairment LNERRE (15,778) (428517) (35,875) (558925) (50,667) (239919) (40,054) (375,502) - (1745230

Net carrying amount BESE 1,162,112 6,448,300 1847 868,876 39,063 186,612 98,109 1407224 482,586 10,700,729
31 December 2018 —3-\F+ZRZt-B
At1 January 2018: R-3-N\5-A-B:

Cost A 1234410 531852 6347 916721 89443 426531 2091 948,218 1482486 10443273

Accumulated depreciation and impairment ZHTERRE - (50,610) 4,505) (52.143) (28553) [76,420) (6,939 (2703 - (24520

Net carrying amount BESE 1234410 5267916 1882 864,578 60890 10,11 14852 921,18 1482486 10,198,071

At 1 January 2018, net accumulated

depreciation and impaiment 1234410 5267918 1882 864,578 60890 30,111 1463 921,18 1482486 10,198,071
Additions HE 2,149 2m 8,060 409,346 8015 - 6,79 12 2304962 2,800,326
Acquisition of assets and liabilties (Note 32) EEERAR(MER) = = 9 - - - - _ _ 37
Depreciation provided for the year FRNERE = (126,369) (1.818) (242631) (13872) 21327) (19.449) (125,160) - (550,632)
Disposals k-3 = = = (2455 (3,680) = (9,003) = = (15138
Transfers Ei 10 1403820 - nm 3084 - 131,253 623626 (2.234,15) -
Transfer from investment properties (Note 15) BRARENE (W 15) - 45728 - - - - - - = 4518
Transfer to investment properties (Note 15) SRZRENE (K 15) - - - - - - - - (83,068) (83,068)
Impaiment e = = 501) - - - - (84514) - 85,015)
Exchange realignment i (52434) (332,177) 5 3132 (1941) - 1953 (40487) (16219 (482,438)
At 31 December 2018, net accumulated depreciation

andimpairment 12113 691,089 7985 1063871 524% 38784 12229 1,296,378 1,454,005 11828231
At 31 December 2018: RoE-\Et-A=t-B:

Cost A 1201307 6464528 13615 1353792 93055 46531 134561 1529551 1454005 12680965

Accumulated depreciation and impairment ZHITERAE = (173439) (5,630 (269921) (40559) 97,747) (12.265) 233173 - (852,734)

Net carrying amount FaRE 121132 6,291,089 7985 1063871 524% 38784 12229 1,296,378 1,454,005 11828231

As at 31 December 2019, certain of the Group's property, plant

and equipment with a net carrying amount of approximately
HK$1,523,652,000 (2018: approximately HK$2,016,811,000) were
pledged to banks to secure general banking facilities and other

facilities granted to the Group (Note 27).

RZE-AE+-A=+—8 EEFE
#9 51,523,652,000/8 7L ( — T — )\ : 4
2,016,811,000870) 2 AE B A T -
EMEBE R AERER 2 —RIBITR
B R EHAMRE (F5E27) I FETT
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14 W3E ~ W Kokl ()
(continued)
During the year ended 31 December 2019, property, plant and BE-ZT-NFT-A=1T—"HIHFE K
equipment with cost of approximately HK$204,349,000, N 55 Bl 49 45 204,349,000 7% 7T ~ 272,0007% 7T
HK$272,000 and HK$10,000 (2018: approximately 5 10,000/8 0 (=ZF— )\ : 492,629,018,000
HK$2,629,018,000, HK$65,817,000 and HK$28,378,000) were added A TT ~ 65,817,000 7T & 28,378,000/ 7T ) 2
to the Integrated Resort Business, the Gaming Business and Y% -~ BEMEE TR AGE f@i@%ﬁ‘%
corporate asset which are related to Jeju Shinhwa World, g oI ,q;:JH?WETﬁﬁ'\*EE%Z
respectively. Property, plant and equipment with net carrying BE N_ZT—hF+-_A=1+—H &%
amount of approximately HK$10,315,937,000 (2018: approximately I A SRARRE 2 I - R MR E 2 BRE
HK$11,091,506,000) were related to the Jeju Shinhwa World as at FE A #%910,315,937,0008 T ( —Z 8 — )\ £F
31 December 2019. #911,091,506,00058 7T) °
The directors considered that certain property, plant and EEZRAE AEEETYE  BELZEB
equipment of the Group were subject to impairment loss because BEHREER  REAME  HEKRK
respective cash-generating units of these property, plant and HBrReEEBNRNFRRARERESE
equipment were non-performing, suffered from substantial losses BEXEER MEEBERFAKEBLE
and asset'’s value has declined more than would be expected for H - REBERBEAFEBERLERKAEE
the year. The Group has performed an impairment assessment 2B E 2 B & BETRERE °
with recoverable amounts of the relevant assets determined RETHBYE  BEER&KEBZAFEE
based on fair value less cost of disposal. In determining the fair B AEEREBYHESERGHERME
value of the relevant property, plant and equipment, the Group THESKELRE —FMGBEEEIKRT S A
engaged independent professionally qualified valuers to perform BT - ALEMETZAFEENH L
the valuation or arrived at on the basis of market approach with EZIRTERBIETE ER R EZE B RANR
reference to the second-hand market value. The fair value WMEBREBRRAZETET REBEED
assessment, which were performed by the valuers, have been 259,326,000% t( = & — J\ F: %
arrived at based on market approach with reference to the current 85,015,000/ 7T) B R i8m= R + LAz
prices and cost approach with reference to the replacement costs ME - BEMEREZEEEMBEENR =
less depreciation. An impairment provision of approximately E-—NF+_A=+—HZAKELELN
HK$259,326,000 (2018: approximately HK$85,015,000) was 1,641,810,000/8 ;( = & — A\ F: &
recognised in profit or loss to write down the carrying amounts of 1,842,912,0007&JT) °
these property, plant and equipment to their recoverable amount
of approximately HK$1,641,810,000 as at 31 December 2019
(2018: approximately HK$1,842,912,000).
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 15 HREWE
2019 2018
—B-hEF —N\%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT TR
Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—AZEEAE 1,225,514 845,911
Additions B 699 -
Transfer from property, plant and equipment BB E ¥ - BE N EZE
(Note 14) (PiRE14) 31,631 83,068
Transfer to property, plant and equipment BREYE  BELRE
(Note 14) (M$7E14) (136,715) (45,728)
Acquisition of assets and liabilities (Note 32)  UWBEE E K & & (Fi5E32) - 188,000
Disposals & (61,000) -
Fair value (losses)/gains, net RNTEE(BB), W - F5E (241,757) 215,160
Exchange realignment ME 5 E B (41,534) (60,897)
Carrying amount at 31 December R+ A=+—"HZKHEE 776,838 1,225,514
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

The Group's investment property are residential properties in
Hong Kong and commercial properties in South Korea. The
directors of the Company have determined the class of asset
(i.e., residential and commercial) based on the nature,
characteristics and risks of the properties. The Group's
investment properties in Hong Kong was revalued on 31
December 2019 based on a valuation performed by Roma
Appraisals Limited (2018: Roma Appraisals Limited), an
independent professionally qualified valuer, while the Group's
properties in Korea was revalued on 31 December 2019 based
on a valuation performed by Daeil Appraisal Co., Ltd. (Kyungi
Buktu Branch) (2018: Grant Sherman Appraisal Limited), an
independent professionally qualified valuer. The fair value was
at approximately HK$776,838,000 (2018: approximately
HK$1,225,514,000), fair value loss of approximately
HK$241,757,000 (2018: fair value gain of approximately
HK$251,160,000) which was recorded in the profit or loss for the
year. Each year, the Group’s management decide to appoint
which external valuer to be responsible for the external
valuation of the Group's properties. Selection criteria include
market knowledge, reputation, independence and whether
professional standards are maintained. The Group's
management have discussions with the valuer on the valuation
assumptions and valuation results when the valuation is
performed for financial reporting purpose.

The investment properties are leased to third parties under
operating leases, further summary details of which are included
in Note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.

At 31 December 2019, the Group's investment properties with a
carrying value of approximately HK$3,936,000 (2018: Nil) were
pledged to secure general banking facilities granted to the
Group (Note 27).

Further particulars of the Group's investment properties are
included on page 203.

15

BE W3 (4])

AEE 2R EMEAUNBE 2 EEDE
RONEEZEEDE - AAEESER
EMEZEE FHRERETEESER
(BMEEMEREEDE) - AEBURE
BZEREVMEER_Z—LF+=A
=T HARBEVEESERHEMES
R EAERAR(ZE—N\F: ZFH
BT HBERQR)ETZEEEHEE -
AEEBVREREIMEER = —NF
T A=t HRBEBIEXESERME
B Daeil Appraisal Co., Ltd. (Kyungi Buktu
Branch)(ZZ—/\%F : FEEERAA])
ETzHEENHE - 2 FEELOA
776,838,000 w( = T — J\ F: &
1,225,514,000& 7T) * A FEEBEFHE
#49241,757,000 8T (ZF—\F : RF(E
B #9251,160,000/8 7T ) * WK F AR
AEz - BF - AEE 2 EREZEIND
HEMEERNSEYEIINDGE - BUBAE
AIBEmsME B8 By EREEs
REHERE - AEEH 2 BEED N HER
HhERNmEEREREEER  UE
EYIBEHE °

REMEDREBEEMBEEETE=7  #&
— SR BFHBEN G A M IERRME6 -

R=ZZT—hE+=-A=+—0 ~£BEK
T {E %93,936,000/8 7L ( =& — J\F : &)
2BV BIE AR S EER — MR
BE 2 R (FFeE27) ©

BERAKREREMEZE-TFHBENSE
203§ °
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15 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

15 H&EW*E(H)

Fair value hierarchy AEEEER
The following table illustrates the fair value measurement TREEAEEREME L AT EETE
hierarchy of the Group's investment properties: EM

Fair value measurement as at
31 December 2019 using
R-ZB-NE+=ZA=+—-HBERUT

FRZAVEENE

Quoted Significant Significant

prices in observable  unobservable

active markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

EXTER EBEAFTEER

ERHERE BABE BABE
(%-R) (F=R) (B=R) ast
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TRET TRET TRET TR

NTERZEFH

Recurring fair value measurement for:

APEEHE

Residential properties in Hong Kong EREEEME - - 188,000 188,000

Commercial properties in South Korea EETEESIES - - 588,838 588,838
- - 776,838 776,838

Fair value measurement as at
31 December 2018 using
RZE-NF+_A=+—HERUT

RREZRAFHEEHE

Quoted Significant Significant

prices in observable  unobservable

active markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

BRAEE EATAER

RETISRE BARE BABE
(F—4) (5=8/) (B=R) st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT THT THT

NTRRZEEM

Recurring fair value measurement for:

NEEERE :
Residential properties in Hong Kong EBEEmE = = 251,200 251,200
Commercial properties in South Korea [EEESEL)ES = = 974,314 974,314
- - 1,225,514 1,225,514

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value FAF-REF _RzBETEQTEE
AECHEE TEEAYELRE=RZIE

into or out of Level 3. W °

measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers
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B 5 B B
15 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 15 HEWE (8)
Reconciliation of fair value measurement categorised within RAFEEERE=ARNDEZ2AFEE
Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy: TR
Hong Kong Korea
Bk BE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT
Carrying amount at 1 January 2018 R-B—N\E—-F—HBZKREAE 62,900 783,011
Transfer from property, plant and equipment #EE Y% « = LK

(Note 14) (P £ 14) - 83,068
Transfer to property, plant and equipment EEREYIE - BE NEE

(Note 14) (Mi5E14) = (45,728)
Acquisition of assets and liabilities (Note 32) W& E R & & (Mi3E32) 188,000 -
Changes in fair value recognised in PRI RER A FEE

the statement of profit or loss 1 300 214,860
Exchange realignment RS - (60,897)
Carrying amount at 31 December 2018 and R=-ZE—N\&+=ZA=+—HEK

at 1 January 2019 —E-NF-A—BZEEE 251,200 974,314
Additions NE - 699
Transfer from property, plant and equipment  EEE Y% - & L&

(Note 14) (MI5E14) - 31,631
Transfer to property, plant and equipment EEEYE R MR - (134,702)
Transfer to owner-occupied properties EREE (AW - (2,013)
Disposals HE (61,000) -
Changes in fair value recognised in IR RER A FEE

the statement of profit or loss & (2,200) (239,557)
Exchange realignment BE o, 2 - (41,534)
Carrying amount at 31 December 2019 N=-B-—hF+=—A=+—H

ZERMEE 188,000 588,838
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 15 HEWE (H)
Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and the TR EMEEER IR AER
key inputs to the valuation of investment properties: EREEWABIE
Valuation Significant
techniques unobservable inputs Range of unobservable inputs
EER % EXTUBERAYUE TUBERBANBEE
2019 2018
—B-NE —E-N\F
1 e e
Residential properties Direct comparison Adjusted market value 50,800 26,100 to 51,400
— Hong Kong (HK$/square feet) (Note i)
FEME—FE BELBE RRETSEE 50,800 26,100 % 51,400

B/ FHR) (K& 1)

Commercial properties Income capitalisation ~ — Monthly Market Unit Rental 7,000 to 60,000 8,000 to 50,000
— South Korea approach (KRW/square meter) (Note ii)

— Discount rate (Note iii) 5.5% 4% to 5%

[GES/E Sl WAERLE — M5B AHER 7,000 E 60,000 8,000 & 50,000
(BB /TR (M)

— R = (ML iii) 5.5% 4% % 5%
Notes: BT -
(i) The higher the market unit rate, the higher the fair value. [0) TEEMNERES  ATLEESS -
(ii) The higher the market rent, the higher the fair value. (i) TERASHS  AFEEES -
(iii)  The higher the capitalisation rate, the lower the fair value. iy BAMeERYS RFEEBE-
Valuation technique HER*E
Fair values of residential properties in Hong Kong are generally EBEEYEZ AT EBE—MBIATELR
derived using direct comparison method. The fair value is SEET e AP EEINERABIREHE Y
estimated using assumption regarding the market value of the BUMETEZBEmMELRGEEr o 5™
similar properties of the investment properties. A significant Bz @ARKBEN R eEREFBEE
increase/decrease in the estimated market value in isolation W 7 N EBEARIE I D o

would result in a significant increase/decrease in the fair values
of residential properties in Hong Kong.

Fair value of commercial properties in South Korea are generally FEETEEME T AN EEE AU AE KN
derived using the income capitalisation approach. The net present {BJEEETE o WAR 2 FIRE - NER R
value of the income stream is estimated by applying an BEfEEE 2 EE I E EmIER Gt -

appropriate discount rate which reflects the risk profile.
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LEASE
The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for various items of leasehold
land, buildings and facilities used in its operations. Lease of a
leasehold land has a lease term of 25 years (disposed in early
termination during the year), leases of buildings and facilities
generally have lease terms between 1 and 5 years while leases
of facilities generally have lease terms of 6 years. Other
buildings and facilities generally has lease terms of 12 months
or less and/or is individually of low value.

16 HME
AEEEREABEA

AEEHAEHELEMAZSRBELH -
BFEREBRBZHEAN -HELTMZ
HHMABLF(RFARRRER LD R
g) HEBFAREZEH-—ENF1E
54 MEERECHA-—RB6F - K
BT RREZEA—RB12EAIIAT
&/ S AR BIEEE -

(a) Right-of-use assets (a) FEHEEE
The carrying amounts of the Group's right-of-use assets AEENFEAEEERTFELRN
and the movements during the year are as follows: FEZEFHOT
Leasehold
land Buildings Facilities Total
HELTi BF H i #@gt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THET THET THET
|
As at 1 January 2019 R-E-h&—-A—H 605,853 62,577 64,780 733,210
Additions NE - 2,786 - 2,786
Depreciation charge TEEH (17,121) (22,374) (11,085) (50,580)
Disposals on early RERLTHASHEE
termination of land lease (597,096) - - (597,096)
Exchange realignment M 3, 8,364 149 (2,722) 5,791
As at 31 December 2019 R=B-h5F
t=HA=+-H - 43,138 50,973 94,111
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16 LEASE (continued) 16 HE (%)
The Group as a lessee (continued) AEEEREAHEA (BE)
(b) Lease liabilities (b) HEEE
The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the HEBERAAERFRESHOT :
movements during the year are as follows:
2019
—EB-hEF
Lease liabilities
HEERE
HK$'000
FET
' _____|
Carrying amount at 1 January W—A—BREE 604,993
New leases A4 2,758
Accretion of interest recognised during the year & ARERF|E1E N 57,642
Payments (L (23,606)
Disposals on early termination of land lease RELIE LA EREE (566,842)
Exchange realignment DE 5 2 5,756
Carrying amount at 31 December R+-—A=+—BREE 80,701
' _____|
Analysed into: XV
Current portion BVERER > 38,777
Non-current portion FEENERER 41,924
' _____|
The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note MEAREINH A DTG E M H
28 to the consolidated financial statements. M 5E 28 R FE o
(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to (c) HHEERE=mERIESHENAT :

leases are as follows:

2019
—EB-hF
HK$'000
THET
Interest on lease liabilities HEBENE 57,642
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets FREEENEER 50,580
Expense relating to short-term leases and RS THBR - —NF
other leases with remaining lease terms +ZA=+—BskZRiKIEZ &
ended on or before 31 December 2019 HEREMBE 2%
(included in other operating expenses) (GtAHMZEER) 2,801
Expense relating to leases of low-value assets BRERKEBEEEMRE 2
(included in other operating expenses) (GTAHMbEEER) 5,539
Total amount recognised in profit or loss RIBRHER BT 116,562
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LEASE (continued)

The Group as a lessor

The Group leases its investment properties (Note 15) consisting

of several commercial properties in Korea under operating

lease arrangements. The terms of the leases generally require

the tenants to pay security deposits and provide for periodic

rent adjustments according to the then prevailing market

conditions. Rental income recognised by the Group during the

year was approximately HK$12,158,000 (2018: approximately

HK$18,266,000).

At 31 December 2019, the undiscounted lease payments

receivables by the Group in future periods under non-

cancellable operating leases with its tenants are as follows:

16

8 (4)
AEBEREBEAA

AEBRESEHELHEAEHRENE
(Bﬁ%‘ﬂS) BIEERETHRAYE - BE
BR—BIMERBEZHRES - WRE
EE.HI /REHJ%DH%FE}_ AN B A F AR
R 2 & WA #12,158,00008 T (= &
— J\5F : 4918,266,0007% 7T ) °

R-ZZ-NE+-_A=+t—8 AKER
EEREMEPRI 2 PAMEHEEHEER R
REARUE 2 REAREEFIAMT -

2019 2018
ZE-AFE ZE)N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHAT

. _______________________|
Within one year —FE R 4,392 9,534
After one year but within two years —FEBRREN 3,899 8,912
After two years but within three years MERBR=FA 3,256 8,347
After three years but within four years =FRERNFA 1,809 7,004
After four years but within five years WERERAEFA 1,345 3,896
After five years AFE 1,229 8,102
15,930 45,795
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i BB R Wi
17 GOODWILL 17 i
HK$'000
T
At 1 January 2018: R=ZB-NF—HF—H8:
Cost AR 5,798
Accumulated impairment 2ERE -
Net carrying amount BREDFE 5,798
Cost at 1 January 2018, REZB-NF-—A—-BZR&
net of accumulated impairment HIBR REHRVE 5,798
Exchange realignment BE 7 A (231)
At 31 December 2018 R=B-—N\E+=A=+—H 5,567
At 31 December 2018 : R-E—N\F+=ZA=+—H:
Cost AR 5,567
Accumulated impairment 2ERE -
Net carrying amount BREDFE 5,567
Cost at 1 January 2019, R-ZB-hE—A—HZRAE
net of accumulated impairment Mk RHRE 5,567
Exchange realignment M 5 38 B (231)
Cost and net carrying amount R-ZB—NFE+-_A=+—HBZ
at 31 December 2019 AR R BREFE 5,336
At 31 December 2019: R=FB-hF+=HA=+—8:
Cost [B%N 5,336
Accumulated impairment 2EHRE -
Net carrying amount REDFE 5,336
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17 GOODWILL (continued) 17 i (41)
Impairment tests of goodwill BERENR
Goodwill acquired through business combination is allocated to BREBAEHESIHESEEBRER
the Gaming business cash generating unit (the “Gaming CGU") LeEFrEU((BEEBRSELEE
for impairment testing. firl) - BUETTRERIR -
The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to the cash- NEEERSELEM 7 HEREEBERAT :
generated unit is as follows:
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT THET
Gaming Business [EEZ 37 5,336 5,567
Gaming CGU BERZELE N
The recoverable amount of the Gaming CGU has been BYReEASEMN 2 REEEHRES
determined by value-in-use calculations using cash flow BEREN A AFYBHEEFESLZ
projections based on financial budgets covering a five-year REeRETER @ REBEBEAEELERE °
period approved by senior management. The management BEREREG  stEITIATR Kb B (LR
considered the calculation based on the current condition and PSR EMAREH ) RE%E - hETEH
location at Jeju Shinhwa World, South Korea. The calculations B A BRMEEMT AR EERA A
was reviewed by independent qualified valuer, BMI Appraisals EH o sTEFTAEE/RMT ¢

Limited. The key assumptions used for the calculation are as
follows:

Year ended 31 December

BE+-—A=+—HLEE

2019 2018

—E-hF —E-N\F
ey

Growth rate of revenue Yy 2518 R &= 51.98% 10.58%

Pre-tax discount rate BrE BT IR = 19.3% 23.3%

Terminal growth rate ARG R R 3% 3%
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GOODWILL (continued)
Impairment tests of goodwill (continued)
Gaming CGU (continued)

The following describes each key assumption on which
management has based its cash flow projections to undertake
impairment testing of goodwill:

— Average annual growth rate of revenue was determined
based on past performance and its expectations of market
development. For the year ended 31 December 2019, the
revenue of the Gaming Business was approximately
HK$213,117,000 (2018: approximately HK$1,486,660,000),
representing a decrease of approximately 85.7% when
compared to the year ended 31 December 2018. It is
expected that the performance of Gaming CGU will
recover gradually to the historical levels and maintain a
steady growth rate in long run upon the implementation
of on-going strategy by the management with terminal
growth rate of 3% after five years.

—  The discount rates are used with reference to the current
market data for the relevant industry and comparable
companies.

—  Terminal growth rates are used with reference to South
Korea's average inflation rate in the past five years.

The values assigned to the above key assumptions are
consistent with external information sources.

In respect to the Gaming Business, no impairment was
recognised in relation to the goodwill during the year ended 31
December 2019.

The recoverable amount of Gaming CGU in Jeju, South Korea
calculated based on value in use exceeded the carrying value.
The increase in discount rate of Gaming CGU in Jeju, South
Korea by 1 percentage point (2018: 1 percentage point) would
not remove the remaining headroom.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i A A AR Mk

18 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 18 WIEEE
Gaming
Trademarks licenses Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TART TiERr THET
(Note)
(BsE)
31 December 2018 “E-N\E+=ZA=1+-H
At 1 January 2018: RZB-N\§-A-H:
Cost AR 1,944 870,571 872,575
Accumulated deprecation Bl (17) = (17)
Net Carrying amount REFE 1,927 870,571 872,498
Cost at 1 January 2018, net of RZE-NE—A—RAZKE -
accumulated amortisation b 2188 1,927 870,571 872,498
Additions NE 315 71,234 71,549
Amortisation provided during the year FEHERE 216) = (216)
Exchange realignment [EH AR 79) (35,604) (35,683)
At 31 December 2018 R=B-NF+=A=+—-H 1,947 906,201 908,148
At 31 December 2018: R-ZB-NE+=RA=+—-H1:
Cost XA 2,177 906,201 908,378
Accumulated amortisation ESa (230) = (230)
Net carrying amount REFE 1,947 906,201 908,148
31 December 2019 “E-NE+=ZA=1+-H
Cost at 1 January 2019, net of RZZ-NE-RA—BZBA -
accumulated amortisation bR 2585 1,947 906,201 908,148
Additions NE 613 - 613
Amortisation provided during the year FREBHEE (27) - (271)
Exchange realignment BN AR (79) (37,569) (37,648)
At 31 December 2019 R-BE-hE+=-A=+—-H 2,210 868,632 870,842
At 31 December 2019: R=ZB-NE+=A=+-R:
Cost PR 2,702 868,632 871,334
Accumulated amortisation RErEHE (492) - (492)
Net carrying amount RS E 2,210 868,632 870,842

fisE : BIERAEBRAERFRE - AEHF
ERESHN - BRREELEM 2 AIKEE
B E M IERARME 17 R EERE
BEFtEmMERE -

Note: Gaming licenses with indefinite useful lives are subjected to annual
impairment review. The recoverable amounts of the Gaming CGU
were determined based on value-in-use calculations as disclosed in
note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.
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S 5 R A B i
EQUITY INVESTMENTS DESIGNATED AT 19  $5 € %5 #& 2 °F A 5 A H fth 2 i
FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER W i 2 JE B
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHERT FHET
Equity investments designated at fair value  #EERERAFEEFAHMEE
through other comprehensive income Wiz RERE
Listed equity investments, at fair value ETRARERE
BAFEE 35,846 80,336
The above equity investments are investments in companies FHRERE RRER T LT AR 2K
listed on the Stock Exchange and were irrevocably designated B FHRAEERRLEREBREML
at fair value through other comprehensive income as the Group B - Pt RERE R AIEE IS TE R iR
considers these investments to be strategic in nature. NEEBESAEMEERE
During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group received BHE-_Z-NAE+_A=T—RHILFE -
dividends of approximately HK$699,000 (2018: approximately AEBHEEARATEEFAEMEE
HK$897,000) from the equity investments designated at fair W g 2 MR i 1R & W ER AR B 49 699,0007% 7T
value through other comprehensive income. —Z=— )\ : 49897,000/87T) °
The fair value of the Group's long term investment at the date RZEFEHBHREAMERS  *EEK
of approval of there consolidated financial statements was HAR & 7 BRTE{E XY 4 29,123,000 7T °

approximately HK$29,123,000.
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20 PRE

PAYMENTS, TRADE AND OTHER

20 TFEPFSRIE - W Sk I B L fth

RECEIVABLES Wk I8
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Trade receivables TEUWE 55018 28,688 35,993
Less: Loss allowance for impairment of o FEUE 5 FIE

trade receivables Z R EEIE R A (11,980) (10,552)
Trade receivables, net (Note (i) FEWE S8 - EEE (BT )) 16,708 25,441
Receivables from gaming customers RIS = P 20| (M RE (i)

(Note (ii)) 4,548 216,113
Other receivables (Note (iii)) E b i U R IE (B RE Gii)) 489,388 34,049
Prepayments BT RIE 336,004 409,961
Value-added tax recoverable ] Y [B] 125 5 7,266 22,905
Deposits = 19,032 38,124
Restricted deposit for non-current JEENERE E 2 SR &I TF X

borrowings 66,680 93,546
Prepaid lease payment AN HEERIE - 99,407

939,626 939,546
Less: Non-current portion & FERNEAEL (113,773) (510,778)
Current portion BN ERER 5 825,853 428,768

Notes:

(i)

Trade receivables

The Group's trading terms with its trade customers are mainly on
credit, except for new customers, where payment in advance is
normally required. The credit period is generally one month,
extending up to three months for major customers. Each customer
has a maximum credit limit. The Group seeks to maintain strict control
over its outstanding receivables to minimise credit risk and overdue
balances are reviewed regularly by senior management. In view of the
aforementioned and the fact that the Group's trade receivables relate
to a large number of diversified customers, there is no significant
concentration of credit risk. The Group does not hold any collateral or
other credit enhancements over its trade receivable balances. Trade
receivables are non-interest bearing.

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of loss allowance,
is as follows:

() EREZHKE

AEEBREEFEPZEAGHRIERE
B EMEPRKRIN EP —REAREN
Ko FEH—KAE—EA EEFFPALER
E=AA - BERPHURERFEERHE -
N 62 B 3RO A 1 R 428 1) EL R R ) R LR
B UEREREERERR  MaERAS
REEABRTEHRE o SR XX kA%
BZRKESFREREDHEFARM K
TEEEAGTHEERR - AEEWEHLE
&Y B 5 SRR RS fh R A (4R I ST
HA R ERERE - BB SFIATEE -

RBEHREER - ZEREAHRMGRER
BRERZEEESFIEREDITAT

2019 2018
—2-nE —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
T T

Within 30 days 30BA 16,381 22,371
31 to 60 days 31£260H 40 488
61 to 90 days 61290H 10 345
Over 90 days 90 B A E 277 2,237

16,708 25,441
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20 PREPAYMENTS, TRADE AND OTHER 20 TFEFFSRIE - R S Ak I B L fth
RECEIVABLES (continued) ok I (%)
Notes: (continued) feE : (48)
(i) Trade receivables (continued) 0] FE Uk & 5 200 (4E)
The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade FEWE 5B R EEEREEEHIT -
receivables are as follows:
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FHET
R ———
At beginning of year RELD 10,552 -
Impairment losses recognised, net B ERER - JF58 1,859 10,552
Exchange realignment RNk (431) =
At end of year RER 11,980 10,552
R ——
The Group applies a simplified approach in calculating expected REBRAGEAEAEEREESE - ©
credit losses. An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting B B HE R BRI EETRED TN
date using a loss rate approach to measure expected credit losses. STEEHEEEIE - BEXEIREZEER
The provision rates are based on a number of factors which include (i) BT HPEBEOESAZEREK  ()VEF
debtors’ ageing; (ii) historical repayment behavior of debtors; (iii) ABEBRITA: (WAEEASEMER
other debtors’ specific information available to the Group; (iv) ABEBER : (VREREZ 8« K(v)
likelihood of recovery; and (v) taking into account prevailing and ZERIECERBIGEEBAZIEERAK
future economic conditions which are relevant for credit risk KERN - EERRSBLD AR - AR
assessment. The credit risk categorisation is adjusted to reflect RABBERZBEER  BERBAERHREE
subsequent information uncovered to an extent that such information ZFEE BTG 2 BB RAEIEER -
provides evidence of conditions existed as at the year end date and T8 HA &5 18 3 T AR R 4R E 5 M ) =R 5 B AT Uk
forward-looking information. The expected loss rates are estimated oz R S IREMET ©

166

based on the expected cash flows that can be recovered based on
historical recovery ratios.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the LATR #0511 B AN & (B e U B 5 SR IA {3 AR B
Group's trade receivable using a provision matrix: BEBNEERREER
As at 31 December 2019 R=-ZB-—hFE+=A=+—H
Past due
B
Within 30 days ~ 31to 60 days  61to90days  Over 90 days Total
30BMA 31Z60H 61Z90H #BiB90H mat
' |
Expected credit loss rate ~ FEHIEEEIEXR 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 97.73% 41.76%
Gross carrying amount frEmeE(TErL)
(HK$'000) 16,380 40 10 12,258 28,688
Expected credit THEEER
losses (HK'000) (FBxT) - - - 11,980 11,980
' |
As at 31 December 2018 R=-TB—-NF+=-A=+—8H
Past due
#H
Within 30 days 31 to 60 days 61 to 90 days Over 90 days Total
30HA 31ZE60H 61E90H 2B 90 B st
' ' ]
Expected credit loss rate ~ FBHEIZEEIER 0.00% 0.00% 65.12% 81.58% 29.32%
Gross carrying amount ARE4(E (FAT)
(HK$'000) 22,371 488 989 12,145 35,993
Expected credit HHREEEE
losses (HK'000) (F7&7) = - 644 9,908 10,552
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20 PREPAYMENTS, TRADE AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(ii)

Receivables from gaming customers

The Group's trading terms with gaming customers are mainly on
credit. The credit term is generally 30 days for gaming operations.
Each gaming customer has a maximum credit limit. Overdue balances
are reviewed regularly by the management. At the end of the
reporting period, the Group has certain concentration of credit risk as
1% (2018: 2%) and 6% (2018: 8%) of the Group's gaming receivables
were due from the Group's largest gaming customer and the five
largest gaming customers, respectively. Gaming receivables are non-

20 TFEFFSRIE - R Sk I B L ith
Wk I (4)

BfaE (8D
(i) EREREFRE

AEBHEBEEF 2R EREBRGE
- BREB2EEH—MKANB-F
EZRERFERERREERE - EREE
HAtRET M HARR TR o MIRE IR - ANEERLIE
WAEBZABYEEFRAABERFZ
REEAEETEESTRRE © 2REREER
B RERZIEZ 1%(ZF—)\F : 2%) & 6%
(ZZ—\F : 8%) o HF B UBRRI T 51

A

interest-bearing. Bo
The ageing analysis of the receivables from gaming customers as at RREHRAE R  REZHHRNKRER
the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of BEB2Y v ENBEEREERIBERERER ST
loss allowance, is as follows: m
2019 2018
—E-hF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET THIT
Within 30 days 0EA 607 30,384
31 to 60 days 31E60H - 4,071
67 to 90 days 61£90H - -
Over 90 days 90H A E 3,941 181,658
4,548 216,113

Receivables from gaming customers include receivables from
individual gaming players, which are interest-free and repayable on
demand. These balances are granted with reference to their credit
history and track record settlement.

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of gaming
receivables are as follows:

EREEEFPRBABEENBYEE &
Woks - BRRIER R B MR ERERE -
REEBRDESEREZEERERER
BHEEEMR L

SR RUGRERERE R EESHINT

2019 2018

—E-hE —E-N\F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHExT FHET

At beginning of year REHD 190,477 138,003
Impairment losses, net MEETE - FE 155,023 76,438
Exchange realignment FEE 5 ZE 2R 953 (23,964)
At end of year REXR 346,453 190,477

As at 31 December 2019, receivables from gaming customers
amounting to approximately HK$346,453,000 (2018: approximately
HK$190,477,000) were impaired and fully provided for.

The Group applies a simplified approach in calculating expected
credit losses. An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting
date using a loss rate approach provision matrix to measure expected
credit losses. The provision rates are based on a number of factors
which include (i) debtors’ ageing; (i) historical repayment behavior of
debtors; (iii) other debtors’ specific information available to the
Group; and (iv) current industry conditions and future economic
outlook which are relevant for credit risk assessment. The credit risk
categorisation is adjusted to reflect subsequent information
uncovered to an extent that such information provides evidence of
conditions existed as at the year end date and forward-looking
information. The expected loss rates are estimated based on the
expected cash flows that can be recovered based on historical
recovery ratios.

R-ZT—hE+-A=+—0 EURBEE
FRUIB#)346,453,0008 70 (ZF— /)\F : 4
190,477,000 7% 7T ) B IRE R 1EE B -

REBERABCTEATEEREESE - R©
ZHRE B A B IR ROA BB R ETR
EAMAGTEEREEEIE - BERTIIRE
ZERNEETE  EPBEN)EBAZER
(VEBABTERITA  (INAEEAFE
L EBAFEER  Riv)BEERBRTE
BEAZERITERDRARLEENS - 58
FERR D EEE AR - AR LRI B8
ER BESEERREEEFEEMTTE
W12 BIE AT AR - FEHEER TR
ﬁg%iW@ﬁﬁﬁﬂWEZE%ﬁﬁﬁ
Z=l[al ©
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R WA 25 R i
20 PREPAYMENTS, TRADE AND OTHER 20 TFEFFSRIE - R Sk I B L ith
RECEIVABLES (continued) Wk I (4)
Notes: (continued) MaE : (48)
(if) Receivables from gaming customers (continued) (ii) EWEEEFERE (&)
Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the AT #5175 B8 AN 5 B e S 2 %5 = AR AR
Group's gaming receivable using a provision matrix: AREEENEERRINER -
As at 31 December 2019 R-B-—hE+=-A=+—8H
Past due
gl
Within 30 days  31to 60 days 61to90days Over 91 days Total
30HR 31260H 61290 H BiE91A 5y
" e
Expected credit loss rate  JEEHE B 1= 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 98.88% 98.70%
Gross carrying amount  BREIAA(E (F7B7T)
(HK$'000) 607 - - 350,394 351,001
Expected credit TRHEEEE
losses (HK'000) (F#&T) - - - 346,453 346,453
e e e
As at 31 December 2018 R=-B—-NFE+=-HA=+—H
Past due
pag ]
Within 30 days  31to 60days  61to90days  Over 91 days Total
30EA 31Z60H 61Z90H B H st
e e
Expected credit loss rate  FEHAE BB R 6.60% 6.60% 0.00% 50.86% 46.85%
Gross carrying amount  BREI#A(E (F757T)
(HK$'000) 32,531 4,359 - 369,700 406,590
Expected credit TRHEEEE
losses (HK'000) (FE7T) 2,147 288 - 188,042 190,477
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i A A AR Mk

20 PREPAYMENTS, TRADE AND OTHER 20 TFEPFSRIE - R Sk I B L fth
RECEIVABLES (continued) ok I (%)
Notes: (continued) MaE : (48)
(i)  Other receivables (i) EHiEWRIE
Included in the Group’s (i) other receivables are loans and loan T AREE () b RN IE AEUCB L =
interest receivables from independent third parties and (i) other FRZERREZME R ) EREBEAZEH
receivables from debtors in non-trade nature amounting to HRIEBIEE HIEE - 5 R4 4 422,291,000
approximately HK$422,291,000 (2018: Nil) and HK$67,097,000 (2018: BI(ZT—\F : )% 67,097,000 7T(=
approximately HK$34,049,000), respectively. T—\4F : 4934,049,000%7T) °
The movements in impairment allowance of other receivables are as H b e BB E RS 2 BT
follows:
2019 2018
—E-NF —ZEN\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
R S S ——
At beginning of year F4) - =
Impairment losses recognised BRI (E B 18 24,501 =
Exchange realignment T 5, A& (366) =
At end of year FIR 24,135 =
R S S ——
In the opinion of the directors, the impairment of HK$24,501,000 BERE ARENRERAERTKARE
(2018: Nil) was specific in nature which was considered in default due IEAR(ER & A2 5 - HMUR{E 24,501,000 78
to indicators which showed that the Group was unlikely to receive the T(ZE-N\F: E)BEEME -HTH
outstanding contractual amount. Expected credit losses on the R IB AT 2 BB EE BB DEAE
remaining other receivables balances are estimated by applying a loss BEREAKD2EREE L BEBRLHIEDL
rate approach with reference to historical loss record of the Group. HE - ERNBABERGEREERE &%
Based on historical loss records and economic conditions, the WA BT EMEKEIE B EEEEM
directors are of the opinion that the expected credit losses on the FEY -

(iv)

remaining other receivables are minimal.

Other than trade receivables, gaming receivables and other (iv) B BURBTEEG) « (i) R (i) TR 2 B E 5
receivables specified in note (i), (ii) and (i), respectively, the financial FIE -~ 1 R GRIE & E A FEURERIB AN ¢ 5T
assets included in the above balances relates to receivables for which A bt 584 2 B 16 8 B BRI N E A R
there was no recent history of default and past due amounts. As at 31 BHIRIARC S RN FIARRE - R=ZZT—N
December 2019 and 2018, the loss allowance was assessed to be FER-_Z—N\E+_A=+—8 ' EaEE
minimal. fhEt A
The carrying amounts of the Group's prepayments, trade and other NEFEFENZRIE - NS S5 E0E R H 4 RE
receivables approximated their fair values and are denominated in the $IE Y BEE (AR A BERE - AT
following currencies: MR
2019 2018
—E-NE —TN\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
R S S ——
HK$ BT 20,143 23,328
Renminbi AR 422,305 1,781
KRW P2 [E 177,191 469,895
us$ e 311,316 304,531
Others HAth 8,671 140,011
939,626 939,546
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22 /A
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21

170

W 4 i
PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT 21 #HEEPWE
2019 2018
ZE-NF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHBT
At the beginning of the year READ 248,105 260,448
Additions NS 287 3,578
Transfer to completed properties for sale EREHECERKTE (1,931) (8,639)
Exchange realignment I 5 AR (9,680) (7,282)
At the end of the year RER 236,781 248,105
Properties under development comprise: BRPMERRE
Construction cost and other capitalised RERAREME R RS
expenditures 110,620 115,540
Interest capitalised BRI B 16,559 16,559
Land use rights —+ b {55 FA A 109,602 116,006
Properties under development expected to be FBERGABRE—F &I [E 2
recovered beyond more than one year BRI 236,781 248,105
. _______________________________________________! __________________________|
The analysis of land costs with an aggregate net carrying AR R Y% 2 i K S 5 R BR T RE
amount included in properties under development is as follows: EEE Y ST ¢
2019 2018
—E-hF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHERT T
. ________________________________________________!_ ______________________________|
South Korea [
Freehold land KAFERE T 109,602 116,006
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R B R M
22 COMPLETED PROPERTIES FOR SALE 22 fECERME
2019 2018
—E-hF —T—)\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FHAT
Completed properties for sale comprise: FEEERWERR
Construction cost and other capitalised BEKRANEME RS
expenditures 919,918 1,011,277
Interest capitalised B A B 28,722 31,368
Land use rights + b (s A AE 33,893 38,305
Completed properties for sale expected to be FEEf A —FAWE 2 FEE
recovered within one year SRR 982,533 1,080,950

The analysis of land costs with an aggregate net carrying
amount included in completed properties for sale is as follows:

FAFEDERYEZ LKA ERERE
FERRE AT

2019 2018
—B-hE —EN\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FET

A
KA

South Korea
Freehold land

33,893 38,305

The Group's completed properties held for sale are located in
South Korea. All completed properties held for sale are stated
at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, cost of completed
properties for sale amounted to approximately HK$67,491,000
(2018: approximately HK$146,555,000) were recognised as cost
of inventories sold.

At 31 December 2019, the Group's completed properties for
sale with a carrying value of approximately HK$951,074,000
(2018: approximately HK$1,080,950,000) were pledged to secure
general banking facilities granted to the Group (Note 27).

Further particulars of the Group's completed properties for sale
are included on page 203.

AEBEZGFECERMEMRERE - 1B
FECBRRMERR AR ZIHFE R
EEDIRR -

BE_T-NWFt+=-A=+—HItFE"
FEEERMEZKABREEETEK
AN 467,491,000 (=& — )\ F : 4
146,555,000/ 7T) °

R-E—NF+-_A=+—H XEEER
HE{E#9951,074,0008 L (=T —/\F : 49
1,080,950,00078 7T ) < fF & B & B ¥ % 4K
ERAEEER —MRRITHE 2 R (K
$E27) °

AEBEFECERMEZE—FHIFER
%2038 °
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23

24

172

S 5 e i
INVENTORIES 23 #8
2019 2018
—EB-hEF —F-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTERT THETT
Raw materials B 58,343 63,010
Finished goods 2URK T 18,092 29,034
76,435 92,044
FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 24 FRA-PEMER AR 2 5 % E
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
2019 2018
—E-hE ZT)N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET THETT
Other unlisted investments, at fair value HEiIE EmRE AT EE 2,51 -
As at 31 December 2019, the above unlisted investments were R NFE+—B=+—08 " tuidk L
wealth management products issued by a bank in Mainland TR E A — B ANMRTRT 0 e
China. They were classified as financial assets at fair value SIED c MREANBE L mE N IEM
through profit or loss as their contractual cash flows are not YRS RFE o EAEATEBES
solely payments of principal and interest. MBI IREFE o
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25

S 5 e i

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

25 Bl RkBlEFHED

2019 2018

—E-hE —E2—)\F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FETT

Cash and bank balances W& RIRTTHEER 362,881 1,076,391
Short-term time deposits HHITE BBTE R 35,152 22,068
Cash and cash equivalent RERIREEEY 398,033 1,098,459

As at 31 December 2019, bank deposits amounting to
approximately HK$27,000 (2018: approximately HK$67,000) were
denominated in RMB and kept in banks in Mainland China.
These RMB are not freely convertible into other currencies.
However, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is
permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for
varying periods of between 1 day and 3 months depending on
the immediate cash requirements of the Group, and earn
interest at the respective short term time deposit rates. The
bank balances and short-term time deposits are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

Cash and cash equivalents are denominated in the following

N_E-NF+ZA=+—H8  RITEX
#127,00078 T (—F — /\ 4 : 467,000
T RARBEELFARBERMIERTT
ARBAA AL B ASEMER - A -
R B A SNE B IR (R P - DA R AEEE
EEMMETERE  AREELELE
REETINERGER ZRITHARKERL

RITRERBARTEARNRAE 228
M RBRERA S - AT ERZ RS
BE3EATE  RIEAKEZARRS
FBRME - W& B 2 HIE RERN =X
REAR - RITASRMEHERERFR
REE R BT HIN B8 )R8k 2 SRTT ©

RekReFEBWATIIEEE :

currencies:

2019 2018

—E-hFE ZE)N\F

HK$'000 HK$'000

THT FHIT
! ! /|

HK$ BT 11,707 388,354

RMB AR 115 5,781

GBP HEE 723 13,926

KRW B2 [E 205,574 301,910

us$ ETT 4,538 385,110

PHP JFREER 175,015 2,057

Others Hih 361 1,321

398,033 1,098,459
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TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

26 AT B 5y ak I B L Ath B A5k sk JE

2019 2018
—2-nE —B-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FABT
Trade payables (Note (i) FERTE 5 a8 (3 () 5124 4,580
Deposit received 2UETE 18,706 29,084
Deferred revenue RIEW ES 1,901 6,597
Accrued expenses FEETF > 95,261 187,633
Accrued employee benefits EEtE EEH 73,783 82,274
Other tax payables HAh A TR 161,580 397,633
Other payables (Note (ii)) H i P A< R I (PR (i) 140,268 203,256
Contract liabilities SRBRE 51,372 109,802
547,995 1,020,859
Less: Non-current portion o JERNERES (37,577) (49,832)
Current portion BNHEAER 5 510,418 971,027
e —
Notes: B -
(i) An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of reporting 0] RBERR - AEERBERRAHZENE
period, based on the invoice date, is as follows: SHEZ R DTAAT ¢
2019 2018
—Z-NF —ZT-)N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
R S ——
Within 30 days 308 5,124 4,580
S ——
Trade payables are non-interest bearing. ERESHELARS °
(i) Other payables are non-interest bearing and have an average term of (i)  EtENRERSTE - FHERAER -
1 month.
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ERA BA B R M RE
26 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued) 26 AT Bk Y B b JE A5 sk I (%)
Trade and other payables are denominated in the following B E 5508 R HA A FIB TS &%
currencies: 5HE
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
HK$ ABIT 78,456 7,864
RMB AR 8,579 5,236
KRW ZE 435,111 1,004,514
SGD IN% T 25,644 112
Others Hih 205 3,133
547,995 1,020,859
27 INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 27 B EERAT R H AL E
BORROWINGS
2019 218
Z5-hE “E-)\%
Effective Effective
interest rate Maturity HK$'000 interest rate Maturity HK$'000
=15k ERHE
(%) HHA TiEn (%) 5|58A T
Current B
Bank loans — secured RTER— A 5% 2020 839,199 5%-6.3% 2019 1,089,106
5E 3 SEZE63E “ENE
Other loan — secured EEx— A London Interbank 2020 19,817 London Interbank 2019 20334
Offered Rate ZBCEF Offered Rate “F-0F
(“LIBOR")+3.85% ("LIBOR")+3.85%
RIRTEERS RIFORZERS
(RBRTRE (haBTRE
KEM3ISE KEI)MISHE
859,016 1,109,440
Non-current ()
Bank loans — secured RTER— A 5% 2021-2022 1,586,938 5%-6.3% 2020-2021 694,246
5B ZE--£2 SEZ63E “5-%F%
—EoCE “E--F
Other loan — secured EfER—ER London Interbank 2021 120,957 London Interbank 20202021 149,695
Offered Rate “EC-E OfferedRate ~ —E-TE&Z
(“LIBOR")+3.85% ("LIBOR")+3.85% “EC-F
RIRTEERE BEETRERS
(B TRE (RBRTEE
KEM3LE FEI)M3SE
1,707,895 843,941
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i A A AR Mk

27 INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (continued)

27

KBTS A £ 5% ()

2019 2018
—B-hE  ZTN\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHTT
Analysed into: DT
Bank and other loans repayable: RTBIEREER 2 |17 R
H & :
Within one year —FR 859,016 1,109,440
In the second year F_F 120,957 715,918
In the third to fifth years, inclusive E=ZFnF(BEERFE) 1,586,938 128,023
2,566,911 1,953,381
Less: Amount repayable within one year W R—FAEES RS
and classified as current portion M & 58 (859,016) (1,109,440)
Amount classified as non-current portion 5l A IERNEAER » HY & BB 1,707,895 843,941

Bank and other borrowings are secured by the Group’s
property, plant and equipment amounting to approximately
HK$1,523,652,000 (2018: approximately HK$2,016,811,000) (Note
14), investment properties amounting to approximately
HK$3,936,000 (2018: Nil) (Note 15) and completed properties for
sale amounting to approximately HK$951,074,000 (2018:
approximately HK$1,080,950,000) (Note 22).

The effective interest rates of the Group's borrowings ranging
from 5.00% to 5.76% (2018: 5.00% to 6.39%) per annum. The
carrying amounts of the Group's borrowings are denominated
in the following currencies:

BITREMEEAREENE - BE LK
1%491,523,652,000/8 L (= ZF — )\ F : 4
2,016,811,0007% 7T ) (FizE14) - L E W
#93,936,0008 T (=T — )\ F : £&) (fI5E
15) R & B % #7951,074,000 % 7T

—Z— )\4F : 491,080,950,0005% 7T ) (Fff
FE22) LR o

AEBEBEEZERFFNEN F5.0EE
576B(=—Z— )\ : 500 EE639F) °
REEEE ZBRMEN NI EEHE -

2019 2018
—E-NF —E—N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THT TFHTT
! ! /|
US$ ETT 140,774 170,029
KRW B2 [E 2,426,137 1,783,352
2,566,911 1,953,381
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R B R M
28 LEASE LIABILITIES 28 MEAME
31 December 2019 1 January 2019 31 December 2018
ZE-NE
Z2-NFTZAZT-H == Z5-\§tZA=1-R
Effective Effective
interest rate Maturity HK$'000 HK$000 interest rate Maturity HK$'000
ERAE ERT=
(%) H&R TER Thr (%) gLl T
Current HE
Lease liabilties (Note 16(0) ~ BEBE(HzE160))  5.00%-1259% 2020 ®777 27,970 - - -
S00EE TBCEf
12598
Non-current FEH
Lease liabilties (Note 16(0) ~ HEBBE(HE160)) 5.00%-1259%  2020-2023 1,92 577,023 = = =
500EE  “B-REE
1259  ZB=F
80,701 604993 -
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29 DEFERRED TAX (ASSETS)/LIABILITIES

29

The movements in deferred tax assets during the year, without
taking into consideration the offsetting of balances within the

same tax jurisdiction, is as follows:

Accelerated
rental
expenses
and others

mEHe
AX KA
HK$'000
TR

Accelerated
tax
depreciation

ER I

ik
HK$'000
TR

AL BLIE (B ) i

FA - Ret RARBH DA EREATRE
HERZBAT  RERBEEZS W

T
Losses
available
for
offsetting
against
future
Accrued taxable
expenses profits
A 8
ZitHX RAZEE
HK$'000 HK$'000
THxT TExT

Others

Hit
HK$'000
TR

Total

o
HK$000
TER

At 1 January 2018 R=Z-N¥-H-H =
Deferred tax (credited)/debited  EREERIE (GTA),/

to the consolidated statement  fEREHABEE

of profit or loss during the year - (32,683) (49,878) 102,743 (26,317) (6,135)
Exchange realignment RS = 395 603 (1,242) 318 74
At 31 December 2018 and R-Z-N\%F

1 January 2019 +=ZR=+-H

E=B-1#%
—B—H - (32,288) (49,275) 101,501 (25,999) (6,061)
Deferred tax (credited)/debited & NELERB (GTA),/

to the consolidated statement Bl ZHEAEBREK

of profit or loss during the year - 31,774 47,077 (96,974) 24,840 6,717
Deferred tax credited to equity &Rz A2

during the year R - (926) - - - (926)
Exchange realignment [ER AR - 1,440 2,198 (4,527) 1,159 270
At 31 December 2019 R=Z-n%

t=A=t-H - - - - - -
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DEFERRED TAX (ASSETS)/LIABILITIES
(continued)

29 EIEBIHE(EE), Al ()

FA - Ret RARBH DA REATLRE

The movements in deferred tax liabilities during the year,

without taking into consideration the offsetting of balances HERZBRT  EXHRIBBAGBEESHN
within the same tax jurisdiction, is as follows: NE
Fair value
adjustments Others Total
ATV EEAE Hity &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET THERT

At 1 January 2018 R=-ZE—-N\E—H—H 36,204 = 36,204
Deferred tax debited/(credited) to the REREEHBERE L, (GTA)

consolidated statement of profit or loss EREBER

during the year 42,428 (8,851) 33,577
Deferred tax credited to the consolidated R ERELEFH BT A

statement of comprehensive income EREEEREGER

during the year (15,269) - (15,269)
Exchange realignment 0 i 5% (1,681) 107 (1,574)
At 31 December 2018 and R=ZB-N\F+=-A=1+—-H

1 January 2019 kK—E-hF—HF—H 61,682 (8,744) 52,938
Deferred tax (credited)/debited to the REREEHE GIA) /B

consolidated statement of profit or loss BRABEER

during the year (43,678) 24,810 (18,868)
Deferred tax credited to the consolidated R ERELEF BT A

statement of comprehensive income GeEmEbkaR

during the year (162) - (162)
Exchange realignment BE H 2R (2,605) 444 (2,161)
At 31 December 2019 R-ZB-hE+=-A=+—H 15,237 16,510 31,747

SEFNER  BETREREEENREED
R BARRRIES - LT RAEE R
s B ESRERIRARREL 2 097

For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and
liabilities have been offset in the statement of financial position.
The following is an analysis of the deferred tax balances of the
Group for financial reporting purposes:

2019 2018
—®-hE ZT)\E
HK$'000 HK$'000
T T

Net deferred tax assets recognised in the REFE T BRRKRIERZ

consolidated statement of financial position EETRIBEEFE - (38,577)

Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in the ~ FR4RA BTSN R FER
consolidated statement of financial position RIEFHIE B EFE 31,747 85,454
31,747 46,877
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DEFERRED TAX (ASSETS)/LIABILITIES
(continued)

As at 31 December 2019, deferred tax assets have not been
recognised in respect of these losses as they have arisen in
these entities that have been loss-making for some time and it
is not considered probable that taxable profits will be available
against which the tax losses can be utilised. In the prior year,
deferred tax assets are recognised for tax losses carried forward
to the extent that realisation of the related tax benefit through
the future taxable profits is probable.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had unrecognised
tax losses to be carried forward against future taxable income
amounted approximately HK$3,017,803,000 (2018: approximately
HK$1,650,063,000). Included in unrecognised tax losses are losses
of approximately HK$3,017,050,000 (2018: approximately
HK$1,649,312,000) that will expire as follows. Other losses may be
carried forward indefinitely.

29

W AEBLIE (B ), F 1 (4

REZFB-NAF+-A=1t—H dARtF
ERCEE-BREBAEZRERRTVEN
AR B A 2 BIAEE - I &t
liti';)?éﬂéﬁﬁ*’ EXETIREE - NEF - #

REHABEMERZBRERAEENE
E@fﬁﬁ%ﬂm—fﬁ REKFEARB G HEHR 2

BIAR -

RIS ER + AEE B RERAS EETIE
&5 18 A K §H R 2K FE iR %R%Z)\?%%(Zﬁ
3,017,8030007% 7o( = T — J\ F: 4
mwmﬂm%m)xﬁsmﬁﬁﬁ &
#93,017,050,0007%8 7o( = & — J\ F : 4
1,649,312,0007 7T ) KIEHE - #R T 5 FEH
EIHR o EofthE5 18 AT DA PR HRAS 62 -

2019 2018
—E-NF —\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
T FHT

! ______________________________________________' ____________________ |
2023 :2:_¢ 16,866 17,252
2024 —T g 81,597 83,570
2025 —E-REF 147,542 153,923
2026 TR REF 527,262 550,066
2027 kSl o 151,682 158,242
2028 -= _/\E 657,808 686,259
2029 —EohE 1,434,293 -
3,017,050 1,649,312

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established in
Mainland China. The requirement is effective from 1 January 2008
and applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower
withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty
between Mainland China and the jurisdiction of the foreign
investors. At 31 December 2019, no deferred tax has been
recognised for withholding taxes that would be payable on the
unremitted earnings that are subject to withholding taxes of the
Group’s subsidiaries established in Mainland China. In the
opinion of the directors, it is not probable that these subsidiaries
will distribute such earnings in the foreseeable future. The
aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries in Mainland China for which deferred
tax liabilities have not been recognised totalled approximately
HK$733,000 at 31 December 2019 (2018: Nil).
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30 SHARE CAPITAL 30 JREA
Number of Issued
shares in issue capital
BRI BET
R & A R
‘000 HK$'000
Fik FET
Authorised: B
At 1 January 2018, 31 December 2018, R=Z-N§—-HF—-8"
1 January 2019 and 31 December 2019 “E-\§tzZA=t-8"
“Z2-NF-A-HR
—E-hFE+=A=t-H 1,000,000,000 10,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITRAR
At 1 January 2018 RZZE-N\E—-F—H 147,395,275 1,473,953
Shares repurchased and cancelled (Note (a)) B E R e G (Hi5 @) (650,340) (6,503)
Share consolidation (Note (b)) Bt & 0f (Bt (b)) (143,810,037) (1,438,100)
At 31 December 2018, 1 January 2019 R-E-N\F+=-A=+—-H"
and 31 December 2019 “E-NE-A-BR
—ZE-hE+=-BA=1+—H 2,934,898 29,350

Notes:

In 2018, the Company repurchased 650,340,000 (before the effect of
Share Consolidation (defined below) which was completed on 4 July
2018) of its own shares on the Stock Exchange. The total amount paid
to repurchase the shares was HK$155,981,000 and was charged to
share premium within shareholders’ equity. Particulars of the shares
repurchased are as follows:

Number of
ordinary shares

Month of repurchase repurchased
EEE

$E A% EERHE
‘000

T

RZF—)\F ARARBREEE
650,340,000 % (R =Z— \F+ AMB =K
ZRHBEH(EER T ERED LB HH
B MBEROMINHOREALS
155,981,000 7T I B 7 B% B4 7 A A9 IR
PR ERHIBR o FIIERIRGOHFIBQAT

Purchase price

paid per share Aggregate
SRENBEE consideration
Highest Lowest paid*
541 RE ESNERKE*
HK$ HK$ HK$'000
BT BT THET

April 2018 —Z— \FmA

650,340

0.242 0.223 155,981

* Excluding brokerage and cancellation fees

On 3 July 2018, the special resolution was passed at the special
general meeting of the Company to (a) consolidate every fifty issued
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in the issued share capital of the
Company into one consolidated share (the “Consolidated Shares”) of
HK$0.50 each in the issued share capital of the Company (the “Share
Consolidation”); (b) upon completion of Share Consolidation, reduce
the issued share capital of the Company by (i) rounding down the
number of Consolidated Shares in the issued share capital of the
Company to the nearest whole number by cancelling any fraction of a
Consolidated Share in the issued share capital of the Company; and
(i) cancelling the paid up capital of the Company to the extent of
HK$0.49 on each of the issued Consolidated Shares such that the par
value of each issued Consolidated Share will be reduced from
HK$0.50 to HK$0.01 (collectively, the “Capital Reorganisation”). The
Capital Reorganisation became effective on 4 July 2018.

* NEESLREHER

RZZ—N\FLA=H  FRERRAER
ARERERIAS LEREE - B ARFE
BITRARERTREREEN EITZ
ERTEBREHRRARRERHITR
A Z R EE50E T 2 & i ([ &8
w71 ((ROEGE]) : O)RIGD A HFFEK
REVBARBEBITHA - TR () BBFE
AR R BATIRA R E R TS HID -
BARBELHETRAFZAHBRNEE R
TREEREARY : RRERESHET
B IR TE 50,497 TT AR B B AR A -
HEgRERTA RN ZEER0.50%E
THURZECON BT (MBS [EREA]) -
BASHA T\ FELAMARER -
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31 RESERVES

31 fikfh

Fair value
reserve of

financial assets

at fair value
Capital  Contributed Asset  through other
Share redemption surplus Exchange Other revaluation ~ comprehensive  Accumulated
Premium reserve (Note) reserve reserve reserve’ income losses Total
BAYEE
FARBZE
b2 RE
0N &E R&Z
ROEE EARERE (W) EXRE Hiofite EftfiE OTEERE 2itER a3t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TER TER TER TER TR TER TER TR
! ! ! ! ']
At1 January 2019 H=2-1%-A-H 6503 3460931 187552 (530277) 86,285 @B69) 703N 1457291
Loss for the year FEER - - - - - - (2,132,855 (2,132,855)
Other comprehensive income for the year: /& b 2Tz :
Transfer to accumulated losses BREZHER - - - 472 - - (472 -
Remeasurement of employee B 2RERHEL
benefit obligation - - - 2,494 - - - 2,494
Exchange differences on translation of BERINERERER
foreign operations - - (546,139) - - - - (546,139)
Revaluation of property, plant and RERERENERE(
equipment upon transfer to % BEREE
investment properties, net et - - - - 3,496 - - 3,496
Release of revaluation of investment REEZNE  HER
properties upon transfer to property, RENRERENZ
plant and equipment 281 - - - - (8915) - 8915 -
Change in fair value of equity RATEEFAL
investments at fair value through FENE REREZ
other comprehensive income ATEEEY - - - - - (44,490) - (44,490)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FEREERER - - (546,139) 2,966 (5,419) (44,490) (2,124,412) (2,717,494)
At 31 December 2019 RZB-1F
+-A=1-R 6,503* 3,460,931 (58,587)* (527,311)* 80,866 (283,169 (4,844,763) 11,855,417
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31 RESERVES (continued)

31 falifh (48)

Fair value
reserve of

financial assets

atfair value
Capital  Contributed Asset  through other
Share redemption surplus Exchange Other revaluation  comprehensive  Accumulated
Premium reserve (Note) reserve reserve reserve’ income losses Total
BRATER
AR E
Wiz iRiE
BB REZ
fRiyaE EABORE (BizE) 30 Hipfe BEERERE ATEERE ZitER @it
HK$'000 HK$/000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$/000 HK$000 HKS'000 HK$'000
TR TAL THL TR TR TAL THL TARL TEL
' ! ' ! ! ' ! | ]
At 1 January 2018 W=%8-\§-A-H 14176928 - 2,022,831 A3 12 (528,888) 85,25 - (2,018,824 14,680,424
Loss for the year ERFE - - - - - - - (701,527) (701,527)
Other comprehensive income for the year: ~ FEEM2EMNE :
Remeasurement of employee B BRERNEL
benefit obligation - - - - (1,389) - - - (1,389
Exchange differences on translation of BEENEB I ELEE
foreign operations - - - (455,569 - - - - (455,569)
Revaluation of property, plant and RERERENZRERNE
equipment upon transfer to BERRE 58
investment properties, net - - - - - 1,029 - - 1,029
Change in fair value of equity investments ~ RATFEEALf
at fair value through other 2Rk REREL
comprehensive income ATEEEY - - - - - - (238679) - (238,679)
Total comprehensive loss for the year EEXAEBRER - - - (455,569) (1,389) 1,029 (238,679) (701,527) (1,396,135
Transactions with owners in their capacity ~ UBBAGHERBEAZRS
as owners:
Repurchase and cancellation of BERZ#HERR
ordinary shares (155,981) 6,503 - - - - - - (149,478)
Consolidation of ordinary shares AfEk = = 1,438,100 = = = = = 1,438,100
(155,981) 6,503 1,438,100 - - - - - 1,288,622
At 31 December 2018 R-B-\E+-A=1-H 14,020947* 6,503 3,460,931 487 552¢ (530,277 86,285* (238,679 (2,720,351) 14,5729

Note: Contributed surplus of the Group was arisen from the Company’s

capital reorganisation.

* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated other reserves of *
HK$16,700,180,000 (2018: HK$17,293,262,000) in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity.

#

owner-occupied property to an investment property carried at fair

value.

The asset revaluation reserve arose from a change in use from an #

Mis: ARBEZHABRTDARRAREAREAM
EE -

HERBEREER AR R INAH
i £ 45 16,700,180,000 % 7T ( = & — J\ 4 :
17,293,262,0008 7T ) °

AESHREEDEARNEZREEE S
BAFBERZEEMEMESE -
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32 ACQUISITION OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 32 Mh& s & £ ik

184

On 18 July 2018, the Group acquired 100% equity interest in R-ZE—NFE+A+N\B KEERF—%
Yao Zhan Trading Limited (“Yao Zhan”) from an independent BYE=FWNEREZE SER AR (B
third party. Yao Zhan is engaged in property investment in B 225 E - REREBSNSWER
Hong Kong. ‘e
At the time of acquisition, Yao Zhan had not actively engaged RUEER - BRWEBBYEETMER -
in any business and accordingly, in the opinion of the Directors, At EFRAE - WERET NEKES
the acquisition of Yao Zhan does not constitute a business aff  EEKKEEEREE -
combination but an acquisition of assets and liabilities.
For accounting purpose, the cost of acquisition of MEETEEMmMS NIKEBRH - BB R
HK$188,400,000 has been allocated to the following identifiable 188,400,000 570 E 2 AL =R A N el & Al
assets and liabilities of Yao Zhan as at the date of acquisition as BENEE:
follows:
2018
—E-N\F
HK$'000
TR
_________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________|
Net asset acquired: PR B & E R E -
Property, plant and equipment (Note 14) M - B MR (st 14) 397
Investment property (Note 15) K& (HIFE15) 188,000
Bank balances RITAEER 3
Satisfied by cash LSS 188,400
_________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________|
Analysis of cash flows in respect of the acquisition of Yao Zhan FHAVNERR 2RSRAOTWT -
is as follows:
HK$'000
FHET
_________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________|
Cash consideration ReRE (188,400)
Bank balances acquired Frik BB SR1T 45 85 3
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents included in STARBEEARERE L
cash flows used in investing activities Re MR EEYNLFE (188,397)
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WO 5 ik o B
DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES 33 HEHE A
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FETT
Gain on disposals of subsidiaries: HERB AR W :
— Time Ever Global Limited (“Time Ever”) — ERIRERBE AR ([BEXK])
(Note (a)) (Mt3E (a) - 116
— PD International Tourism Limited — AR IR EE A R A ]
(“PD International”) (Note (b)) ([45EE]) (M E (b)) 114 =
114 116
1
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-NE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
1
Net cash inflow from: REMAFE :
— Disposal of Time Ever (Note (a)) — HERK (K15E () - 1,226
— Disposal of PD International (Note (b)) — HEBE (M b)) 216 -

z
o
g
(0]
(2]
=
a

(@)  In May 2018, the Group completed the disposal of the entire share @ RZZE-—NFHA rEEZTKEOBILIE=
capital of Time Ever, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, to an FHEARRZEWBRRIKKZEIE
independent third party at a total consideration of US$157,000 BITHRA - 8B A 157,000 T (FHE R
(equivalent to approximately HK$1,226,000). A gain on disposal of #91,226,000/87T) - REEZZE—/\F+=
Time Ever of approximately HK$116,000 was recognised in the R=+—BIEFEZHFEBEaRERLE
consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31 ek Uz £ 116,0008 7T ©
December 2018.

(b)  In April 2019, the Group completed the disposal of the entire issued b) RZZE-—NFHA  AEETKEERAT
share capital of PD International, a wholly owned subsidiary of the 2EMBRABEEEHEETRAT —F
Company, to an independent third party at a total consideration of BIUE=T - #BRER710,000E T  HE
HK$710,000. A gain on disposal of PD International of approximately AEZKZL11400B TEREBEE-Z
HK$114,000 was recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or —NE+ZA=T—BLEFEZHZEER
loss for the year ended 31 December 2019. FIER ©
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34 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 34 #%&B4&REEM:T

OF CASH FLOWS
(a) Major non-cash transactions (@) EXFRERS
During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to FR - AEBEREEARAETYWHEAR
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of approximately EvHEEFERAEEEREEAR
HK$2,786,000 and HK$2,758,000, respectively, in respect Z FEIR & N5 Rl £ 2,786,000 5% JT
of lease arrangements for office premises (2018: Nil). 22,758,000/ 0( —F— \F : &) o
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) BETBELENEEE
activities
2019 —E-AF
Interest-
bearing bank
and other Lease
borrowings liabilities
FTERITR
Hitt g & HEAE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
. ! '/ |
At 1 January 2019 R-ZE—hE—H—H 1,953,381 604,993
Changes from financing cash flows RERSREE 643,673 (17,686)
Changes from operating cash flows HEREREE 41,446 -
New leases e - 2,758
Interest expense FMERS - 57,642
Interest paid classified as operating DEAKEREREZENFE
cash flows - (5,920)
Disposal on early termination of REARIE LA EREE
land lease - (566,842)
Exchange realignment TE 5 F (71,589) 5,756
At 31 December 2019 R-B—-—hhE+=-B=+—H 2,566,911 80,701
. ! '/ __________________|
2018 —ZE-)\F
Interest-
bearing bank
and other
borrowings
sTEIRITR
HigE
HK$'000
FAT
. ! ________________________________________________________________ _______________|]
At 1 January 2018 R=-Z—-—NF—H—H 1,984,579
Changes from financing cash flows BERSREZE (31,198)
At 31 December 2018 R-=F-NF+=-HA=+—8H 1,953,381
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34 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 34

OF CASH FLOWS (continued)
(c)

Total cash outflow for leases

The total cash outflow for leases included in the statement
of cash flows is as follows:

A

(c)

Bl s R Wk (47)

HERSRHARE

RenEXRTPEENEERSRE
e

2019
—E-hEF
HK$'000
FHET
Within operating activities EZETEN 35,729
Within financing activities BEEENA 17,686
53,415
35 COMMITMENTS 35 i
(@) The Group had the following capital commitments at the (a) AEERWEHRE TNIIERRAIE
end of the reporting period:
2019 2018
—B-hEFE  ZTN\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FAT
Contracted, but not provided for: BRTAE R B
Property, plant and equipment M BE NMERE 342,803 579,579
Properties under development KRR 26,843 131,992
369,646 711,571
(b) Operating lease commitments as at 31 December by R=ZE—-NE+=ZA=+—HZ

2018

As at 31 December 2018, the Group leases certain of its
leasehold land, office properties and premises under
terms of one to fifty years.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had total future
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases falling due as follows:

REHERE

RZZE—-N\FE+=ZA=+—8"
SEHEEETHEL WA
MERBH—ERTEZYE -
R—E2—N\F+-_A=+—H ' &K

SEZ A HEKEEHER KKK
HEFREHEZBNHALWT

ot Bt

2018
—E-NF
HK$'000
FHT

Within one year —FR 29,479
In the second to fifth years, inclusive E_ERHFE(BEEREMS) 248,553
After five years hE% 2,716,337

2,994,369
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36 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 36 BRI 25
In addition to the transactions details elsewhere in these B B RS ERR B 2B sFat 2 X Z b
financial statements, the Group had the following material NEENFANLHEBE T ETIEAR S
transactions with related parties during the year: m
2019 2018
—E-AEFE  —TN\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHERT FAT
! ___________________________________________' ___________________ ___________________|
Short-term benefits (Note (i)) 52 AR (HIEE ) (25,304) (24,721)
Expenses recharged and rental for aircraft RERMAEN kB
usage (Note (ii)) (B EE (i) - 12,667
Management fee income (Note (jii)) EIREWA (FHEE (i) 2,237 2,880
! ____________________________________________' ' ___________________|
Notes: M3
(i) The amounts represented remuneration of directors and other key 0) BHCHEEARAESEREMETEEEE
management of the Company during the year, which was determined RERAZEH - THREFMEZEESRTEAR
by the remuneration committee having regard to the performance of HRETBBEmEE -

individuals and market trends.

(i) In the prior period, the expenses recharged and rental for aircraft (i) RLE—HR  REERRAZENRERTE
usage was charged to Landing International Limited, the shareholder SERTMERRINESERBEZE
of the Company, at prices mutually agreed by both parties with B AR RIRER & 5 B A IR A RN
reference to the prevailing market rates.

(i) A related company engaged the Company to provide management (i) —FREBAREEARAREEERY - A
services with a monthly fee of HK$240,000 which is a mutually agreed & £240,0008 70+ ThHEI A E H B AR
by both parties. The agreement was terminated on 10 October 2019. E o MEERZE—AE+A+HKL -

The directors are of the opinion that the above transactions EERR LA ZIERAEER T EKRB

were conducted in the ordinary course of business of the FEFRETT o

Group.
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R WA 25 R i
37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 37 ¥RERE S METR
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial ST EERRREHR ZEEEN
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: T
Financial assets BKEE
2019 —E-NEF
Financial
assets
Financial  at fair value
assets through
at fair value other

through profit comprehensive
or loss income
BOYVERE

BOYVEE HPN-L
sTARHZ  REREZ
MBEE MBEE

Designated Financial

as such assets at

upon initial Equity amortised
recognition  investments cost Total

RS BAR BRBERE

EER SRz
BHER RERE MBEE a5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TER

. ' __________________________________' ! __________________'_________________________|
Equity investments at fair value through A FEBE AEMEE

other comprehensive income Yezs 2 BiER & - 35,846 - 35,846
Financial assets at fair value through BATEEFABREZ

profit or loss BIREE 2,511 - - 2,511

Financial assets included in prepayments, s ATEfZUA - EUE 5

trade and other receivables FRIE R H A YRR

ZHBRE - - 596,356 596,356

Cash and cash equivalents BeRBLEEY - - 398,033 398,033

2,511 35,846 994,389 1,032,746
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37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 37 ¥RBE 52 METH(4)
(continued)
Financial assets (continued) B EE (&)
2018 —E-N\&E

Financial assets
at fair value
through other
comprehensive

income
BRATFEEFA
Hip2Els 2
NBEE
Equity Financial assets at
investments  amortised cost Total
REBEKA
BRERE  SIRZHBEEE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL THT THT
Equity investments at fair value through ~ ZATEEFAZG2EREZ
other comprehensive income R & 80,336 = 80,336
Financial assets included in prepayments, 5t ATB{TFRIE - e E 53008
trade and other receivables Eh MR BB E - 407,273 407,273
Cash and cash equivalents RERFEEEY = 1,098,459 1,098,459
80,336 1,505,732 1,586,068
Financial liabilities g SR
Financial liabilities
at amortised cost
REBHEAATEZHEEE
2019 2018
—B-hE —T)N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FAET
Financial liabilities included in trade STARNE S FIE R
and other payables HAbERFHIB 2 M A& 312,632 594,142
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings & B SR1T R EAMEE 2,566,911 1,953,381
Leases liabilities HEARE 80,701 -
2,960,244 2,547,523
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FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash
equivalents, the current portion of trade and other receivables
excluding non-financial assets, the current portion of trade and
other payables excluding non-financial liabilities and the current
portion of interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the short
term maturities of these instruments.

The Group's finance department headed by the financial
controller is responsible for determining the policies and
procedures for the fair value measurement of financial
instruments. The financial controller reports directly to the
directors and the audit committee. At each reporting date, the
finance department analyses the movements in the values of
financial instruments and determines the major inputs applied
in the valuation. The valuation is reviewed and approved by the
directors. The valuation process and results are discussed with
the audit committee twice a year for interim and annual financial
reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a
forced or liquidation sale.

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate
the fair values:

The fair values of listed equity investments are based on quoted
market prices.

The Group invests in unlisted investments, which represent
wealth management products issued by a bank in Mainland
China. The Group has estimated the fair value of these unlisted
investments by using a discounted cash flow valuation model
based on the market interest rates of instruments with similar
terms and risks.

The fair value of the non-current portion of trade and other
receivables excluding non-financial assets, the non-current
portion of trade and other payables excluding non-financial
liabilities and the non-current portion of interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings have been calculated by discounting the
expected future cash flows using rates currently available for
instruments with similar terms, credit risk and remaining
maturities. The changes in fair value as a result of the Group's
own non-performance risk for trade and other receivables
excluding non-financial assets, trade and other payables
excluding non-financial liabilities and interest-bearing bank
borrowings as at 31 December 2019 were assessed to be
insignificant. Management has assessed that the fair value of
the non-current portion of trade and other receivables
excluding non-financial assets, the non-current portion of trade
and other payables excluding non-financial liabilities and the
non-current portion of interest-bearing bank borrowings
approximate to their carrying amount.

38

B TR Z 5P & AP EE
FHh

EEECHEREMRSFEY  BEE
5K IA N Bt R YR IE 2 BN #B 0 (N2
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ZETEBREMAEH -

AEEAMBEETA Y BHHAARE
TV BTARNFEEFEZBRNIER -
MBTEERNEZNERREQER -
REHREEH  MBHADMHBETAR
FEEZS  YEEHRETERAZEES
ABUR - (SEMESHMHN RUE - (h1E72
FREREEBZEZESTFIWMMA
PAMER IR 2 F GRS ©

HBEERBEZAFEEAZIARA
FER 577 (MIFREHBEREE) BN S
TZARGEEAR °
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SRR R E b BYCGRIE (T BN B E
E) BNEZREBENREMENKIE(TE
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38 FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

38 WAE L HZ 0P AR K & F AR
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) i

(B
TREJAEER-Z—AFR-ZT—N

Ft+-A=1+—HABRAFEEFEZHE
BERARE-

Fair value measurement using

BRNTBABBZ A VEEE

The following table presents the Group's financial assets and
liabilities that are at fair value at 31 December 2019 and 2018.

Quoted
prices in Significant Significant
active  observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
WERBME BATEE EXTITER
Z8E \ABE WAHE
(B—#) (B=#%) (B=4) mat
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEx TEx FTET FET
At 31 December 2019 R=E-h&
T=ZA=t+—H
Financial assets HBEE
Equity investments at fair value BRAFEEFAEM
through other comprehensive FEWE < RIERE
income 35,846 - - 35,846
Financial assets at fair value BATEBTABR
through profit or loss ZOBEE - 2,511 - 2,511

Fair value measurement using

ERATRAREZ 2 FEERE

Quoted
prices in Significant Significant
active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
RERME EXUEE EATABER
2B  A\BE m ABE
(F—%) (BE=4) (B=%) BEt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET FHET
At 31 December 2018 R=Z-N\&
t=RA=t-H
Financial assets BB AE
Equity Investments BRATFEEFTARLM
at fair value through other 2E W 2 iR E
comprehensive income 80,336 — — 80,336

RZBE—NEFER_FE—N\EFE+_A=+—
B AEETETMAIZAFEETFEZH
HamE-

RER BHEEERMBRERERE —
MEE —REEENTEBEFE  TER
MBEENRMBAEEAREHE=H(=
T—\F )

The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at fair
value as at 31 December 2019 and 2018.

During the year, there were no transfer of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers
into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and financial
liabilities (2018: Nil).
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
market risk (including foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk
and equity price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's
overall risk management programme focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise
potential adverse effects on the Group's financial performance.

Risk management is carried out by a central finance department
(the “Finance Department”) headed by the Financial Controller
of the Group. The Finance Department identifies and evaluates
financial risks in close co-operation with the Group's operating
units to cope with overall risk management as well as specific
areas such as market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.

(@) Market risk
(i)  Foreign exchange risk

The Group's foreign currency transactions are mainly
denominated in HK$, Korean Won and United State
Dollar. The majority of assets and liabilities are
denominated in HK$, KRW and US$, and there are
no significant assets and liabilities denominated in
other currencies. The Group is subject to foreign
exchange rate risk arising from future commercial
transactions and recognised assets and liabilities
which are denominated in a currency other than
HK$, KRW and US$, which are the functional
currencies of the major operating companies within
the Group. The Group currently does not hedge its
foreign currency exposure.

As HK$ is pegged to US$, management believes
that the exchange rate risk for translations between
HK$ and US$ do not have material impact to the
Group. The Group manages its foreign currency risk
by closely monitoring the movement of the foreign
currency rates.

At 31 December 2019, if HK$ had weakened/
strengthened by 5% against KRW with all other
variables held constant, the Group's other
components of equity would have been approximately
HK$537,917,000 (2018: HK$627,206,000) lower/
higher, as a result of the foreign exchange difference
on translation of KRW denominated assets and
liabilities.

39 SR KA BE H AR K OBUOR

AEREEBAZSERBRR - mIERER
(BFEIMERBR - F = E b & A E S
@) FERRRABDESRAR - AKH
ERAREERREETREMMS I
ATRRIME - WS REEREHAEES B
RRERBETHNZE -

kB2 AN KB AR RS 2 R
T5ERPT ([ R 3588 1) 7T - RIFSBP AL AN SR 8
ZRREBURETANE - BRI RFHER
R\ - LA R 3 B A8 i i 1 % 55 E s (31
wmisREkR - EERBRLREESER) o

(a) TWHEER
(i) SMEmEEE

AEBZINERXZEELE
7T BERETFHE - KES
BENBEAET BEKE
TTEHE - BENE M SR E
ZEXRBEENIEE - NEEA
RAKBERZHARAET -
BENMET(BIAREEBETE
BRENBZMERE) LA
ERHEZEEREENRAR
PRESZSNERR - NEE B
Al 30 48 S L ME R ©

RRETTERTTANE - EIEE
MEBTTH T 2 Xk i
AEEMEALTERKN - AEE
BUERINEERES - UE
B ESNE R

RZE—hNhF+—_A=+—
B WEITHBERE FE
5% MATH L& S MEFT
g AASEHEAMERID B
1 HN49537,917,00058 7T
(== — \ £ : 627,206,000 7%
TT) BT BRI E B E R
BrEERBEEFENZHE -
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39 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

(@) Market risk (continued)
(i) Interest rate risk

The Group's income and operating cash flows are
substantially independent of changes in market
interest rates as the Group has no significant
interest-bearing assets except for cash and bank
deposits, which earn low interest rate. The Group's
interest rate risk arises mainly from borrowings.
Borrowings obtained at fixed rates expose the
Group to fair value interest rate risk. Borrowings
obtained at variable rates expose the Group to cash
flow interest rate risk which is partially offset by cash
held at variable rates.

As at 31 December 2019, if interest rate on floating
rate borrowings had been 100 basis points higher/
lower with all other variables held constant, loss
before tax for the year would have been
approximately HK$1,408,000 higher/lower (2018: loss
before tax approximately HK$1,700,000 lower/
higher), mainly as a result of higher/lower interest
expenses on floating rate borrowings.

(ii)  Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity securities price risk
because of investments held by the Group are
classified on the consolidated statement of financial
position at financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss. The Group is not exposed to commodity
price risk. To manage its price risk arising from
investments in equity securities, the Group
diversifies its portfolio. Diversification of the portfolio
is done in accordance with the limits set by the
Group.
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39 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

(@) Market risk (continued)
(ii)  Equity price risk (continued)

As at 31 December 2019, for the listed equity
investments included in financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income, the impact is
deemed to be on the fair value reserve (non-
recycling). If the price of the listed equity
investments increased/decreased by 5% (2018: 5%),
with all other variables held constant, the Group’s
other components of equity will increased/
decreased by HK$1,792,000 (2018: HK$4,017,000)
mainly as a result of the fair value change of these
investments.

(b) Credit risk

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to equity
investments designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income, financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss, financial assets included in
prepayments, trade and other receivables and cash and
cash equivalents. Credit risk is managed on a group basis,
except for credit risk relating to trade receivables and
receivables from gaming customers.

The Group has policies and guidelines in place to assess the
credit worthiness of customers from the Gaming Business to
ensure that credits are made to parties with an appropriate
credit history and a good history of performance records. As
at 31 December 2019, the gaming receivables representing
0.8% (2018: 53%) of the Group's total financial assets
included in prepayments, trade and other receivables. The
Group monitors the issuance of credit on an ongoing basis
to minimise the exposure to credit risk. The activities of
individual credit account are monitored regularly for
management to decide if the credit facility should be
continued, changed or cancelled. Management regularly
evaluates the allowance for doubtful receivables by
reviewing the collectability of each balance based upon
the age of the balance, the customer’s financial condition,
collection history and any other known information.

39 S JE kAR BE H AR R BOR (8)

(a)

(b)

™5 Ek (&)
(iii) REEREL ()

RZE—NF+—_A=+—
B EWRERESFARAF
BEEFAEBEERE 2G5
BE EXZ2WSRARATE
EfEEBIEEEM) o fm k™
AR E 2 BI& EF T BE5%
—ZT-\F: 5% MAEEH
tEHERTE . A AEE
Hutp X2 H 4538 M~
A 1,792,000 T (ZF — N\
& :4,017,000/87L) ° EEBHR
ZEREZ AT EANIRES) -

ERER

AEBEEERRIZREEERR
NP EETAEMEERE 2 RE
BE BRAVEEFABRm WK
BE SHABRNFIE  BEREZRK
BN H A ECGRIA 2 B E A K
RekReEEY - EERARERE
BEEERE  EAMBEKRESRA
RERBHEEPRAZEERBRE
I ¢

AEBITABRRRIES] - ARHE
BEXBEFPZEE  BRAES
HEEERLERRIFEETHRZE
ERHERBEEE - R_T—-NF
TZA=+—8 BERKFIER
ENAEEMEEERELZ08%
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BREGERR - BAAGEERSE
HETHER  UAHEBEBRERE
BHE NEXBHEEEE - B
EEREASRKE TP MK
M WS REREMAE NE R
D S REHRZABEREE - §©
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39 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 39 [\ b 45 31 H A2 K& 85k (47)
AND POLICIES (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued) (b) EER(E)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging RERBRRRFELEHFEEER
The tables below show the credit quality and the TRETERKAEEEERRZE
maximum exposure to credit risk based on the Group's BEEENEREERE  EEA
credit policy, which is mainly based on past due HEHMREE(RIFANETRELS
information unless other information is available without RAKLE D z2BRATREEME
undue cost or effort, and year end staging classification as ) B+ A=+—HEEBM
at 31 December. The amounts presented are gross BREE 2B AMBGEEZ
carrying amounts for financial assets. FRE41E o
As at 31 December 2019 R=Z-h&+=-A=+—-H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
128 AL
FEESE EHEBEEER
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage3  approach Total
F-Be E-BR 0 EZRBR  ELRE @t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TE&T TR TR

Trade receivables* U E 5708 * - - - 28,688 28,688
Gaming receivables* B MR * - - - 351,001 351,001
Financial assets included in ST AFERFE
prepayments, deposits Be MEMER
and other receivables HHZ M EEE
— Normal** — [EE™ 596,356 - - - 596,356
— Doubtful** — RER* - 24,135 - - 24,135
Cash and cash equivalents ReRkBR2EED
— Not yet past due — M AR 398,033 - - - 398,033
994,389 24,135 - 379,689 1,398,213
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39 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

(b)

39 B B4 BE H AR R BOK (4])

Credit risk (continued) (b) EERE(H)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued) BEREBRRRERLAFEREER (&)
As at 31 December 2018 RZE—N\FE+=ZHA=+—H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1218 A 258
EEBB FHBRBEEESE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage3  approach Total
FMBE E-RE  F=RE StRE e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TET TET THT THT
I e e
Trade receivables* JEUE 5708 * - - - 35,993 35,993
Gaming receivables* BRI = = = 406,590 406,590
Financial assets included in ~ EF ATEfHFRIE -
prepayments, deposits Be REMER
and other receivables HBRZBEE
— Normal** — MBI 697,992 - - - 697,992
— Doubtful** — REE* - — = = =
Cash and cash equivalents RekBReEEY
— Not yet past due — AREH 1,098,459 = = - 1,098,459
1,796,451 - - 442,583 2,239,034

* For trade and gaming receivables to which the Group applies
the simplified approach for impairment, information based on
the provision matrix is disclosed in note 20 to the consolidated
financial statements.

** The credit quality of the financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and other receivables is considered to
be “normal” when they are not past due and there is no
information indicating that the financial assets had a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. Otherwise, the
credit quality of the financial assets is considered to be
“doubtful”.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group's
exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables and
gaming receivables are disclosed in note 20 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Liquidity risk

Cash flow forecasting is performed in the operating
entities of the Group and aggregated by Finance
Department. The Finance Department monitors rolling
forecasts of the Group's liquidity requirements to ensure it
has sufficient cash to meet operational needs while
maintaining sufficient headroom on its undrawn
committed borrowing facilities at all times.

* AN 55 B 2R A (LR (B 70 A 1O JE IR
MEXESESRME - ERBEER
BRI A & B R Y 5 20 B ER -

= fHETATRNRIEA - B REMmEKR
TR 2 BA TS A B R ) e MR AR AR
THBEEANISEREEERR
RNEEM SREEEERA/IE
B BASRMBEEZERER
IR -

BRASEMAEREE ZHREAR
BEYRUAEEENEERRNE
—FECHEBERFEAMBERERNE
209 FE -

REE SRR

ReRERADNRARBSELEE
BT WM EARERMA - B
BHERAKSERBHESFTRKIR
IR EREEARH RSN
MERERGHRE - LHFERE
BB E A& (B ERERERA TR
PREE o
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39 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

(c)

198

Liquidity risk (continued)

At the reporting date, the Group held cash and cash
equivalents of approximately HK$398,033,000 (2018:
approximately HK$1,098,459,000) (Note 25) and trade and
other receivables, net, of approximately 506,096,000 (2018:
approximately HK$59,490,000) (Note 20) that are expected
to readily generate cash inflows for managing liquidity
risk.

The table below analyses the Group's financial liabilities
into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining
period at the date of the consolidated statement of
financial position to the contractual maturity date. The
amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows.

Less than
1 year
LPR1E
HK$'000
TER

39 S JE kAR BE H AR R BOR (8)

(c)

1to

2 years
122%
HK$'000
THERT

REBE S mEE (&)

REFEAH AEERARERAS
2 (B W) #398,03300078 T ( — & — )\
£ 491,098,459,00078 7T ) (Bt 5£25)
LA K Uy B 55 SR8 K H A e IR SR
BA#9506,096,00078 70 (= Z — )\ F :
#959,490,000 %87 ) (F1zE20) - TEHAR]
MEERDESRRABEEESR
]\ °

TERAMAEBEZHBARE  ZF
MBERBERERESPHMRAEK
BHZ#THRZEANIIHNAE S
SERZIHER - TRARESR
RAFTRENRERE -

2to More than
5 years 5 years Total
2E5%  BBSHF et
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
THET THERT FTHET

At 31 December 2019 RZE-h&
+t=A=+—H
Trade and other payables  [EffE F7A
R H RN IR 290,394 1,733 16,086 4,419 312,632
Lease liabilities MEaE 41,444 42,375 35,374 - 119,193
Interest-bearingbank and i EEITREMEE
other borrowings 990,985 208,396 1,627,228 - 2,826,609
1,322,823 252,504 1,678,688 4,419 3,258,434
/' ! ____________'____________ _________|
Less than 1to 2to  More than
1 year 2 years 5years 5years Total
DPRI1E 1226 2E5%F  BiBSEF @Et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FAT FHET FET FET
'/ ! ___________________________ ______|
At 31 December 2018 R-ZE—N\E
+t=ZRA=1t—-H
Trade and other payables EREZF0R
R H B IR 951,968 14,047 35,916 - 1,001,931
Interest-bearing bank and  FTERITREMEE
other borrowings 1,190,677 760,558 133,675 - 2,084,910
2,142,645 774,605 169,591 - 3,086,841
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

Capital management

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard
the Group's ability to continue as a going concern in order to
provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to
reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return
capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce
debt.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio.
This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net
debt is calculated as bank and other borrowings less cash and
cash equivalents. Total capital is calculated as ‘equity’ as shown
in the consolidated statement of financial position plus net
debt. The gearing ratios at 31 December 2019 and 2018 were as
follows:

39 SRR A BE H AR R BOR (4)

ErER

AEEEREAZ BRARERAEERE
RE 28N ARBRIEHER L SEM
MesHEE RN - ARFREERR
BAREE SR

RRFTRFABENRE  AREHGAR
ARRKNZEESHE  ARREEE
R~ BITHAR ) S B E AR KBTS o

AEBURBLRERERN - R XRZE
R AR BN E - ERFRIRRT
LEMEERRE RS EEYE - 2
BRI AMBHARKRAR [#Em ] 50
BEFRFAE -RZBE-NER-_FT-N
F+-A=+t—RZAGLERMT :

2019 2018
—B-hE ZEN\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FET

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings

HRBITREMEE (KE27)

(Note 27) 2,566,911 1,953,381
Less: cash and cash equivalents (Note 25) R RESEEY (MEE25) (398,033) (1,098,459)
Net debt (EvvveEl 2,168,878 854,922
Total equity b 11,884,767 14,602,261
Capital and net debt BARRERFR 14,053,645 15,457,183
Gearing ratio BEL= 15.4% 5.5%

As at 31 December 2019, the gearing ratio is 15.4% (2018: 5.5%).

R-ZTE—NFE+-_A=+—H BELX
H154%(—F— \4F : 55%) °
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 22 April 2020, the Company completed the placing (the
"Placing”) of 586,978,800 shares (the “Placing Shares”) under
the general mandate to not less than six placees, who are
independent third parties, at the placing price of HK$0.235 per
share pursuant to the terms and conditions of the placing
agreement dated 30 March 2020, entered between the
Company and the placing agent, Ferran Securities Limited. The
Placing Shares representing approximately 16.67% of the issued
share capital of the Company as enlarged by the allotment and
issuance of the Placing Shares immediately upon completion.
The net proceeds from the Placing, after deduction of the
placing commission and other related expenses, amounted to
approximately HK$137,100,000 will be used for general working
capital of the Group’s gaming business and integrated leisure
resorts in Jeju Island, South Korea and interest expenses.

COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS

As further explained in note 2.2 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group adopted HKFRS 16 on 1 January 2019
using the modified retrospective approach. Under this
approach, the comparative amounts in the financial statements
were not restated and continued to be reported under the
requirements of the previous standard, HKAS 17, and related
interpretations.

Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to conform
to the current year's presentation. In the opinion of the directors
of the Company, this presentation would better reflect the
financial performance of the Company.
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42 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 42 AR E BRI E
THE COMPANY
Information about the statement of financial position of the RIERR  EEARRAHBERAEKZE
Company at the end of the reporting date is as follows: AT
2019 2018
—E-NE —T-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FHET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS *RBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RIB AR ZKE 1,952,920 2,482,884
Property, plant and equipment ERN ST 142 1,763
Right-of-use assets EREEE 37,068 =
Amount due from a subsidiary e U — FE Bt BB 2 Rk 38 7,591,337 7,088,824
Equity investments designated at fair value EEBRATLEETA
through other comprehensive income H A 2 E I 2 RIER A 33,906 78,831
Total non-current assets FERBEERE 9,615,373 9,652,302
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE U BT B A ml ZR 3B 3,294,994 4,477,708
Prepayments and other receivables FERTFRIR R E A e ROR 34,532 36,940
Cash and cash equivalents HEeRBESEEY 11,349 590,184
Total current assets MBEERE 3,340,875 5,104,832
CURRENT LIABILITIES nEBEE
Other payables Hi T 0IA 77,679 81,841
Amounts due to subsidiaries FETHT B A Rl ZkIE 267,958 175,598
Lease liabilities HEARE 19,366 =
Total current liabilities mEBERE 365,003 257,439
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 2,975,872 4,847,393
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES mEERRBEE 00000 12,591,245 14,499,695
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES E =R
Lease liabilities HEEE 19,106 -
Total non-current liabilities FERBEEEE 19,106 =
NET ASSETS BEEFE 12,572,139 14,499,695
EQUITY B
Share capital A& 7N 29,350 29,350
Reserves (Note) e (fisE) 12,542,789 14,470,345
Total equity MmER 12,572,139 14,499,695

Yang Zhihui Chan Mee Sze
mEs BRER
Chairman and Executive Director Executive Director
FERHTEE HITEF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 42 ARATMEIRIE (4)
THE COMPANY (continued)

Note: s
A summary of the Company's reserves is as follows: RATFEEHZMT -

Fair value

reserve

of financial

assets at

fair value

through

Capital other

Share  redemption  Contributed Other ~ comprehensive  Accumulated

premium reserve surplus reserve income losses Total

ROYERE

Ak

2EKEZ

HBEEZ
Rita® EAREERE LN At AYEERS ESy it
HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
T TER TR TRz TRT TR TR
I e e e ) N

At 1 January 2018 R=2-Nf¥-5-H 14176928 - 2,022,831 193993 - (1,089,773) 15,303,979
Loss for the year EEER - - - - - (1883222 (1,883,222)
Change in fair value of equity investments BRATEEGALLZE

at fair value through Wi 2 RiERE 2

other comprehensive income NYEEED - - - - (239,034 - (239034
Total comprehensive income for the year FERENREE = = = = (239,034) (1,883222) (2122.256)
Repurchase and cancellation of ordinary shares BE R LRk (155981) 6503 - - = = (149.478)
Consolidation of ordinary shares AHEER - - 1,438,100 - - - 1,438,100
At 31 December 2018 and 1 January 2019 RZE-NE+ZA=1-RAR

“E-hE-A-A 14,020,947 6,503 3,460,931 193993 (239,034) (2.972,995) 14,470,345

Loss for the year FEHE - - - - - (1882631)  (1,882631)
Change in fair value of equity investments BATREGALZE

atfair value through Yz 2 RERE 2

other comprehensive income ATEEZY - - - - (44923) - (44.925)
Total comprehensive income for the year EERANRER - - - - (44925)  (1,882631)  (1.927,55)
At 31 December 2019 R=Z-AE+=F=1-H 14,020,947 6,503 3,460,931 193993 (283,959) (4,855,626) 12,542,789

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 43 #it A % #Hi %

The financial statements were approved and authorised for BB REN—_E_EFNA —++HKEE
issue by the board of directors on 27 April 2020. FEHERIRAETE -
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MAJOR PROPERTIES HELD BY THE GROUP
ARLE A 2 LEY

Investment Properties B
Attributable
interest of
Location Use Tenure the Group
NE A& bizh: REBEELER
Units at Jeju Shinhwa World, Andeok-myeon, Shops/commercial Freehold 100%
Seoguipo City, Jeju Special, Self-Governing
Province, South Korea
RSB N B Bl B SR B P 50R T Andeok-myeon &R E KA SERE
VN 48 5 5 2% (B B L
Flat A, 38th & 39th Floors, Tower 1, Residential Medium term lease 100%
Larvotto, No.8, Ap Lei Chau Praya Road,
Hong Kong
EBBHINESESHEE1 RIS RIVIEAET  FF AR A
Completed properties held for sales (SRAS IR S
Attributable
interest
Location Total GFA Usage of the Group
B BEREE Az AEBEGER
('000 sq.m.)
(FF7K)
Seogwang-ril in Andeog-myeon, Seoguipo City, 45 Residential 100%

Jeju Special, Self-Governing Province,

South Korea

FAER BN TR BB BRI ™ =
Andeog-myeon Seogwang-ril
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A 5 Bt 22

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the LAT7%$’$ .Eﬂzi_ = — h F - — N -
five years ended 31 December 2015, 2016, 2017, 2018 and 2019, as T+ F. T N\EK T jli-f—_ﬁ]
extracted from the published audited consolidated financial =+—HIFREFEz%4%E  BEMEBERE -
statements, is set out below. ThEnsk B BRI R IZAR G ISk -
Year ended 31 December
BE+t-HA=1+—HLEE
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
—hF ZZE—RF E—+F T\ ZE-IF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000
FHET FHET T T T FET
(Note (a)) (Note (a))
(FFEE (a)) (FfFEE (a))
(Restated)
(E31))

RESULTS ES

Revenue W8 246,500 363,447 840,244 2,099,025 815,533

Profit/(loss) for the year FEERN(EE)  (1,086,214) (1,321,416) 501,222 (701,527) (2,132,855)

Attributable to: FEMG :

Owners of the parent IST/NEIE7 YN (987,971)  (1,067,455) 505,067 (701,527) (2,132,855)
Non-controlling interests 3H P& 25 (98,243) (253,961) (3,845) = -
(1,086,214) (1,321,416) 501,222 (701,527) (2,132,855)

Notes: BdsE -

(@)  The financial figures were extracted from the 2017 annual report. No  (a) ERMBHTIRHEE T —tFFHR - M=
separate disclosures of continuing operations and discontinued operations —RFE T REZHBETI ERHELE
were made on the financial figures for 2015 to 2016. EBRERIEEBDRBE -

At 31 December

R+=—A=+—H
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
—ThEF —FBARF —T—tF —T-N\F ZB-hEF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET THT THT FHT FET

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES ¥BEREE
Total assets BEHE 11,408,675 17,345,233 19,228,926 17,671,019 15,119,840
Total liabilities BE8E (1,720,275)  (8,244,092)  (3,072,178)  (3,068,758) (3,235,073)
Shareholders’ funds R E & 9,688,400 9,101,141 16,156,748 14,602,261 11,884,767
Equity attributable to: fE{ERERS -
Owners of the parent UNGIEZ 2PN 9,232,923 7,953,277 16,156,748 14,602,261 11,884,767
Non-controlling interests R 455,477 1,147,864 - - -
9,688,400 9,101,141 16,156,748 14,602,261 11,884,767
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